# Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

6-23-2021 9:30 AM

# Descriptive Analysis of Fall-Related Injuries Among Older Adults in Ontario

Nicolette Lappan, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Zecevic, Aleksandra A., *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Health and Rehabilitation Sciences © Nicolette Lappan 2021

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Epidemiology Commons

## **Recommended Citation**

Lappan, Nicolette, "Descriptive Analysis of Fall-Related Injuries Among Older Adults in Ontario" (2021). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 7910. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/7910

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

#### Abstract

Falls are the leading cause of injury-related hospitalizations among older adults in Canada. The purpose of this study was to describe the characteristics of older adults who experienced fall-related injuries (FRIs) and the types of falls that caused them. We analyzed Ontario-wide secondary data from three databases (NACRS, DAD, RPDB) covering 2010-2014. Older adults ( $\geq$  65 years) who visited emergency departments (ED) with FRIs were selected using ICD-10-CA codes for a fall and injury. Counts, measures of central tendency, and prevalence rates (crude, age- and sex-specific, age-standardized) were calculated. There were 304,610 (63.0% females) ED admissions (3,089 per 100,000 population) and 143,210 (61.2% females) hospitalizations (1,452 per 100,000 population). Rates for most injuries increased with age and were higher for females. Fractures and superficial injuries were the most common. Slips, trips, and stumbles were the most common fall types. Findings suggest that injury prevention should be targeted at females and the oldest old.

Key words: Older adults, falls, injury, fracture, superficial injury, descriptive, populationbased, epidemiology.

#### **Summary for Lay Audience**

Falls in older adults often cause injuries that require visits to the emergency department or hospitalizations. The purpose of this study was to describe the types of injuries older adults experienced and the types of falls that caused these injuries. The dataset included 304,610 observations over a five-year period from three databases routinely collected by the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care in Ontario. We calculated rates, which described how many people in every 100,000 experienced an injury, and examined the differences between men and women, and different five-year age groups between 65-69 and 90+ years of age. Results show that 3,089/100,000 older adults experienced an injury due to a fall that required a visit to the emergency department, and 1,452/100,000 were hospitalized. Females were injured more than males (63.0%). Injuries were more common in older age groups compared to younger groups. For example, in the group of 65-69 year-olds, 71/100,000 people had a hip fracture from a fall, while in the group of people 90+ years of age and older 1,184/100,000 had this same injury. Fractures (39.9%) and superficial injuries (23.3%) were the most common injury types. Slips, trips, and stumbles were the most common fall types. Prevention of injuries caused by falls need to be directed at females and those aged 80 years and older.

#### Acknowledgements

This study was supported by IC/ES, which is funded by an annual grant from the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care (MOHLTC). The opinions, results and conclusions reported in this paper are those of the authors and are independent from the funding sources. No endorsement by IC/ES or the Ontario MOHLTC is intended or should be inferred <sup>1</sup>.

First of all, acknowledging others has always been something I am particularly terrible at. Don't get me wrong, I will always appreciate the hard work, commitment, and perseverance that it takes from many parties to complete a task like writing a Master's thesis, however I genuinely don't know how to begin thanking those people in a meaningful way. So here goes nothing...

My supervisor, Dr. Aleksandra Zecevic deserves an unfathomable amount of thanks and recognition for helping me make it through this long process. We have shared many meetings full of stress and confusion (mine), and more tears than I'd like to admit (also mine), and you've been so supportive through each one of them. When I was considering applying to HRS and I saw your name on the list of supervisors, I knew I had to apply. Since taking my one and only undergrad class with you in early 2014, I knew you had an incredible amount of passion and patience for your research and your students. Throughout this program you have surpassed all my expectations. Your passion for teaching empathy and gratitude has been one of the most inspiring and beautiful things I've seen since I started at Western in 2012. I know it hasn't always been smooth sailing, but I truly hope you know how grateful I am for everything you are and all that you've done for me.

To my advisory committee: Dr. Susan Hunter and Dr. Andrew Johnson. You have both demonstrated such incredible expertise in your respective fields and your input throughout my thesis process has been instrumental to its completion. I cannot thank you enough for your dedication to my learning process. It has been a pleasure to work with you both.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Italicized portions of text are a required wording provided by IC/ES and obligatory for inclusion in studies using IC/ES data.

Dr. Yu Ming, thank you for laying the groundwork for this project and for all the support you provided me throughout my Master's journey. You never failed to amaze me with your brilliance and attention to detail in every task you completed.

To Shawn. As cheesy as it sounds, I quite literally could not have done this without you. Not only have you helped me overcome every obstacle I have faced in trying to learn R and my general lack of technological know-how, you have also provided an incredible amount of encouragement and belief in me through each step of this process. You never seemed to let anything shake you; your calm demeanor even in my most stress-filled days has not gone unnoticed or unappreciated. Somehow you managed to both annoy me and make me laugh every single day and for that I will always be grateful.

To everyone who kept asking me how my thesis was going, and I responded to with a huffy "please stop asking" (yes Mom, that means you), thank you. Thank you for those little check-ins that showed you cared even though you knew I was too stressed to talk about it. I promise, now that it's done, I'll tell you all about it.

Is it weird that I want to thank my dogs? Even if it is, I am thankful for my two adorable monsters, Gyda and Summit. They've made concentrating on schoolwork nearly impossible at home, but they've been the greatest source of comfort to get me through the high stress and anxiety-filled days of writing a thesis during a global pandemic.

Abstract		ii
Summary f	or Lay Audience	iii
Acknowled	gements	iv
List of Tab	les	ix
List of Figu	ıres	xii
List of App	endices	XV
List of Ope	rational Definitions	xvi
List of Abb	previations	xviii
1. Introd	uction and Literature Review	1
1.1 Po	pulation Aging	1
1.2 Fa	lls and Fall-Related Injuries	1
1.3 Li	terature Review	
1.3.1	Emergency Department Level of Care	
1.3.	1.1 Injury Types and Body Locations	
1.3.	1.2 Time Trends in Emergency Department Admissions	13
1.3.2	Hospital Level of Care	14
1.3.2	2.1 Injury Types and Body Locations	17
1.3.2	2.2 Fractures	
1.3.2	2.3 Traumatic Brain Injury and Other Head Injuries	
1.3.2	2.4 Other Injuries	
1.3.3	Mortality	
1.3.4	Types and Locations of Falls	
1.3.4	4.1 Emergency Department Level of Care	
1.3.4	4.2 Hospital Level of Care	
1.3.5	Limitations of the Current Literature	
1.3.6	Literature Review Summary	
1.3.7 Injury	<b>Recommendations from Literature for Future Research an</b> <b>Prevention</b>	<b>nd Fall-Related</b> 
1.4 Pu	rpose	
2. Metho	ds	
2.1 St	udy Design	

## **Table of Contents**

2.2	Dataset Creation	
2.3	Population Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	
2.4	Data Cleaning	
2.5	Data Analysis	
3. Res	sults	39
3.1	Emergency Department Level of Care	39
3.1.	.1 Demographics	39
3.1.	.2 Injury Types	
3	3.1.2.1 Fractures	
3	3.1.2.2 Superficial Injuries	50
3	3.1.2.3 Open Wounds	50
3	3.1.2.4 Sprains, Strains, Tears	51
3	3.1.2.5 Traumatic Brain Injury	53
3.1.	.3 Mortality	54
3.1.	.4 Change Over Time	57
3.2	Hospital Level of Care	59
3.2.	2.1 Demographics	59
3.2.	2.2 Injury Types	61
3	3.2.2.1 Fractures	
3	3.2.2.2 Non-Fracture Injuries	65
3.2.	2.3 Mortality	68
3.2.	2.4 Change Over Time	69
3.3	Types and Locations of Falls	
3.3.	8.1 Falls - Emergency Department Level of Care	
3	3.3.1.1 Fractures	75
3	3.3.1.2 Non-Fracture Injuries	
3.3.	8.2 Falls - Hospital Level of Care	83
3.4	Summary of Results	
4. Dis	scussion	86
4.1	Methodological Considerations	
4.2	Strengths and Limitations	91
4.3	Implications for Future Research and Falls Prevention	

5. Conclusion	
References	
Appendices	
Curriculum Vitae	

## List of Tables

<b>Table 1-1</b> Summary of Datasets used in Studies Included in the Literature Review         5
<b>Table 1-2</b> Types and Body Locations of Injuries in Emergency Department LevelLiterature, Reported in Rates per 100,00012
<b>Table 1-3</b> Injury and Fall Type Classification Coding Systems for Injury Types andCauses Used in Emergency Department Level Studies13
<b>Table 1-4</b> Injury and Fall Type Classification Coding Systems for Injury Types andCauses Used in Hospital Level Studies
<b>Table 1-5</b> Rates of all Fall-Related Injuries in Hospital Level of Care Reported inLiterature, Stratified by Age Groups and Sex16
<b>Table 1-6</b> Types and Body Locations of Injuries in Hospital-Level Studies, Reported inRates18
<b>Table 1-7</b> Fall-related Injury Mortality Rates from Peer-reviewed Literature andCanadian Reports, Reported by Age Groups
<b>Table 1-8</b> Rates of Patients admitted to the Emergency Department in Ontario as aResult of Experiencing Different Types of Falls, Reported by Age Group (April 2014 toMarch 2016), Adapted from Parachute, 2018
<b>Table 3-1</b> Demographic Characteristics of Population of Older Adults with Fall-RelatedInjuries Seen in the Emergency Department (2010-2014)40
<b>Table 3-2</b> Crude Rates of Fall-Related Injuries per Local Health Integration Networkseen in Emergency Departments for 2013 Only41
<b>Table 3-3</b> Patients Who were Admitted to the Emergency Department for Various Fall-Related Injury Types by Sex (2010-2014)
<b>Table 3-4</b> Patients with Fall-Related Fractures by Body Location Seen in the EmergencyDepartment by Sex (2010-2014)43
<b>Table 3-5</b> Rates of Patients with Fall-Related Open Wounds by Body Locations Seen inthe Emergency Department by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)
<b>Table 3-6</b> Patients with Fall-Related Sprains, Strains, and Tears by Body Location Seenin the Emergency Department by Sex (2010-2014)52
<b>Table 3-7</b> Patients with Four Types of Fall-Related Traumatic Brain Injuries Seen in theEmergency Department (2010-2014)54
<b>Table 3-8</b> Rates of Patients Who Died After Emergency Department Visit for All Fall-Related Injuries by Sex (2010-2014)
<b>Table 3-9</b> Rates of Patients Who Died After Emergency Department Visit for All Fall-Related Fractures by Sex (2010-2014)55

<b>Table 3-28</b> Types of Falls in Patients with Sprains, Strains, and Tears Seen in the	
Emergency Department by Sex (2010-2014)	. 82

# List of Figures

<b>Figure 3-1</b> Patients with Fall-Related Injuries Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-2</b> Patients with Fall-Related Fracture Diagnoses Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-3</b> Patients with Fall-Related Hip Fractures Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-4</b> The Five most Common Fall-Related Fracture Locations in Females Seen in the Emergency Department (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-5</b> The Five most Common Fall-Related Fracture Locations in Males Seen in the Emergency Department (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-6</b> Patients with Fall-Related Forearm Fractures Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-7</b> Patients with Fall-Related Humerus Fractures Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-8</b> Patients with Fall-Related Wrist and Hand Fractures Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-9</b> Patients with Fall-Related Rib Fractures Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-10</b> <i>Patients with Fall-Related Knee and Lower Leg Fractures Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)</i>
<b>Figure 3-11</b> Patients with Fall-Related Ankle Fractures Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-12</b> <i>Patients with Fall-Related Foot Fractures Seen in the Emergency</i> Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-13</b> Patients with Fall-Related Superficial Injuries Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-14</b> Patients with Fall-Related Open Wounds Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-15</b> <i>Patients with Fall-Related Sprains, Strains, and Tears Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)</i>
<b>Figure 3-16</b> Patients with Fall-Related Sprains, Strains, and Tears of the Ankle and Foot Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-17</b> <i>Patients with Fall-Related Traumatic Brain Injuries Seen in the Emergency</i> Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)

<b>Figure 3-18</b> <i>Rates of Patients who Died within One Year of Admission to Emergency</i> Department for Any Fall-Related Injury by Sex (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-19</b> Change with Time in Rate of Patients with Fall-Related Injuries at the Emergency Department by Sex and Year
<b>Figure 3-20</b> Change with Time in Rates of Patients with Fall-Related Injuries at the Emergency Department by Age-Group
<b>Figure 3-21</b> <i>Patients Admitted to the Hospital for all Fall-Related Injury Types by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)</i>
<b>Figure 3-22</b> <i>Patients with Fall-Related Fracture Diagnoses Admitted to the Hospital by</i> Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-23</b> <i>Percent of Older Adults Hospitalized after Emergency Department</i> <i>Admission for Fall-Related Fracture (2010-2014)</i> 63
<b>Figure 3-24</b> Female Patients with Five Common Fall-Related Fractures Admitted to the Hospital (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-25</b> <i>Male Patients with Five Common Fall-Related Fractures Admitted to the Hospital (2010-2014)</i> 65
<b>Figure 3-26</b> <i>Female Patients with Common Fall-Related Injury Types Admitted to the</i> Hospital by Age Group (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-27</b> Male Patients with Common Fall-Related Injury Types Admitted to the Hospital by Age Group (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-28</b> Patients with Fall-Related Open Wounds of the Head Admitted to the Hospital by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-29</b> <i>Patients with Fall-Related Traumatic Brain Injuries Admitted to the Hospital by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)</i>
<b>Figure 3-30</b> <i>Percentage of Patients with Fall-Related Traumatic Brain Injuries who were</i> <i>Hospitalized after Emergency Department Admission (2010-2014)</i>
<b>Figure 3-31</b> <i>Change over Time in Rate of Patients with Fall-Related Injuries Admitted to the Hospital by Sex and Year</i>
<b>Figure 3-32</b> <i>Patients with Codes for Various Fall Types Seen in the Emergency</i> Department for all Fall-Related Injury Types (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-33</b> <i>Patients with Codes for 'Fall on Same Level from Slipping, Tripping, and Stumbling' (W01) Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex and Age Group (2010-</i>
2014)
<b>Figure 3-34</b> <i>Patients with Codes for 'Unspecified Fall' (W19) Seen in the Emergency</i> Department by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)

<b>Figure 3-35</b> <i>Patients with Codes for 'Other Fall on Same Level' (W18) Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)</i>
<b>Figure 3-36</b> Patients with Codes for 'Fall on and from Stairs and Steps' (W10) Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-37</b> <i>Patients with Codes for 'Fall on Same Level Involving Ice and Snow'(W00)</i> Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-38</b> Patients with Fractures and Codes for 'Fall on Same Level from Slipping, Tripping, and Stumbling' (W01) Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-39</b> <i>Patients with Fractures and Codes for 'Other Fall on Same Level' (W18)</i> <i>Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)</i>
<b>Figure 3-40</b> <i>Patients with Fractures and Codes for 'Fall on and from Stairs and Steps'</i> (W10) Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-41</b> Patients with Codes for Various Fall Types Admitted to the Hospital for all Fall-Related Injury Types, by Percent (2010-2014)
<b>Figure 3-42</b> <i>Common Fall Types in Females with all Fall-Related Injuries Admitted to the Hospital (2010-2014)</i>
<b>Figure 3-43</b> <i>Common Fall Types in Males with all Fall-Related Injuries Admitted to the</i> <i>Hospital</i> (2010-2014)

# List of Appendices

Appendix A. Ethics Approval	103
Appendix B. Dataset Creation Plan	106
Appendix C. Ontario Population Estimates for Older Adults	118
Appendix D. Ontario Standard Population for Age-Standardized Rates	119
Appendix E. LHIN Populations in 2013	120
Appendix F. Results for Chronic Conditions at Emergency Department and Hospital .	121
Appendix G. Emergency Department Results for Fall-Related Injuries	142
Appendix H. Hospital Results for Fall-Related Injuries	155

## **List of Operational Definitions**

**Acquired Brain Injury:** an umbrella term which covers traumatic and non-traumatic brain injury and may refer to a range of impairments of physical, neurocognitive, or psychological function (Teasell et al., 2007).

**Age-Standardized Rate:** rate that is mathematically weighted by age groups to match a standard population, thus minimizing the effects of underlying age differences in a population structure so comparison to other populations is more accurate (Statistics Canada, 2017b).

Age-Specific Rate: an expression of frequency of a particular event (e.g. injury) for a particular age group (e.g. individuals 65-69 years of age) where the numerator is the number of cases in a specified age group and the denominator is the number of individuals in that age group in a population, then multiplied by 100,000 (CDC, n.d.). Fall: "an unexpected event in which the participants come to rest on the ground, floor, or lower level" (Lamb et al., 2005), Jørstad-Stein, Hauer, Becker, & Prevention of Falls Network Europe and Outcomes Consensus). This event must be classified with ICD-10 codes W00-W19.

**Fall-Related Injury (FRI):** "Fractures, dislocations, head injuries resulting in loss of consciousness, and other injuries resulting in medical care" (Bergland & Wyller, 2004, p. 310), as well as any other injury diagnosis that was caused by a fall and resulted in a visit to ED, or death after admission to ED. In this study, an FRI was defined by two ICD-10-CA codes: (1) a fall code W00-W19; (2) and an injury code S00-S99 or T00-T14.

**Index Event:** the event which resulted in subsequent diagnosis of an FRI; that is, the fall resulting in serious injury which required medical attention.

**Index Date:** the date when the first health care records for a patient's FRI are recorded (S. Li, personal communication, November 15, 2019).

Older Adult: a person 65 years of age or older.

**R:** a system for statistical computation and graphics, which provides a programming language and high-level graphics (R Core Team, 2000).

**Registration Date:** the date when a patient is registered in the emergency department (S. Li, personal communication, November 15, 2019).

**Superficial Injury:** abrasion, blister (nonthermal), contusion (including bruise and haematoma), injury from superficial foreign body (splinter) without major open wound, insect bite (Canadian Institute for Health Information, 2015).

**Traumatic Brain Injury:** "an alteration in brain function, or other evidence of brain pathology, caused by an external force" (Menon et al., p. 1638).

## List of Abbreviations

CIHI	= Canadian Institute for Health Information
CINAHL	= Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature
CSV	= Comma-Separated Values File
DAD	= Discharge Abstract Database
ED	= Emergency Department
ICD-8	= International Classification of Diseases, Eighth Revision
ICD-9	= International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision
ICD-9-CM	= International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision, Clinical Modification
ICD-10	= International Statistical Classification of Disease and Related Health Problems 10 <sup>th</sup> Edition
ICD-10-AM	= International Classification of Diseases, 10 <sup>th</sup> Revision, Australian Modification.
ICD-10-CA	= International Statistical Classification of Disease and Related Health Problems 10 <sup>th</sup> Edition, with Canadian Enhancements
ICD-11	= International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 11th Revision
IC/ES	In 2018, the institute formerly known as the Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences formally adopted the initialism IC/ES as its official name. This change acknowledges the growth and evolution of the organization's research since its inception in 1992, while retaining the familiarity of the former acronym within the scientific community and beyond.
IKN	= IC/ES Key Number
NACRS	= National Ambulatory Care Reporting System
PHAC	= Public Health Agency of Canada
RNAO	= Registered Nurses Association of Ontario
RPDB	= Registered Persons Database
FRI	= Fall-Related Injury
WHO	= World Health Organization

## 1. Introduction and Literature Review

This thesis presents a descriptive population-based study that examines fall-related injuries (FRIs) in older adults, people who are 65 years or older. More specifically, the FRIs include only events that resulted in an admission to an Ontario emergency department (ED). The first section of this thesis is an introduction to population aging in Canada and globally. This introduction provides context to understand the impact of falls and the injuries they cause at a population level. The research on falls and FRI is vast, therefore a literature review included here focused on descriptive population-based studies on FRIs only. The second chapter outlines research methods and the third describes findings from this original descriptive study. The final chapters, discussion and conclusions, tie in findings from the previous literature and provide guidance for next steps.

## **1.1 Population Aging**

To understand why FRIs are a problem in older adults, it is first important to recognize the magnitude of population aging. Globally, the number of older adults continues to rise with rates varying by country and region. In 2015, nearly 9% of the global population were older adults and this is estimated to reach 12% by 2030 (He et al., 2016), and 20% (i.e. 2 billion people) by the year 2050 (World Health Organization, 2017). Over the last several decades, life expectancy has increased which has resulted in an increase in the number of older adults. In 2016, the global life expectancy was 72 years, and 83 years in Canada (World Health Organization, 2018). Population aging is present in Canada; there are currently more Canadian older adults than youth aged 15 years or younger (Statistics Canada, 2017a). Population aging is also seen at the provincial level. In Ontario, older adults compose the fastest growing age group in the province. As of 2016, 16% of Ontario's population were older adults (i.e., 2.3 million people), and that number is expected to double by the year 2041, meaning one-quarter of Ontarians will be older adults (Government of Ontario Ministry for Seniors and Accessibility, 2017).

## 1.2 Falls and Fall-Related Injuries

In this thesis, a *fall* is defined as "an unexpected event in which the participants come to rest on the ground, floor, or lower level" (Lamb et al., 2005, p. 1619). As the population

ages, it can be expected that there will be a greater number of falls and FRIs that will occur in Canada. Since early falls research in the 1980s, the proportion of older adults who experienced falls has remained consistent. Two classic studies on falls in later life found that approximately one-third of community dwelling older adults falls at least once in a one-year period (Campbell et al., 1981; Tinetti et al., 1988). Four decades later, fall researchers report similar percentages. For example, in the United States, Bergen et al. (2016) reported that 28.7% of older adults fell in a one-year period and the Utah Department of Health (2016) reported one-third.

In 1995, King and Tinetti reported that most falls among older adults do not result in major adverse consequences, and minor injuries occur in 30-55% of cases. However, in some instances, falls can result in serious injuries, or even death. Studies from the first decade of the 21<sup>st</sup> century found that approximately 30-40% of older adults who fell reported an injury, and as many as 6% of falls caused serious injuries such as fractures, concussions and head injuries requiring hospitalization (Nachreiner et al., 2007; Stevens et al., 2008). A Canadian report summarized that almost half of older adults who fall have a minor injury and 5-25% have more consequential injuries like fractures or sprains (Scott et al., 2004).

Bergland and Wyller (2004) defined serious FRIs as "fractures, dislocations, head injuries resulting in loss of consciousness, and other injuries resulting in medical care" (p. 310). In this study, the operational definition of an FRI included Bergland and Wyller's definition (2004) and added any other injury diagnosis that was caused by a fall and resulted in a visit to ED, or death after admission to ED. FRIs among older adults are particularly concerning as they may be consequential for not only the faller, but also the family caregivers and healthcare system. The FRIs can require an older adult to make major lifestyle alterations. Functional abilities may diminish, resulting in a reduction of independence and self-efficacy, and the need for a higher level of care. For example, Schiller and colleagues (2007) reported that one-third of non-institutionalized older adults who experienced an FRI leading to an ED visit required assistance with activities of daily living, while Bergen et al. (2016) reported that 37.5% of non-institutionalized older adults who reported at least one fall in a 12-month period required medical treatment or restricted their activity for at least one day. However, rates of falls and FRIs vary by sex

and age group, for example, females typically have higher rates. Prudham and Evans (1981) reported a rate of 3,440 per 100,000 females and 1,900 per 100,000 males in the United Kingdom had a fall, and in Canada, Do et al. (2015) found that 7,240 per 100,000 females and 4,270 per 100,000 males had an FRI in 2013.

A 2012 article by Zecevic et al., (2012) examined the average cost and length of stay of patients who experienced serious FRIs while in hospital. Hospital costs were \$30,696 greater for patients who experienced an in-hospital serious FRI than inpatients who did not, while an average length of stay for people with an FRI increased from 11 to 45 days (Zecevic et al., 2012). A Canadian report (SMARTRISK, 2009) found that in 2004, the financial burden of falls in Canadian older adults was over \$2 billion CAD, and the per-person cost was 3.7 times higher among older adults compared to adults aged 25 to 64. In Ontario in 2004, the direct healthcare costs due to 'falls from the same level' was \$458 million, and the total cost was \$610 million (SMARTRISK, 2009).

There are certain injury types that are frequently considered in the research of falls consequences in older adults. For example, fall-related fractures are common in older age and account for 37% of FRIs in older Canadians (Do et al., 2015). Older adults often fear hip fractures as they are associated with high morbidity and mortality and they become more common with advancing age (Jørgensen et al., 2014). Notably, Høidrup and colleagues (2003) reported the rate of hip fractures increased from 22.5 per 1,000 person years in females aged 45-49 to 170.8 in females aged 85 and older. In males, this increase was not as sizeable, from 22.5 to 112.8 per 1,000 person years in the same age groups (Høidrup et al., 2003). These are alarming figures for the healthcare system that will care for the needs of injured oldest old.

Head injuries are also common FRIs in later life. An acquired brain injury is an umbrella term which covers traumatic and non-traumatic brain injury and may refer to a range of impairments of physical, neurocognitive, or psychological function (Teasell et al., 2007). Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is defined as "an alteration in brain function, or other evidence of brain pathology, caused by an external force" (Menon et al., p. 1638). Falls are responsible for approximately 50-60% of TBIs among adults (Faul et al., 2010; Thompson et al., 2006), whereas motor vehicle crashes account for about 8% (Faul et al., 2010). The likelihood of experiencing a fall-related TBI increases with advancing age (Chan et al., 2013). Faul et al. (2010) reported that in the United States adults aged 75 and older have the highest rates of TBI-related hospitalizations and mortality (339 per 100,000 population) compared to all other ages (57 per 100,0000 population). Although fractures and head injuries are the most common, they are not responsible for all FRIs in older adults; thus, it is essential to explore and report all injury types experienced by older adults.

This brief introduction has expressed the importance of addressing falls and FRIs in older adults as this population continues to grow, due to an increase in life expectancy and advances in healthcare. However, with the growth comes a likely influx of older adults sustaining FRIs, and therefore an additional burden on the healthcare system. Better injury prevention strategies are needed to minimize suffering and reduce the number of older adults requiring access to higher levels of care. An understanding of fallers who were injured, types of injuries and types of causes will inform who to target for fall prevention strategies. Most of the existing literature focuses on falls in general (e.g., with or without an accompanying injury), but here the focus is on injuries. The literature review that follows sought to answer four questions at the population level: 1) What is known about people who experience FRIs?, 2) What types of FRIs are occurring among older adults?, 3) How did rates of FRIs change over time?, and 4) What types of falls are causing various injury types? The goal is to map what is known, identify a gap in the current knowledge and design a project that will fill the gap and help guide future injury prevention programs.

### **1.3** Literature Review

A narrative literature review that follows provides a description of what is known about FRIs from population-based descriptive studies on FRIs published in peer-reviewed journals and Canadian population-based FRI reports. Table 1-1 presents a summary of the datasets used in studies and reports examined in this literature review.

Table 1-1	
Summary of Datasets used in Studies Included in the Literature Review	

Year	Author	Country	Total N	Time frame	Age groups	Data source	Observation type	Injury type	Cause
1999	Stevens et al.	US	Death: 8,474 Hip fracture: 339,692	Deaths: 1987-1996 Hip fracture: 1988-1996	65-74 75-84 85+	National	Hospital Mortality	Hip fractures Death	Fall only (deaths) All causes (hip fractures)
2002	Soubhi et al.	СА	Death: 3,183 Hospital: 100,513	1987-1998 <sup>n</sup>	65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85+	Provincewide	Hospital Mortality	Death All injuries	All causes Falls only
2002	Stevens & Dellinger	US	All cause: 137,618 Falls: 69,806	1990-1998	65+	National	Mortality	Death	Fall, MVA
2003	Thomson, et al.	NZ	6,059	1992-2001°	65-74 75-84 85+	National	Hospital	Dental and maxillofacial injuries	All causes
2004	Scott et al.	CA	N/A	1992-2001 <sup>p</sup>	65-74 75-84 85+	Provincewide	Hospital Mortality ED	Death All injuries	Fall only
2005	Carey & Laffoy	ΙΈ	18,546 <sup>b</sup>	1994-2002	65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85+	National	Hospital	All injuries	Fall only
2005	Coronado et al.	US	All causes: 17,657 Falls: 11,851	1999	65-74 75-84 85+	Statewide	Hospital	TBI	All causes
2005	Kannus, Niemi, et al.	FI	N/A <sup>a</sup>	1970-2002	80-84 85-89 90+	National	Hospital	All injuries	Fall only
2005	Mahoney et al.	US	ED: 24,173 Hospital: 16,173 Mortality: 658	1995-2003	65-74 75-84 85+	Statewide & national	ED Hospital Mortality	Fatal and non-fatal fall injuries	Fall only

Year	Author	Country	Total N	Time frame	Age groups	Data source	Observation type	Injury type	Cause
2005	РНАС	СА	Self-report: 180,353 Hospital: N/A Death: 7,319	2002-2003 <sup>q</sup> 1998-2003 1997-2002	65-69 70-74 75-79 80+ 65-74 75-84 85+	National	Self-report Any treatment Hospital	All injuries Death	Fall only
2007	Kannus et al.	FI	N/A °	1970-2004	80-84 85-89 90+	National	Hospital	Severe head injuries	All causes
2007	Fletcher et al.	US	All causes: 9,767 Falls: 6,846	1992-2003	65-74 75-84 85+	Statewide	Hospital	TBI	All causes
2008	Orces	US	6,767	1981-1998	65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85+	National	Mortality	Death	Fall only
2009	Kannus et al.	FI	N/A <sup>d</sup>	1970-2007	80-84 85-89 90+	National	Hospital	Proximal humerus fractures	Fall only
2009	Stevens et al.	US	47,312 °	2001-2006	65-74 75-84 85+	National	ED	Nonfatal unintentional injuries	Falls with walkers or canes
2010	Hartholt et al.	NL	N/A <sup>f</sup>	1981-2008	65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90-94 95+	National	Hospital	All injuries	Fall only
2010	Scott et al.	CA	53,545	2008-2009 r	65-74 75-84 85+	National	Hospital	All injuries	Fall only
2011	CIHI	CA	Older adults: 2,933	2008-2009 <sup>r</sup>	All ages 65+	National Included 107 hospitals from eight provinces	Hospital	All injuries Death	All causes Fall Only

Year	Author	Country	Total N	Time frame	Age groups	Data source	Observation type	Injury type	Cause
2011	Hartholt, Stevens, et al.	US	N/A <sup>g</sup>	2001-2008	65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85+	National	Hospital	All injuries	Fall only
2011	Hartholt, Van Lieshout, et al.	NL	32,133	1986-2008	65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85, 89 90+	National	Hospital	TBI	Fall only
2011	Watson & Mitchell	AU	189,307	1998-2009 <sup>s</sup>	65+	Statewide	Hospital	All injuries	Fall only
2012	Harvey & Close	AU	12,564	1998-2011 <sup>t</sup>	65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85+	Statewide	Hospital	TBI	All causes
2012	Korhonen et al.	FI	N/A <sup>h</sup>	1970-2009	80-84 85-89 90+	National	Hospital	All injuries	Fall only
2012	Oudshoorn et al.	NL	All causes: 31,650 Falls: 26,126	1986-2008	65-69 70-74 74-79 80-84 85+	National	ED & hospital	Vertebral fractures	All causes
2012	Alamgir et al.	US	79,386	2003-2007	65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85+	National	Mortality	Death	Fall only
2013	Cassell & Clapperton	AU	136,915	1998-2009 <sup>s</sup>	65-69 70-74 74-79 80-84 85+	Statewide	Hospital	All injuries	Fall only

Year	Author	Country	Total N	Time frame	Age groups	Data source	Observation type	Injury type	Cause
2013	Orces	US	5.04 million <sup>i</sup>	2001-2008	65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85+	National	ED	Fractures	Fall only
2014	РНАС	CA	Self-report: 256,011 Hospital: N/A Death: 12,631	2003-2010 <sup>u</sup> 2006-2011 <sup>v</sup> 2010-2011 <sup>u</sup> 2003-2008	65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+	National	Self-report, any treatment, hospital	All injuries Death	Fall only
2015	Brazinova et al.	AT	All causes: 16,204 Falls: 7,768	1980-2012	65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+	National	Mortality	Fatal TBI	All causes
2015	Parachute	CA	ED: 15,079 Hospital: 2,900	2014-2015 <sup>w</sup>	65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+	Provincewide	ED Hospital	Head injuries	Fall only
2016	DeGrauw et al.	US	N/A	2006-2011	65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90-94 95-99 100+	National	ED	All injuries	All causes
2016	Nilson et al.	SE	N/A <sup>j</sup>	2001-2010	65-79 80+	National	Hospital	All injuries	Fall only
2016	Parachute	CA	N/A	2011-2015	All ages 65-74 75+	Provincewide	ED Hospital	All injuries	Falls on stairs
2018	Kannus, Niemi, et al.	FI	N/A <sup>k</sup>	1970-2014	80-84 85-89 90+	National	Hospital	Wounds and lacerations	Fall only

Year	Author	Country	Total N	Time frame	Age groups	Data source	Observation type	Injury type	Cause
2018	Kannus, Parkkari, et al.	FI	N/A <sup>1</sup>	1970-2016	80-84 85-89 90+	National	Hospital	All injuries	Fall only
2018	Parachute	CA	ED: 257,738 Hospital: 61,665	2014-2016 <sup>x</sup>	All ages 65-69 70-74 75-79 80+	Provincewide	ED Hospital	All injuries	All causes Fall only
2019	Olij et al.	NL	N/A <sup>m</sup>	1997-2016	65-74 75-84 85+	National	ED Hospital Mortality	All injuries, death	Fall only

*Note.* CIHI = Canadian Institute for Health Information. ED = Emergency Department. TBI = Traumatic Brain Injury. MVA = Motor Vehicle Accident. AT = Austria. AU = Australia. CA = Canada. FI = Finland. IE = Ireland. NL = Netherlands. NZ = New Zealand. SE = Sweden. US = United States of America. <sup>a</sup> Total N not reported; annual N ranged from 1,139 to 11,835. <sup>b</sup> Single year (2002, n=2,309) analyzed in more detail. <sup>c</sup> Total N not reported; annual N ranged from 85 to 1,095. <sup>d</sup> Total N not reported; annual N ranged from 32 to 478. <sup>e</sup> National estimate derived from a sample of 3,932 cases. <sup>f</sup> Total N not reported; annual N ranged from 14,398 to 34,091. <sup>g</sup> Total N not reported; annual N ranged from 373,128 to 559,355. <sup>h</sup> Total N not reported; annual N ranged from 927 to 10,333. <sup>i</sup> National estimate derived from a sample of 70,199 cases. <sup>j</sup> Total N not reported; annual N ranged from 37,772 to 40,731. <sup>k</sup> Total N not reported; annual N ranged from 52 to 1,393. <sup>1</sup> Total N not reported; annual N ranged from 64,810 to 96,186. <sup>n</sup> Fiscal years 1987 to 1998. <sup>o</sup> Fiscal years 1992/1993 to 2000/2001. <sup>p</sup> Fiscal years 1992/1993 to 2000/2001. <sup>g</sup> Fiscal years 2006/2007. <sup>o</sup> Z000/2001. <sup>g</sup> Fiscal years 2006/2007 to 2010/2011. <sup>u</sup> 2003, 2005, and fiscal year 2008/2009. <sup>s</sup> Fiscal years 2006/2007 to 2010/2011. <sup>w</sup> Fiscal years 2014/2015. <sup>x</sup> Fiscal years 2014/2015 and 2015/2016.

This section starts with the presentation of findings about FRI ED admissions, followed by hospitalizations, and mortality. Next, types and locations of the falls that caused injuries were described in detail, separated for hospital, ED, and mortality. Varying patterns and similarities of FRIs are presented, followed by recommendations for future research and FRI prevention.

FRI research was most frequently reported from the United States, Finland, the Netherlands, and Australia. Most Finnish studies came from the Urho Kaleva Kekkonen (UKK) Institute – Centre for Health Promotion Research in Tampere, under the leadership of Dr. Kannus. Erasmus University in Rotterdam, Netherlands, led by Dr. Hartholt and the National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Center for Disease Control and Prevention in the United States, led by Dr. Stevens also conducted multiple FRI studies. All reviewed studies used population-based data from nationwide or state and provincewide datasets, though hospital-level data was more common than the ED (Table 1-1).

## 1.3.1 Emergency Department Level of Care

Overall, falls were the leading cause of ED visits for injuries in older adults (Parachute, 2018). Between 2014 and 2016 in Ontario, the age-specific rate of ED visits for FRIs increased with each five-year age group, from 3,101 per 100,000 (65-69 years) to 11,497 per 100,000 (80+ years; Parachute, 2018). Olij et al. (2019) also reported an age-related increase in the Netherlands; from 202 per 100,000 (65-74 years) to 915 per 100,000 (85+ years). Rates of FRIs at the ED were consistently higher among females than males, in all age groups. In the United States, Mahoney et al. (2005) found that the rate of all FRIs was 4,027 per 100,000 females and 2,546 per 100,000 males.

## 1.3.1.1 Injury Types and Body Locations

The most common injury types and body locations varied by age groups and sex of patients. Orces (2013) identified that the lower trunk (i.e., lumbar spine, pelvis, hip) was the most common body region to sustain fractures in both sexes, and the age-standardized rate among females was more than double that of males. Orces (2013) also found that females predominantly experienced fractures of the wrist followed by upper trunk (i. e., thoracic spine, ribs, sternum). According to Olij et al. (2019), fractures were the most common injury type in the ED, but rate decreased between 1997 and 2016, as did rates

for wounds, luxations/distortions, and superficial injuries, while skull and brain injuries increased with time. The authors explained the decrease in rate of fractures by prevention and treatment of osteoporosis and fall prevention interventions while the rise in head injuries was explained by the greater use of computerized tomography imaging (Olij et al., 2019). Stevens et al. (2009) found that fractures were the most common injury type seen with falls involving walkers and canes, followed by contusions or abrasions. Comparisons between studies should be made with caution as studies examined different injury types and causes and used a variety of classification systems (Table 1-2 and Table 1-3).

Injury type and body	DeGrauw et al., 2016	Mahoney 200	v et al., 5	Olij et al., 2019 <sup>a</sup>	Orces, 2	2013	Parachute	e, 2015	Parachute, 2018	Stev	ens et al., 20	)09 <sup>i</sup>
location	Total	Female	Male	Total	Female	Male	Female	Male	Total	Total	Female	Male
All FRIs	5,057- 5,341 <sup>b</sup>	4,027	2,546	3,200- 4,550 °					65-69: 3,101 70-74: 3,897 75-79: 5,420 80+: 11,498			
Fracture				1,810- 2,560 °						49	67	25
Lower trunk				,	827	383						
Wrist					237	58						
Upper trunk					178	161						
Upper arm					173	54						
Lower arm					122	34						
Shoulder					116	55						
Upper leg					103	41						
Ankle					91	39						
Face					77	46						
Lower leg					66	32						
Knee					52	19						
Foot					44	15						
Elbow					43	19						
Contusion or abrasion										39	52	20
Laceration										18	22	13
Sprain or strain										9	12	4
Internal injury										8	10	6
Skull/brain injury				100-370 <sup>b</sup>			789	601	65-69: 732 70-74: 1,053 75-79: 1,622 80+: 3,733			
Superficial injury				420-1,020 c								
Wound				160-400 <sup>c</sup>								
Luxation/distortion				290-170 °								
Other/unknown				110-280 b						7	9	4

Table 1-2	
Types and Body Locations of Injuries in Emergency Department Level Literature, Reported in Rates p	er 100,000

*Note.* Lower trunk = lumbar spine, pelvis, hip. Upper trunk = thoracic spine, ribs, sternum. FRI = Fall-Related Injury. F = Female. M = Male. <sup>a</sup> Rates recalculated from per 10,000 to per 100,000. <sup>b</sup> Significant increase with time. <sup>c</sup> Significant decrease with time. <sup>d</sup> Non-significant change with time. <sup>e</sup> Patients 80+ years only. <sup>f</sup> Increased until 1990s, then decrease until 2016. <sup>g</sup> Females only. <sup>h</sup> Rates recalculated from per 1,000 to per 100,000. <sup>i</sup> Included only falls involving walkers and canes.

Lever Studies		
Author	Injury causes	Coding system
DeGrauw et al., 2016	All causes	ICD-9-CM
Mahanay at al. 2005	Felle	ICD-9
Manoney et al., 2003	rans	ICD-10
Olij et al., 2019	Falls	ICD-10
Orces, 2013	Falls	Unknown
Oudshoorn et al., 2012	Low energetic falls	ICD-10
Parachute, 2015	Falls	ICD-10
Parachute, 2016	Falls on stairs	ICD-10-CA
Parachute, 2018	All cause	ICD-10
Stevens et al., 2009	Falls with walkers and canes	ICD-9-CM

 Table 1-3

 Injury and Fall Type Classification Coding Systems for Injury Types and Causes Used in Emergency Department

 Level Studies

*Note.* ICD-9 = International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision. ICD-9-CM = International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision, Clinical Modification. ICD-10 = International Classification of Diseases, 10<sup>th</sup> Revision. ICD-10-AM = International Classification of Diseases, 10<sup>th</sup> Revision, Australian Modification. ICD-10-CA = International Classification of Diseases, 10<sup>th</sup> Revision, with Canadian Enhancements.

The Parachute (2018) Ontario Injury Data Report (April 2014 to March 2016) found that the head was the most commonly injured body location and rates increased with age from 732 per 100,000 (65-69 years) to 3,733 per 100,000 (80+ years). Hip and thigh injuries were the second most common and also increased with age from 214 per 100,000 in individuals 65-69 years of age to 2,077 per 100,000 those 80 and older (Parachute, 2018). The most common fall-related head injuries in the ED in Ontario were haemorrhages (42%), concussions (22%), and other intracranial injuries (18%). Additionally, Parachute (2015) also reported that rates of ED admissions for all head injuries were higher for females (789 per 100,000) than males (601 per 100,000).

1.3.1.2 Time Trends in Emergency Department Admissions

Time trends of ED admissions for FRIs were inconsistent. In the United States, ED admission rates increased over time (Table 1-2) and could be explained by people living longer and with more chronic conditions than in earlier years (DeGrauw al., 2016). Conversely, Olij and colleagues (2019) reported a significant decrease in the rate of FRIs in all age groups in the Netherlands (65-74 years, 75-84 years, 85+ years), from 4,550 (1997) to 3,200 per 100,000 (2016) overall. Olij et al. also found a shift in the pattern of injury types; an increase in skull and brain injuries and a decrease in fractures. The authors speculated that an overall healthier and more active population of older adults influenced this decrease (Olij et al., 2019). It appears that reported increases in FRI ED admissions could not be explained by a single cause.

## 1.3.2 Hospital Level of Care

Research that examined patients who were admitted to the hospital for treatment of an FRI was more common than research at the ED level. Fall and injury type coding classification systems used in hospital focused studies varied and are described in Table 1-4. Falls were responsible for 7.3% of all hospitalizations in older adults in 2008/2009 in Canada (Scott et al., 2010). During this time, the age-standardized rate of hospitalizations was 15.5 per 1,000 (1,549 per 100,000<sup>2</sup>) in all of Canada, and 1,230 per 100,000 in Ontario (Scott et al., 2010). Overall, rates of FRI hospitalizations increased with age in both sexes and were higher in females than males in all age groups (Table 1-5; Carey & Laffoy, 2002; Hartholt et al., 2010; Hartholt, Stevens, et al., 2011; Kannus, Niemi, et al., 2005; Kannus, Parkkari, et al., 2018; Korhonen et al., 2012; Nilson et al., 2016; Parachute, 2018; Public Health Agency of Canada [PHAC], 2014; Scott et al., 2010; Soubhi et al., 2002). Overall, age-standardized rates of all FRI hospitalizations increased consistently with time. Hartholt, Stevens et al. (2011) and Watson and Mitchell (2013) both reported significant increases of FRIs in all age groups and both sexes in the Netherlands and Australia (Table 1-6). Kannus, Niemi, et al. (2005) also reported an increase in rates among Finns 80+ years in both sexes.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  Rates from Scott et al. (2010) were originally calculated per 1,000 population, however, for the purpose of comparison they were recalculated per 100,000 in this review.

Table 1-4

Injury and Fall Type Classification Coding Systems for Injury Types and Causes Used in Hospital Level Studies

Author	Injury causes	Coding system
Carey & Laffoy, 2005	Falls	ICD-9-CM
Cassell & Clapperton, 2013	Falls	ICD-10-AM
Coronado et al., 2005	Falls	ICD-9-CM
	Motor vehicle accidents	
	Assault	
	Other	
Fletcher et al., 2007	All causes	ICD-9-CM
Hartholt et al., 2010	Falls	ICD-9
Hartholt, Stevens, et al., 2011	Falls	ICD-9-CM
Hartholt, Van Lieshout, et al., 2011	Falls	ICD-9
Harvey et al., 2012	All causes	ICD-10-AM
Kannus, Niemi, et al., 2018	Falls from 1m or less	ICD-9
		ICD-10
Kannus, Niemi, et al., 2005	Falls from 1m or less	ICD-9
		ICD-10
Kannus et al., 2007	Falls from 1m or less	ICD-9
		ICD-10
Kannus et al, 2009	Low trauma falls	ICD-9
		ICD-10
Kannus, Parkkari, et al., 2018	Falls from 1m or less	ICD-9
		ICD-10
Korhonen et al., 2012	Falls from 1m or less	ICD-9
		ICD-10
Mahoney et al., 2005	Falls	ICD-9
		ICD-10
Nilson et al., 2016	Falls	ICD-10
Olij et al., 2019	Falls	ICD-10
Oudshoorn et al., 2012	All causes	ICD-10
Parachute, 2015	Falls	ICD-10
Parachute, 2018	All causes	ICD-10
PHAC, 2014	Falls	ICD-10-CA
Scott et al., 2004	Falls	Unknown
Scott et al., 2010	Falls	ICD-10-CA
Soubhi et al., 2002	Falls	ICD-9-CM
Stevens et al., 1999	Falls	ICD-9
Thomson et al., 2003	Falls	ICD-9
	Motor vehicle accidents	
	Others	
Watson & Mitchell, 2011	Falls	ICD-10-AM

*Note.* ICD-9 = International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision. ICD-9-CM = International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision, Clinical Modification. ICD-10 = International Classification of Diseases,  $10^{th}$  Revision. ICD-10-AM = International Classification of Diseases,  $10^{th}$  Revision, Australian Modification. ICD-10-CA = International Classification of Diseases,  $10^{th}$  Revision, with Canadian Enhancements.

Table	1-5
-------	-----

Rates of all Fall-Related Injuries in Hospital Level of Care Reported in Literature, Stratified by Age Groups and Sex

Age group (years)	65-69	70-74	75-79	80-84	85-89	90-94	65-74	75-84	65-79	80+	85+	90+	95+
Carey & Laffoy,	F: 790	F: 1,070	F: 1,770	F: 2,650							F: 4,040		
2005 <sup>a</sup>	M: 460	M: 490	M: 770	M: 1,370							M: 1,940		
Hartholt et al.,	F: 495-	F: 738-	F: 1,170-	F: 1,980-	F: 3,047-	F: 3,829-							F: 4,596-
2010 <sup>b</sup>	609	890	1,570	2,770	4,504	5,655							7,215
	M:	M: 344-	M: 574-	M: 920-	M: 1,378-	M:							M:
	279-	539	825	1,540	2,804	2,372-							2,171-
	347					4,514							5,586
Hartholt, Stevens,	F: 323-	F: 610-	F: 1,038-	F: 1,791-							F: 3,636-		
et al., 2011	467 <sup>c</sup>	696 °	1,362 °	2,423 °							4,283 °		
	M:	M: 359-	M: 707-	M: 1,207-							M:		
	261-	543 °	914 °	1,484 °							2,447-		
	333 °										2,878 °		
Kannus, Niemi,										F: 2,711-			
et al., 2005										6,681			
										M: 1,441-			
V D 11										4,726			
Kannus, Parkkari,										F: 2,/53-			
et al., 2018										5,843 °			
										M: 1,4/5-			
Varbarra et al										4,115 °			
Kornonen et al.,										F: 2,729-			
2012										7,079° M: 1,455			
										MI: 1,433-			
Nilson et el									E. 1 200	5,407 - E. 5 797			
2016									г. 1,399- 1 638 d	г. <i>3</i> ,787-			
2010									1,038 M: 048	0,035 M: 3 503			
									1 050 d	M. 5,505-			
Parachute 2018	420	684	1 175						1,057	3,705			
PHAC $2014$	F: 570	E· 920	F: 1.640	E. 2 900	F. 4 810					3,442		E. 6 860	
111110, 2014	M· 420	M: 650	M· 1.030	M: 1.850	M: 3 140							M· 4 920	
Scott et al 2010	111. 720	111. 050	1,050	1,050			F٠	F٠			F·5 210	1,1, 4,720	
5000 00 00. 2010							720	2.100			M: 3.500		
							, 20 M∙	2,100 M·					
							520	1,310					

*Note.* <sup>a</sup> Rates recalculated from per 1,000 to per 100,000. <sup>b</sup> Rates recalculated from per 10,000 to per 100,000. <sup>c</sup> Significant increase with time. <sup>d</sup> Significant decrease with time <sup>e</sup> Increased until 1990s, then decrease thereafter.

## 1.3.2.1 Injury Types and Body Locations

Table 1-6 shows the rates for injury types and body locations examined at the hospital level. Overall, fractures appeared to be the most common injury type. In Canada, hip fractures accounted for 38% of hospitalizations among older adults and 39% were other fractures (Scott et al., 2010). Similarly, 38% of fall-related hospitalizations were hip fractures in British Columbia between 1992 and 2001 (Scott et al., 2004). Females had higher counts and rates of fracture-related hospitalizations. In Sweden, the rate of fractures was 2,224 per 100,000 females and 1,072 per 100,000 males during the period of 2001-2010 (Nilson et al., 2016). Authors speculated that higher prevalence of osteoporosis and osteopenia in females could have contributed to higher rates of fractures (Hartholt, Stevens, et al., 2011; Orces, 2013).

## Table 1-6

Types and Body Locations of Injuries in Hospital-Level Studies, Reported in Rates

Injury type and location	Carey	& Laffoy, 20	05	Cassell & Clapperton, 2013	Coronado et al., 2005	Fletcher et al., 2007	Hartholt, Stevens, et al., 2011			
All FRIs	Total: 1,490 <sup> h</sup>	F: 1,960 <sup>h</sup>	M: 810 <sup>h</sup>	1,739-1,977 <sup>ь</sup>			1,046-1,368 <sup>b</sup>			
Fracture				1,251-1,327 °						
Hip				467-600 <sup>c</sup>						
Neck				6-18 <sup>b</sup>						
Skull/facial				17-32 <sup>b</sup>						
Upper limbs										
Proximal humerus										
Wrist/hand				11-14 <sup>b</sup>						
Forearm/elbow				138-157 <sup>ь</sup>						
Shoulder/upper arm				118-151 <sup>ь</sup>						
Lumbar spine/pelvis				135-158						
Pelvis										
Lower limb										
Lower leg/knee										
Lower leg/ankle				114-130						
Ankle/foot										
Foot				9-17 <sup>b</sup>						
Vertebrae										
Rib										
Rib/sternum/ thoracic spine				83-98 <sup>b</sup>						
Femur				37-50						
Other										
All non-fractures										
TBI				39-90 <sup>ь</sup>	105	81-183				
Skull/brain injury										
Severe head injuries										
Open wounds				127-174 <sup>b</sup>						
Superficial injuries				95-123 <sup>b</sup>						
Dislocations, sprains, strains				49-59						
Muscle/tendon injures				13-22 Ь						
Other										
Injury type and location	Hartholt et al., 2010	Hartholt, Van	Lieshout, et	al., 2011	Kannus, N 202	iemi, et al., 18 <sup>e</sup>	Kannus, Niemi	et al., 2005 <sup>e</sup>	Kannus et a	al., 2007 <sup>e</sup>
--------------------------	--------------------------	-------------------	---------------	---------------	------------------	----------------------------------	--------------------	---------------------------	-------------	------------------------
All FRIs	877-1,412 <sup>a</sup>						F: 2,711- 6,681	M: 1,441- 4,726		
Fracture							,	,		
Hip	512-636 <sup>f</sup>									
Neck										
Skull/facial										
Upper limbs										
Proximal humerus										
Wrist/hand										
Forearm/elbow										
Shoulder/upper arm										
Lumbar spine/pelvis										
Pelvis										
Lower limb										
Lower leg/knee										
Lower leg/ankle										
Ankle/Ioot										
F001 Vortabraa										
Pib										
Femur										
Other										
All non-fractures										
TBI										
Skull/brain injury		Total: 53- 119	F: 59- 127	M: 44- 113						
Severe head injuries									F: 168-	M: 172-
Open wounds					F: 98-512	M: 92-395			300	009
Superficial injuries										
Dislocations, sprains,										
strains										
Muscle/tendon injures										
Other										

Injury type and location	Kannus et al, 2009 <sup>e</sup>	Korhonen et a	al., 2012 <sup>e</sup>	Kannus, Parkkari	i, et al., 2018 <sup>e</sup>	Mahoney et al., 2005	Nilson et al	., 2016
All FRIs		F: 2,729- 7,079 <sup>f</sup>	M: 1,455- 5,467 <sup>f</sup>	F: 2,753- 7,162 <sup>f</sup>	M: 1,475- 5,503 <sup>f</sup>	2,159-2,263	F: 2,914- 3,050 °	M: 1,646- 1,677 <sup>d</sup>
Fracture							F: 2,224	M: 1,072
Hip								
Neck								
Skull/facial								
Upper limb								
Wrist/hand								
Proximal humerus	32-478 <sup>g</sup>							
Forearm/elbow								
Shoulder/upper arm								
Lumbar spine/pelvis								
Pelvis								
Lower limb								
Lower leg/knee								
Lower leg/ankle								
Ankle/foot								
Foot								
Vertebrae								
Rib								
Femur								
Other								
All non-fractures								16.005
								M: 225
Skull/brain injury								
Severe head injuries								
Open wounds								E 244
Superficial injuries								F: 344
Dislocations, sprains,								
strains Musels/tenden iniuns-								
Nuscie/tendon injures								
Otner								

Injury type and location	Olij et al., 2019 <sup>a</sup>	Soubhi et	al., 2002 i	Stevens et al., 1999		Watson & Mitchell, 2011
All FRIs		F: 1,919-2,173 °	M: 1,053-1,193 °			1,799-2,037 <sup>b</sup>
Fracture						1,356-1,171°
Нір	510-940 <sup>c</sup>			F 65-74: 501	M 65-74: 168	432-557 °
				F 75-84: 1,620	M 75-84: 682	
Nack				F 85+: 3,958	M 85+: 2,256	
Skull/facial						19-35 <sup>b</sup>
Upper limb	160-270 <sup>d</sup>	F: 270	M: 85			17 55
Wrist/hand	100 270	112/0	1.11 00			10-16 <sup>b</sup>
Proximal humerus						
Forearm/elbow						199-161 °
Shoulder/upper arm						120-141 <sup>d</sup>
Lumbar spine/pelvis						
Pelvis						109-126 <sup>b</sup>
Lower limb		F: 1,068	M: 458			
Lower leg/knee						100-124 <sup>d</sup>
Lower leg/ankle						
Ankle/foot						11-17 в
Foot						
Vertebrae						63-91 <sup>b</sup>
Rib						64-79 <sup>6</sup>
Femur	<b>270</b> 220 d					37-45 <sup>u</sup>
Other	270-330 <sup>a</sup>					450 707 h
All non-iractures						450-797 °
1 DI Skull/brain injury	80 110 b					
Source head injuries	80-110					
Open wounds		F. 59	M· 77			
Superficial injuries		F: 157	M: 105			
Dislocations sprains strains		F: 51	M: 105 M: 44			
Muscle/tendon injures		1.51	171. 77			
Other	250-430 <sup>d</sup>					

*Note.* F = Female. M = Male. a Rates recalculated from per 10,000 to per 100,000. b Significant increase with time. C Significant decrease with time. d Non-significant change with time. Patients 80+ years only. f Increased until 1990s, then decrease until 2016. Females only. Rates recalculated from per 1,000 to per 100,000. Rates reported per 100,000 person-years.

It appeared that increases in upper limb fractures, skull and facial fractures, rib fractures, ankle and foot fractures, TBIs, open wounds, and superficial injuries were responsible for the increase in FRI hospitalization rates (Cassell & Clapperton, 2013; Hartholt et al., 2010). Authors have speculated many causes for this apparent increase, such as poor nutrition and unhealthy habits, more coexisting chronic conditions, and an increased use of medications that may affect balance (Kannus, Niemi, et al., 2005; Kannus, Niemi, et al., 2018). Some explanations were contradictory. For example, in Finland, less-active lifestyles were considered as a cause of this increase (Kannus, Niemi, et al., 2005; Kannus, Niemi, et al., 2018), while in the Netherlands, Hartholt et al. (2010) suggested this trend may have been influenced by a greater number of older adults maintaining active lifestyles and having less functional limitations than in the past. Finally, a larger proportion of older adults continues to age at home, which could expose this population to greater risks for FRI (Harvey & Close, 2012; Nilson et al., 2016; Olij et al., 2019).

Two-part trends were identified in the Netherlands and Finland, an annual increase in the rate of FRI hospitalizations until the mid 1990s then a decrease or stabilization of rate thereafter (Hartholt et al., 2010; Kannus, Parkkari, et al., 2018; Korhonen et al., 2012). Conversely, there was a decline in age-standardized rates with time in Ireland, Sweden, and the Netherlands. Collectively, these studies did not provide sufficient evidence to explain the variability in hospitalization rate changes over time. Some authors speculated that more active lifestyles could have resulted in increased balance, coordination, and muscular performance (Kannus, Parkkari, et al., 2018; Korhonen et al., 2012; Kannus, et al., 2009). It is also possible that there has been a shift towards improved treatment of injuries by general practitioners outside of hospitals for less severe FRIs (Carey & Laffoy, 2005; Olij et al., 2019). Hartholt and colleagues (2010) proposed that the deceleration in all FRI hospitalizations since the mid-1990s could be due to a decline in specific injury types, such as hip fractures, though the reason for this decline was uncertain.

#### 1.3.2.2 Fractures

Table 1-6 shows the rates for injury types and body locations examined at the hospital level. Fractures were the most common injury type (Cassell & Clapperton, 2013; Watson

& Mitchell, 2011). Overall, females had higher counts and rates of fracture-related hospitalizations. Between 2001 and 2010 in Sweden, the rate of fractures was 2,224 per 100,000 females and 1,072 per 100,000 males (Nilson et al., 2016). Authors speculated that higher prevalence of osteoporosis and osteopenia in females could have contributed to higher rates of fractures (Hartholt, Stevens, et al., 2011; Orces, 2013). A consensus finding was that the hip was the most commonly fractured body part (Carey & Laffoy, 2005; Hartholt et al., 2010; Olij et al., 2019; Watson & Mitchell, 2011), especially in females (Cassell & Clapperton, 2013; Stevens et at., 1999).Rates of hip fractures ranged from 432 to 940 per 100,000 across reviewed studies (Table 1-5).

Though fractures remain the most common injury type, the proportion of fractures, including hip fractures, compared to other injury types have decreased over time in Australia and the Netherlands (Cassell & Clapperton, 2013; Hartholt et al., 2010; Olij et al., 2019; Watson & Mitchell, 2011). With time, hip fracture rates have decreased from 1,800 to 1,330 per 100,000, while fractures of the upper extremities and other fractures did not significantly change between 1997 and 2016 in the Netherlands (Olij et al., 2019). Other fracture types resulted in varying time-related trends. Watson and Mitchell (2011) reported that rates of forearm and elbow fractures decreased with time, while fractures of the skull and face, vertebrae, pelvis, wrist and hand, ankle and foot, and ribs increased over time.

#### 1.3.2.3 Traumatic Brain Injury and Other Head Injuries

Like fractures, there were sex-related differences in patients with head injuries (Table 1-5), namely rates were higher in males than females (Carey & Laffoy, 2005; Coronado et al., 2005; Fletcher et al., 2007; Harvey & Close, 2012; Kannus et al., 2007; Parachute 2015). TBI-related hospitalization rates also increased with advancing age and peaked in the oldest age groups (Coronado et al., 2005; Fletcher et al., 2007; Hartholt, Van Lieshout, et al., 2011; Kannus et al., 2007; Nilson et al., 2016; Parachute, 2018).

Time-trends indicated that the number and age-standardized rates of TBIs have increased with time in Australia, Finland, the Netherlands, and the United States (Cassell & Clapperton, 2013; Fletcher et al., 2007; Hartholt et al., 2010; Hartholt, Van Lieshout, et al. 2011; Harvey & Close, 2012; Kannus et al., 2007; Olij et al., 2019). Several studies speculated that the increase could be partly explained by the more widespread use of computerized tomography scanning, resulting in a greater detection of TBIs (Cassell & Clapperton, 2013; Hartholt, Van Lieshout, et al., 2011; Harvey & Close, 2012; Olij et al., 2019; Watson & Mitchell, 2011). Harvey and Close (2012) also suggested that an increase in the use of anticoagulant and antiplatelet medications could contribute to more intracranial bleeds. As for TBI types, Coronado and colleagues (2005) found that intracranial haemorrhages were the most common TBI, followed by concussions, while Hartholt, Van Lieshout, et al. (2011) found that concussions and contusions were the most common head injury categories, followed by fractures and bleeds (haemorrhages).

#### 1.3.2.4 Other Injuries

Open wounds were the second most common injury type in Australia with agestandardized rates rising from 127 in 1998/1999 to 174 per 100,000 in 2008/2009 (Cassell & Clapperton, 2013). Unlike fractures, the rates for open wounds were higher among males in all age groups and increased with advancing age in both sexes in Canada (Soubhi et al., 2002). Kannus, Niemi, et al. (2018) also reported an increase with both time and advancing age among Finns aged 80+ years, and rates were consistently higher in females (98 in 1970 to 512 per 100,000 in 2014) than males (92 to 395 per 100,000).

Superficial injuries were the third most common injury type in Australia, with rates increasing from 95 in 1998/1999 to 123 per 100,000 in 2008/2009 (Cassell & Clapperton, 2013). Superficial injuries were the second most common injury type (after fractures) in British Columbia, Canada (Soubhi et al., 2002). Sex-specific rates for superficial injuries were higher in females for all age groups and increased with advancing age groups (Soubhi et al., 2002). Rates of fall-related sprains, strains, and dislocations ranged from 49 to 59 per 100,000 in Australia and did not show a significant change over time (Cassell & Clapperton, 2013). Overall, injury types besides fractures appear to be contributing to the rise in FRI hospitalization rates, specifically open wounds and superficial injuries are problematic among older adult populations.

## 1.3.3 Mortality

A consensus finding in this review was that the number and rate of mortality due to FRIs have increased with time (Alamgir et al., 2012; Mahoney et al., 2005; PHAC, 2014; Stevens et al., 1999; Stevens & Dellinger, 2002). Rates varied by sex and age and were higher among males than females and increased with older age groups (Alamgir et al.,

2012; Mahoney et al., 2005; Orces, 2008; PHAC, 2014; Stevens et al., 1999; Stevens & Dellinger, 2002). Authors speculated that higher rates in males could be related to males engaging in more physical activities or risky behaviours, and that males suffer from more comorbidities (Alamgir et al., 2012; Orces, 2008). Conversely, age-standardized rates were found to be higher among females in the Netherlands and United States (Olij et al., 2019; Stevens et al., 1999). Findings from Canada, the Netherlands, and Austria, also confirmed that mortality rates increased with advancing age (Brazinova, et al., 2015; Olij, et al., 2019; PHAC, 2014; Scott et al., 2004). Table 1-7 shows FRI mortality rates from the literature by age groups and sex where possible.

Fall-related Injury M	torially kales from Peer-	reviewea Literature a	na Canaaian I	Keporis, Keporie	a by Age Groups				
Age group (years)	Alamgir et al., 2012	Olij et al., 2019 <sup>a</sup>	Orces	, 2008 <sup>a</sup>	PHAC, 2014 a,d	Soubhi et a	1., 2002 °	Stevens & Dell	inger, 2002 <sup>a</sup>
65+		107-121	F: 19-23	M: 29-45	35-47	F: 52	M: 52	F: 19-26	M: 24-31
65-69	9		F: 1-4 °	M: 7-8 °	8-10	F: 6	M: 10		
64-74		15-21							
70-74	16		F: 6-10 <sup>b</sup>	M: 10-15 °	14-18	F: 10	M: 20		
75-79	32		F: 12-16 °	M: 17-29 <sup>b</sup>	27-37	F: 29	M: 42		
75-84		89-103							
80-84	64		F: 26-40 <sup>b</sup>	M: 26-69 <sup>b</sup>	60-86	F: 70	M: 95		
85-89					131-175				
85+	150	554-780	F: 62-97 <sup>b</sup>	M: 71-158 <sup>b</sup>		F: 288	M: 320		
90+					278-417				

Table 1-7	
Fall-related Injury Mortality Rates from Peer-reviewed Literature and Canadian Reports, Reported by Age Group	S

*Note.* F = Female. M = Male. a Range of rates provided for articles that included multiple rate calculations during study period. b Significant increase with time. C Non-significant change with time. d Rates recalculated from per 10,000 to per 100,000. Rates reported per 100,000 person-years.

#### 1.3.4 Types and Locations of Falls

The following sections present findings from literature that described the types of falls that resulted in injury. As before, only falls that resulted in admission to the ED or hospital were examined. Where possible, fall types were separated by demographic characteristics and injury types.

### 1.3.4.1 Emergency Department Level of Care

According to Parachute 2018 report, in Ontario (2014-2016) 'other/unspecified' falls (ICD-10 codes W03, W05, W11, W12, W15, W16, W17, W18, W19) were the most common fall type, followed by 'fall on the same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01), 'fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10), 'fall involving bed, (W06), and 'fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). These rates are displayed in Table 1-8 by age group. Another Parachute (2016) report examined FRIs due to 'fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10) and found the rate to range between age groups from 440 per 100,000 (65-74 years) to 658 per 100,000 (75 + years). The most frequent location of FRI events was the home. In the Netherlands in 2016, Olij et al. (2019) reported that most FRI events occurred in and around the home (1,640 per 100,000), followed by in the street (330 per 100,000), and in nursing homes (270 per 100,000).

Rates of Patients admitted to the Emergency Department in Ontario as a Result of Experiencing Different Types of Falls, Reported by Age Group (April 2014 to March 2016), Adapted from Parachute, 2018

	, <b>,</b> ,			
Age group (years) <sup>a</sup>	65-69	70-74	75-79	80+
Other/unspecified	1,275	1,630	2,425	6,124
Slip, trip, stumble (W01)	1,005	1,292	1,790	3,443
Stairs/steps (W10)	429	507	603	771
Ice/snow (W00)	205	224	240	201
Bed (W06)	69	115	198	615
Chair (W07)	47	70	108	270
Other furniture (W08)	17	21	31	61

*Note.* Rates reported per 100,000 population. ICD-10 codes used for fall type classification. <sup>a</sup> Other/unspecified = W03, W05, W11, W12, W15, W16, W17, W18, W19. Adopted from Parachute, 2018

#### 1.3.4.2 Hospital Level of Care

Three types of falls accounted for 96% of FRIs that required hospitalization in the Netherlands; 'accidental fall on same level from slipping, tripping, stumbling', 'accidental fall on or from stairs or steps', or 'fall near a bed or chair' (Hartholt et al.,

Table 1-8

2010). Similarly, Mahoney et al. (2005) reported that falls due to 'slipping, tripping, and stumbling', followed by 'falling from one level to another', and falls from 'stairs or steps' were among the most common categories of falls. Fall types related to slipping or tripping were among the most common in British Columbia (Soubhi et al., 2002), Ontario (Parachute, 2018), and Canada as a whole (Soubhi et al., 2002). However, Parachute (2018) combined codes for 'other' and 'unspecified' falls (ICD-10 W03, W05, W11, W12, W15-W19), which together were the most common fall category in Ontario older adults. Soubhi et al. (2002) reported that 'other/unspecified' falls were the second most common fall type in British Columbia. 'Falls on and from stairs and steps' (W10) were also among the common fall types (CIHI, 2011; Parachute, 2018). In Ontario, rates of FRI hospitalizations due to 'falls on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' increased from 116 (65-69 years) to 983 per 100,000 (80+ years) while 'falls on and from stairs and steps' increased from 55 to 210 per 100,000 in the same age groups (Parachute, 2018).

In Australia, 'fall on same level from slipping, tripping, or stumbling' and falls 'due to a collision with another person' were the most common fall types that resulted in TBI and together accounted for 64.2% of hospitalizations (Harvey & Close, 2012). Another Australian study reported that hip fractures were often caused by any 'same level falls' (ICD-10 codes W00-W08, W17) with a rate of 291 per 100,000 in 2008/2009 (Cassell & Clapperton, 2013). An important takeaway from this section on fall types is that, although the comparable coding classification systems were used in reviewed studies (ICD-9 and ICD-10), the authors combined various fall types into a single category, making comparison across studies imprecise. However, same-level fall events, including slipping and tripping, were consistently the most common fall type at the hospital level of care.

The home was the most common location of fall-related hip fractures and TBIs in Australia, followed by residential institutions (Harvey & Close, 2012; Cassell & Clapperton). In Canada, approximately 50% of FRIs that required hospitalization occurred in or around the home, and about 20% occurred in residential institutions (PHAC, 2005). Scott and colleagues (2010) also reported that 17% FRIs occurred in 'unspecified' locations. In summary, population-based studies of FRI hospitalizations have not placed a heavy focus on fall types or fall locations; rather, they have focused on describing injury types and the individuals who experienced the injurious events.

### 1.3.5 Limitations of the Current Literature

Several common limitations were identified in the reviewed population-based studies. As researchers used secondary data, meaning they did not personally collect data, they had to accept potential errors or missing data during data entry (Watson & Mitchell, 2011). Underreporting of FRIs is also possible for a few reasons. For example, if the FRI was not listed as the primary diagnosis it could have been misclassified (DeGrauw et al., 2016; Nilson et al., 2016; Orces, 2013; Stevens et al., 2009; Watson & Mitchell, 2011). Additionally, studies that examined only FRIs that required hospitalization may have underestimated the impact of FRIs on the entire healthcare system, as some serious injuries treated and discharged from ED or outpatient clinics were not included (Carey & Laffoy, 2005; Hartholt, Stevens, et al., 2011; Harvey & Close, 2012; Kannus, Parkkari, et al., 2018; Nilson et al., 2016).

Changes in coding (i.e., from ICD-9 to ICD-10) during a study period could influence results, especially in multi-decade observation periods (Olij et al., 2019). Converting from one classification system to another over time results in difficulty in drawing comparisons within a study as well as across studies from different years. Results from a single country, province, or state, may not be generalizable to other populations due to differences in healthcare systems or population demographics (Hartholt et al., 2010; Hartholt, Van Lieshout, et al., 2011; Olij et al., 2019). Finally, there is a concern that in FRIs research using large population-based datasets a considerable portion of missing or unspecified codes for causes of injuries, such as 'unspecified' fall types or locations, might impact findings (Harvey & Close, 2012).

#### 1.3.6 Literature Review Summary

This literature review examined peer-reviewed articles and Canadian injury reports that described population studies of FRIs at the ED and hospital levels of care. The takeaway from this review is that drawing conclusions and making comparisons about all FRI research is not feasible. There is a great diversity in reporting procedures, such as varying categorizations of injury types and fall types drawn from ICD-9 and ICD-10 coding. It is unclear if researchers devised these categorizations (e.g., grouping multiple fall type

codes into a single 'falls on same level' category) or if they are a limitation of secondary datasets used.

This literature review sought to answer three questions. The first was: What is known about people who experience FRIs? Simply put, the answer is 'not enough'. Overall, females have higher rates of FRIs than males, and in most injury types, the agespecific rate increased with advancing age. This is true for patients with the most frequently studied injury types, such as fractures and TBIs. What is not known however, is who is experiencing the less common and less serious injuries, like superficial injuries, open wounds, and other fractures (e.g., rib).

The second question asked: What types of FRIs are occurring in older adults? Fractures were the most common injury type, typically accounting for more than onethird of all FRI observations. The other injury types frequently examined were TBI and other head injuries, which is understandable given the propensity for these injury types to influence the health and function of older adults. However, other injury types, such as fractures of the rib, sternum and thoracic spine, were not described in great detail. It is possible to separate and individually examine these injuries using ICD-10 coding; however, they are often combined and described as a single entity. Separating these injuries would help shift towards a person-centered approach to care. These injuries have different consequences for individuals who experience them and should be targeted for prevention with the same care as more common injury types.

The third question asked: How did rates of FRIs change over time? Inconclusive time trends were uncovered in the literature. Increases in FRI rates at the ED were seen in some countries (e.g., United States), while a decline was present in others (e.g., the Netherlands). However, one consistent finding stood out; the proportion of fractures compared to other FRIs appears to have declined over time, meaning that other injury types seen in the ED are taking over increase in FRI rates. What is causing this shift in common injury types remains uncertain.

Finally, what types of falls caused FRIs? Overall, fall types were difficult to compare across studies as multiple types were often combined into a single category. However, it appeared that falls on the same level, specifically, 'fall on same level from

slipping, tripping and stumbling' (W01) was the most frequently seen fall type at both ED and hospital levels of care.

# 1.3.7 Recommendations from Literature for Future Research and Fall-Related Injury Prevention

The reviewed literature provided numerous recommendations for future research and fall injury prevention strategies, as summarized below.

- 1. Identify if demographic characteristics influence the types of injuries experienced (Hartholt et al., 2010; Nilson et al., 2016).
- 2. Conduct more ED-level population studies to better understand FRIs that do not require hospitalizations (Watson & Mitchell, 2011).
- 3. Design population-based epidemiological studies that will aid in informing decision-makers on how healthcare resources should be allocated and to plan for future healthcare needs (Hartholt, Stevens, et al., 2011).
- 4. Further investigate the circumstances and locations of FRI events which will shed light on risk factors for FRIs so that fall and FRI prevention strategies can be tailored to meet increasing needs (Stevens et al., 2009; Watson & Mitchell, 2011).
- Explore the use of hip protectors as a strategy to reduce the likelihood of fracturing a hip in the event of a fall (Kannus, Niemi, et al., 2018; Kannus et al., 2009; Korhonen et al., 2012).

## 1.4 Purpose

The literature review identified three major gaps. The first was a lack of population-based research of FRIs in Ontario and Canada. The 2018 Ontario Injury Data Report (Parachute, 2018) outlined the types of falls that resulted in injury at both the ED and hospital levels of care, however it did not examine injury types. The second gap was the need to better describe the demographic characteristics of the individuals who experienced FRIs. The third gap was the need to describe in detail both the types of injuries and the types of falls that caused injuries as specific details are essential for targeted FRI prevention strategies.

The purpose of this descriptive population-based study was to describe the FRIs among older adults admitted to EDs in Ontario, Canada, as well as people who were subsequently hospitalized. The specific goals of this study aligned with the first, second, and fourth recommendations from the literature listed above. These goals were: 1) to provide demographic characteristics of the people who experienced different FRIs and were admitted to the ED and hospital for treatment, and 2) to describe the types of falls resulting in injury. The second chapter outlines research methods used in this thesis, and the third chapter describes findings from this study. The final chapters, discussion and conclusions, tie in findings from both the previous literature and this original study.

#### 2. Methods

#### 2.1 Study Design

This retrospective population-based descriptive study was conducted using data from three linked administrative databases housed at IC/ES (formerly known as the Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences) in the province of Ontario, Canada.

### 2.2 Dataset Creation

This section describes the origin of the databases used to create this study's dataset as well as their contents. The databases used originated from the Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI), which gathers healthcare data from regional health ministries or authorities, and from community and hospital facilities (CIHI, 2011; Chan et al., 2013). This data is cleaned and validated by CIHI (Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care, 2012), then made accessible to IC/ES.

IC/ES<sup>3</sup> is an independent, non-profit research institute whose legal status under Ontario's health information privacy law allows it to collect and analyze healthcare and demographic data, without consent, for health system evaluation and improvement. IC/ES is a prescribed entity under section 45 of Ontario's Personal Health Information Protection Act. Section 45 authorizes IC/ES to collect personal health information, without consent, for the purpose of analysis or compiling statistical information with respect to the management of, evaluation or monitoring of, the allocation of resources to or planning for all or part of the health system. Projects conducted under section 45, by definition, do not require review by a Research Ethics Board. This project was conducted under section 45 and approved by IC/ES' Privacy and Legal Office. Ethics approval for this study was required by Western University and was obtained from the Research Ethics Board at Western University (HSREB # 109335, Appendix A).

This dataset was created by extracting patient data from two databases from IC/ES: National Ambulatory Care Reporting System (NACRS) and Discharge Abstract Database (DAD). NACRS contains closed cases from community and hospital-based ambulatory care, including day surgery, outpatient and community clinics, and ED data,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Italicized portions of text are a required wording provided by IC/ES and obligatory for inclusion in studies using IC/ES data.

though only data from the ED level was included in this study. DAD contains hospital inpatient records including administrative, demographic, and clinical patient information at the point of patient discharge, death, or transfer (Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care, 2012). Together, NACRS and DAD provided a comprehensive overview of multiple levels of healthcare that an individual may require at the time of an FRI.

A Dataset Creation Plan (Appendix B) with information for data requirements for this and another four studies was created and submitted to IC/ES. This study focused on the five-year period from 2010 to 2014 inclusive. The Dataset Creation Plan was submitted to IC/ES and a data analyst created algorithms to extract the data from NACRS and DAD. A third dataset was provided, the Ontario Registered Persons Database (RPDB), which contains sociodemographic information for Ontario residents. The research team received a "Master" dataset and a "Full" dataset in addition to NACRS and DAD datasets. Sociodemographic information from RPDB (e.g. age, sex, local health integration network [LHIN], nearest neighbourhood income quintile) and five chronic condition codes (i.e. asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [COPD], dementia, diabetes, hypertension) populated the Master dataset. There are 14 LHINs in Ontario that align with a geographic region of the province. Nearest neighbourhood income quintiles are based on census data and attribute average household income to individuals living in a dissemination area, that is, a small geographic area (CIHI, 2018). Quintile one refers to the least affluent, quintile five represents the highest average household income, while each quintile contains about 20% of the dissemination area. Every Ontario resident eligible to receive health care is assigned a unique encoded identifier known as an IC/ES key number which allows all IC/ES datasets to be linked (IKN; Iron et al., 2008). The "Full" dataset contained ICD-10-CA codes (CIHI, 2015), including at least one injury (S00-S99 or T00-T14) and one fall (W00-W19) code per observation were included.

#### 2.3 Population Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

The population of interest included all older adult Ontario residents who were admitted to an Ontario ED for an FRI. The inclusion criteria were: (1) older adults age 65 years or older at the time of admission to ED, (2) who were diagnosed with an FRI or died as a result of FRI, (3) between January 1, 2010 and December 31, 2014. An FRI was defined as a combination of two ICD-10-CA diagnosis codes; namely, a diagnosis of an injury, defined by ICD-10-CA codes S00-S99 or T00-T14 codes, and diagnosis of a fall, defined by ICD-10-CA codes W00-W19. Patients were excluded from the study if they: (1) did not have a valid IKN, (2) died prior to ED admission, (3) were not residents of the province of Ontario, (4) were younger than 65 years at the index date, (5) or have experienced an FRI as a hospital inpatient. The index date was operationally defined as the date of the first health care record for a patient diagnosed with an FRI.

#### 2.4 Data Cleaning

Data cleaning and statistical analysis were conducted using R version 3.3.0 (R Core Team, 2016). Data cleaning was initiated by merging the "Full" and "Master" datasets by "Study ID", the variable name for IKNs, using the merge() function (R Core Team, 2016). The merged dataset, further referred to as the "Master-Full" dataset, was then filtered to ensure only observations with FRI diagnoses were included. Using the R function called filter() (Wickham & Francois, 2015), the control group data (used in other studies) was removed, thus only FRI cases were retained. The Master-Full dataset was further filtered to ensure all observations included diagnosis codes for a fall (W00-W19) and an injury (S00-S99 or T00-T14). The variable called "Days from index date to registration date" had to have a value of zero, meaning a patient was registered at the ED on the same day as the index date (i.e. the date when the first health care records for a patient's FRI were recorded), ensuring that treatment was indeed for an FRI. An age group variable called "agegroups" created using the setDT() function (Dowle, et al., 2015), which grouped observations into five-year age groups ranging from 65-69 years to 90+ years. The 90+ years group was based on the IC/ES requirement to cap the upper age maximum in this dataset to age 91 due to privacy policy.

Next, NACRS and DAD were then merged separately with the Maser-Full dataset to extract only FRI cases from ED and hospital. The final step was to remove multiple observations for the same "Study\_ID" to ensure there was only one observation per person or IKN. Using the distinct() function, only the first observation per "Study\_ID" was saved into a data frame for each dataset (Wickham & Francois, 2015), thus eliminating any duplicate observations.

#### 2.5 Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics, measures of central tendency, and frequency of categorical variables were calculated. Prevalence rates were calculated for the total population and were further stratified by age groups and sex. Rates were reported for injury types and fall types based on ICD-10-CA codes. These codes can be found in Appendix C. Since this dataset included observations from a five-year period, rates were calculated for this entire period (2010-2014, inclusive) unless otherwise specified. Crude rates were calculated using the total number of observations of a specific event (e.g. all FRIs, only fractures) over the five years as the numerator, and the sum of the annual Ontario population estimates as the denominator, then multiplied by 100,000. These population rates were derived from intercensal Ontario population estimates from Canadian census data (Statistics Canada, n.d.) and were used to report rates for the entire older adults population, including all age groups and sexes. Rates that were calculated for a single year used the population estimate for said year as the denominator. An example calculation of the crude rate of all FRIs between 2010 and 2014 is provided:

Crude Rate = 
$$\left(\frac{\text{Sum of all FRI observations}}{\text{Sum of older adult population, 2010-2014}}\right) \times 100,000$$
  
=  $\left(\frac{304,610}{9,860,384}\right) \times 100,000$   
= 3,089 per 100,000

Sex-specific rates were calculated using the number of observations per sex as the numerator and population estimates per sex as the denominator while age-specific rates were calculated using the number of observations per age group (numerator) and the population estimates for the same age group (denominator). An example calculation of an age- and sex-specific rate is provided:

Age- and Sex- Specific Rate = 
$$\left(\frac{\text{Sum of all fractures among females aged 65 to 69}}{\text{Sum of female population 65 to 69 years, 2010-2014}}\right) \times 100,000$$
  
=  $\left(\frac{18,473}{1,597,315}\right) \times 100,000$   
= 1,157 per 100,000

Population estimates were derived from Ontario intercensal annual population estimates from Statistics Canada, based on the 2006 and 2011 Canada-wide censuses (Statistics Canada, n.d.). These population estimates were stratified by sex, five-year age group, and for each year between 2010 and 2014 (Appendix D). Additionally, agestandardized rates were calculated using direct standardization. Both rates were calculated so findings from this study could be compared to those from FRI literature which used either age-specific or age-standardized rates. Direct standardization means that age-specific rates were calculated as described above for each of the five-year age groups. The age-specific rates were then multiplied by the proportion, or weight, of each age group from a separate population, such as a census, called the standard population. The 2011 Canadian Census of the older adults in Ontario (Appendix E, Table E1; Statistics Canada, 2019) was the standard population for this study as 2011 was the only census year during the study period. The sum of these calculations is the age-standardized rate. An example calculation for age-standardized rate of all FRIs at the ED is calculated below, using the weights from the standard population displayed in Appendix E.

Age-Standardized Rate = (Age-specific rate for 65 to 69 group  $\times$  Weight)

+ (Age-specific rate for 70 to 74 group  $\times$  Weight)

- + (Age-specific rate for 75 to 79 group × Weight)
- + (Age-specific rate for 80 to 84 group × Weight)
- + (Age-specific rate for 85 to 89 group × Weight)
- + (Age-specific rate for 90+ group × Weight)
- = 3,097 per 100,000

Age-standardized rates minimize the affects of age structure in this population, thus allowing for comparison between different geographical regions or between different time periods (Statistics Canada, 2017b). For this study, it was not possible to calculate age-standardized rates for all results as there were some injury or fall types that had five or fewer observations in at least one age group or sex. Results that had five or fewer observations could not be reported to maintain patient anonymity. All rates in this study were expressed per 100,000 population.

LHINs were examined in this study to identify if rates of FRIs varied by geographic region. The crude rate of FRIs per LHIN was calculated for 2013 only because the population of older adults per LHIN, used as denominator (Appendix F, Table F1) was only available from Ontario health regions for December 2013 (Statistics Canada, 2017a).

Rates of patients who died within a year of FRI event were calculated using a variable ('Days\_to\_dthdate') which identified the number of days from the index date to the date of death. The dataset did not include information on official cause of death; therefore, it was not possible to ascertain if FRI was a contributing cause of death. This section describes how long after experiencing an FRI the patient died, not how or why. Patients that died any time during the observation period to the date of dataset creation (September 2019) were given a value of zero (meaning they died on same day as index date) or greater. For this study, only deaths within one year of the ED admission were examined. Pearson's Chi-squared tests with Yates' continuity correction were calculated on counts of binary variables, with a significance level of p < 0.05. Specifically, differences in sexes for various injury types were calculated using this method to identify if the number of females and males who had specific injury types were significantly different.

Injury types were categorized by the author into fractures, superficial injuries, open wounds, 'sprains, strains, or tears of cartilage, joint capsule, or ligaments', dislocations, muscle and tendon injuries (including avulsion, cut, laceration, and traumatic rupture of muscle, fascia, and tendon), internal organ injuries, injuries of the eye and orbit that could not be categorized into the above injury categories, and other or unspecified injuries based on ICD-10-CA codes for injuries (S00-S99 and T00-T14). These categories were created as there are too many ICD-10-CA codes to analyze them all individually. These categories also allowed for meaningful analysis and comparison between observations with different demographic characteristics (e.g. age group, sex, LHIN) in this study as well as comparison to other similar studies. The ICD-10-CA codes used to define injury types are described in Appendix C.

#### 3. Results

The results chapter consists of three sections. The first focuses on patients with FRIs who entered the health care system at the ED. The following section describes the FRIs among patients who were subsequently hospitalized after the ED. The final section focuses on the types and locations of falls that caused injuries requiring both ED admission and hospitalization.

#### 3.1 Emergency Department Level of Care

#### 3.1.1 Demographics

There was a total of 304,610 observations of FRIs among older adults in Ontario in the five-year period between January 1st, 2010 and December 31st, 2014, and 63.0% were females. The overall mean age of patients was 77.6 (8.2) years, and was slightly higher in females, 78.0 (8.3) years, than males, 77.0 (7.9) years. Table 3-1 includes the count, percent, and rates of all ED admissions by demographic characteristics. The greatest number of ED admissions for FRIs occurred in the youngest group (65 to 69 years) and the fewest number of observations were in the oldest group (90+ years). Age-specific rates increased with advancing age in both sexes and were higher in females for all age groups except the 90+ year group. Rates for females increased from 2,572 (65-69 years) to 6,508 per 100,000 (90+ years), while rates for males more than tripled from 1,813 to 6,665 per 100,000 in the same age groups (Figure 3-1). Sex-specific rates of FRIs among patients with all five chronic conditions were higher in females than males (Appendix G, Figure G1). Greater detail on FRIs among patients with chronic conditions can be found in Appendix H. Crude rates for all 14 LHINs in 2013 are displayed in Table 3-2. The Central West LHIN had the lowest rate of FRIs at the ED, while the rate in the North West LHIN was 30% higher. Rates were also high among the South East and North East LHINs.

Demographic Characteristic	Injuries N (% <sup>a</sup> )	Rate (per 100,000)
Total <sup>b</sup>	304.610 (100.0)	3.089
Sex <sup>c</sup>		2,307
Female	192.044 (63.0)	3.503
Male	112.566 (37.0)	2.572
Age group (years) <sup>d</sup>	, (-/.0)	2,012
65-69	67.837 (22.3)	2.208
70-74	51.958 (17.1)	2.264
75-79	53.384 (17.5)	2.947
80-84	56.008 (18.4)	4.059
85-89	46.185 (15.2)	5,399
90+	29,238 (9.6)	6,552
Chronic conditions <sup>b</sup>		
Asthma	45.818 (15.0)	465
COPD	81,022 (26.6)	822
Dementia	45,994 (15,1)	466
Diabetes	92,490 (30.4)	938
Hypertension	230.958 (75.8)	2,342
LHIN <sup>b</sup>	(	7-
1. Erie St. Clair	16,365 (5.4)	-
2. South West	26,734 (8.8)	-
3. Waterloo Wellington	14,938 (4.9)	-
4. Hamilton Niagara Haldimond Brant	38.675 (12.7)	-
5. Central West	12,210 (4.0)	-
6. Mississauga Halton	19,790 (6.5)	-
7. Toronto Central	24,294 (8.0)	-
8. Central	33,962 (11.1)	-
9. Central East	35.953 (11.8)	-
10. South East	16.171 (5.3)	-
11. Champlain	29,450 (9.7)	-
12. North Simcoe Muskoka	12.258 (4.0)	-
13. North East	17.079 (5.6)	-
14. North West	6.731 (2.2)	-
Nearest neighbourhood income quintile <sup>b</sup>	-,,	
1	62,980 (20,7)	-
2	63.268 (20.8)	-
3	59.370 (19.5)	-
4	58,998 (19,4)	-
5	58.926 (19.3)	-
NA	1.068(0.4)	-
Deaths within days following ED admission <sup>b</sup>	-,	
Same day	254 (0.1)	3
One day	715 (0.2)	7
Three days	1.647 (0.5)	17
One week	3,235 (1.1)	33
One month <sup>e</sup>	8.264 (2.7)	84
Six months <sup>f</sup>	22,427 (7.4)	227
One year	33,054 (10.9)	335

Demographic Characteristics of Population of Older Adults with Fall-Related Injuries Seen in the Emergency Department (2010-2014)

Table 3-1

*Note.* COPD = Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. LHIN = Local Health Integration Network. ED = Emergency Department. <sup>a</sup> Denominator to calculate percentages = 304,610. <sup>b</sup> Crude rates were calculated with total number of observations as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>c</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. <sup>d</sup> Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the denominator. <sup>e</sup> One month = 30 days. <sup>f</sup> Six months = 183 days. Percentages of chronic conditions do not add to 100 as it was possible for patients to be diagnosed with more than one condition.

Figure 3-1

Patients with Fall-Related Injuries Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)



*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator.

#### Table 3-2

Crude Rates of Fall-Related Injuries per Local Health Integration Network seen in Emergency Departments for 2013 Only

LHIN	Ν	Rate
1. Erie St. Clair	16,365	3,269
2. South West	26,734	3,488
3. Waterloo Wellington	14,938	3,256
4. Hamilton Niagara Haldimond Brant	38,675	3,385
5. Central West	12,210	2,889
6. Mississauga Halton	19,790	3,179
7. Toronto Central	24,294	3,320
8. Central	33,962	3,153
9. Central East	35,953	3,330
10. South East	16,171	3,585
11. Champlain	29,450	3,449
12. North Simcoe Muskoka	12,258	3,302
13. North East	17,079	3,503
14. North West	6,731	3,749

*Note*. LHIN = Local Health Integration Network. Crude rates were calculated using the total number ED FRI observations per LHIN in the year 2013 as the numerator and the population of older adults per LHIN in 2013 as a denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000.

#### 3.1.2 Injury Types

The most common injury types were fractures, superficial injuries, and other or unspecified injuries, which was consistent for females and males (Table 3-3). Overall, lower limb, upper limb, and head injuries were seen in the greatest proportion of patients, although these proportions fluctuated with age group (Appendix I, Table I2). Table 3-3 shows the counts, rates, and percentages of patients with different injury types by sex.

Patients Who were Admitted to the Emergency Department for Various Fall-Related Injury Types by Sex (2010-2014)									
Inium Tuno	Total		Female		Male	n voluo			
injury rype	Ν	Rate <sup>a</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>b</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>b</sup>	p value		
Fracture	121,687	1,234	85,851 (70.6)	1,566	35,839 (29.4)	819	< 0.0001		
Superficial	70,887	719	43,093 (60.8)	786	27,794 (39.2)	635	< 0.0001		
With other injury	10,311	105	6,458 (62.6)	118	3,853 (37.4)	88	NS		
Superficial only	60,576	614	36,635 (60.5)	668	23,941 (39.5)	547	< 0.0001		
Other, unspecified	56,449	572	34,508 (61.1)	629	21,941 (38.9)	501	< 0.0001		
Open wound	49,148	498	26,068 (53.0)	475	23,080 (47.0)	527	< 0.0001		
Sprain, strain, tear	15,929	162	10,158 (63.8)	185	5,771 (36.2)	132	NS		
TBI	8,595	87	4,232 (49.2)	77	4,363 (50.8)	100	< 0.0001		
Dislocation	6,578	67	3,780 (57.5)	69	2,798 (42.5)	64	< 0.0001		
Muscle, tendon	4,298	44	1,929 (44.9)	35	2,369 (55.1)	54	< 0.0001		
Internal organ	1,129	11	377 (33.4)	7	752 (66.6)	17	< 0.0001		
Eye, orbit	732	7	449 (61.3)	8	283 (38.7)	6	NS		

Note. Percentages were calculated by dividing count of each sex by total count of observations per injury type per sex. <sup>a</sup> Crude rate was calculated with total number of observations as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population. NS = Not Significant. TBI = Traumatic Brain Injury. A p value less than 0.05 was used as the level of Statistical Significance.

#### 3.1.2.1 Fractures

Table 3-3

There were 121,687 observations with at least one fracture diagnosis, for a total of 131,035 fracture codes in patients at the ED, meaning there were observations with more than one fracture code. The mean age of patients with fractures was 77.6 (8.2) years; 78.0 (8.3) years in females and 77.0 (8.0) years in males. These mean ages were nearly identical to those among all FRI patients for both sexes at the ED. Chi-square tests revealed statistically significant sex differences in the number of patients with fracture diagnoses, with females experiencing more fractures than males,  $X^2(1, N = 121,687) =$ 4898.2, p < 0.001 (Table 3-3). Age-standardized rates (1,237 per 100,000) were like the crude rate (Table 3-3). The most common chronic condition in patients with fractures was hypertension for both sexes (Appendix G, Tables G1-G3). The oldest age group (90+ years) experienced fractures 3.1 times more frequently than patients in the youngest group (65-69 years) and females experienced fractures at rates nearly double those of males. An age-related increase was seen in both sexes (Figure 3-2) and was greater in males. In the youngest group, the age-specific rate in females was double that of males, while in the oldest group, female rates were 31.2% higher than males. Tables I3 and I4 (Appendix I) include the counts and age-specific rates of males and females for all fractures.

1	2
4	·. )

Patients with Fall-Related Fractures by Body Location Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex (2010-2014)									
Emoture Location	Total		Female		Male	Male			
	Ν	Rate <sup>a</sup>	N (% <sup>b</sup> )	Rate <sup>c</sup>	N (% <sup>b</sup> )	Rate <sup>c</sup>	p value		
Hip	26,369	267	18,453 (70.0)	337	7,916 (30.0)	181	< 0.0001		
Forearm	24,180	245	19,732 (81.6)	360	4,448 (18.4)	102	< 0.0001		
Humerus	13,236	134	10,301 (77.8)	188	2,935 (22.2)	67	< 0.0001		
Rib	10,668	108	4,547 (42.6)	83	6,121 (57.4)	140	< 0.0001		
Wrist, hand	9,420	96	6,418 (68.1)	117	3,002 (31.9)	69	< 0.0001		
Knee, lower leg	7,822	79	5,547 (70.9)	101	2,275 (29.1)	52	< 0.0001		
Ankle	6,507	66	4,740 (72.8)	86	1,767 (27.2)	40	< 0.0001		
Foot	5,880	60	4,509 (76.7)	84	1,371 (23.3)	31	< 0.0001		
Vertebral	5,590	57	3,418 (61.1)	62	2,172 (38.9)	50	0.003		
Skull, facial	5,003	51	3,002 (60.0)	55	2,001 (40.0)	46	< 0.0001		
Pelvis	4,806	49	3,715 (77.3)	68	1,091 (22.7)	25	< 0.0001		
Femur	2,684	27	2,071 (77.2)	38	613 (22.8)	14	< 0.0001		
Clavicle	2,223	23	1,331 (59.9)	24	892 (40.1)	20	0.002		
Scapula	702	7	373 (53.1)	7	329 (46.9)	8	< 0.0001		

Table 3-4

*Note.* <sup>a</sup> Crude rate was calculated with the total number observations as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Percent calculated using the total number of observations with fractures as the denominator. <sup>c</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population. A p value of 0.05 or less is considered statistically significant.



**Figure 3-2** *Patients with Fall-Related Fracture Diagnoses Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)* 

*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator.

What parts of the body were most frequently fractured? Overall, limbs were more frequently fractured (978 per 100,000) than the trunk, neck, or head, with females experiencing 74.0% of all limb fractures. All fracture locations were more common in females than males except for rib and scapula fractures (Table 3-4).

Hip fractures were the most common fracture type and they accounted for 8.7% of all ED admissions and 21.8% of all fracture observations. The sex-specific rates were higher in females than males and females were slightly older ( $82.6\pm7.3$  years) than males ( $81.1\pm7.5$  years). The age-specific rate of hip fractures (Figure 3-4) increased with age and was 16.7 times higher in the oldest group (1,184 per 100,000) than the youngest (71 per 100,000). More detail on demographic characteristics of patients with hip fractures is provided in Tables I3-I5 (Appendix I). Details on comorbidities in patients with hip fractures can be found in Tables G1, G2, and G4 (Appendix G).



**Figure 3-3** Patients with Fall-Related Hip Fractures Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)

*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex and age group as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator.

The most common fracture types varied by age group and sex. Figure 3-4 shows the age-specific rates for common fracture locations in females. Overall, the most common fracture locations among females were the (1) forearm, (2) hip, (3) humerus, (4) wrist and hand, and (5) knee and lower leg (Table 3-4, Figure 3-4). Rates of hip fractures in females rose tremendously after age 80, surpassing rates of forearm, humerus, lower leg, and wrist and hand fractures. Fractures of the forearm, humerus, lower leg and knee, and wrist and hand did not change greatly across the age groups. In males, the sexspecific rates were highest in fractures of the (1) hip, (2) rib, (3) forearm, (4) wrist and

hand, and (5) humerus (Table 3-4; Figure 3-5). All fracture locations were examined by age group and sex and reported in Tables I3-I5 (Appendix I).





*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with the total number of observations per age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the denominator.





*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the denominator.

Forearm fractures, humerus fractures, and fractures of the wrist and hand occurred more frequently in females than males (Table 3-4) and increased with advancing age in both sexes; however, there were differences in how these increases presented. There was no clear change in the rate of forearm fractures with advancing age groups in either sex (Figure 3-6); however, the rate was 3.5 times higher in females than males overall (Table 3-4). Humerus fracture rate increased 2.5 times from the youngest to oldest groups overall (Appendix I, Tables I3-I5). In females, the rate of humerus fractures only decreased from the age 85-89 to the age group 90+ years (Figure 3-7). Wrist and hand fractures did not show a steady age-related change in either sex, although Figure 3-8 shows that the age-specific rate increased more rapidly with age in males than females. Another important finding was that unlike the other fracture types, rib fractures were more common among males than females (Table 3-4) for all age groups, though rates increased with age in both sexes (Figure 3-9).



**Figure 3-6** Patients with Fall-Related Forearm Fractures Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)

*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator.

**Figure 3-7** Patients with Fall-Related Humerus Fractures Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)



*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator.



**Figure 3-8** Patients with Fall-Related Wrist and Hand Fractures Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)

*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex and age group as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator.

Figure 3-9





*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex and age group as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator.

Fractures of the lower limb were seen in more female patients than male (Table 3-4). Knee and lower leg fractures did not fluctuate greatly with age group in either sex (Figure 3-10), while rates of ankle fractures and foot fractures decreased with advancing age. These decreases were more prominent among females than males (Figures 3-11 and 3-12).



*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex and age group as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator.

**Figure 3-11** Patients with Fall-Related Ankle Fractures Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)



*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator.





*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator.

#### 3.1.2.2 Superficial Injuries

Superficial injuries were the second most common injury type seen at the ED in both sexes (Table 3-3). Overall, rates increased with advancing age for both sexes and were higher in females for all age groups except the oldest (Figure 3-13). Most patients with superficial injuries (85.5%) did not have any other injury diagnosis code (N = 60,576; 614 per 100,000).

### Figure 3-13



Patients with Fall-Related Superficial Injuries Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)

*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator.

#### 3.1.2.3 Open Wounds

Open wounds were another male-driven injury type. Age-specific rates were higher in males than in females (Table 3-3) for all age groups and increased with advancing age (Figure 3-14) with a more prominent increase among males. Open wounds most often occurred to the head (371 per 100,000), upper limbs (hand, arm, and shoulder; 97 per 100,000, combined), and lower limbs (foot, leg, and hip; 42 per 100,000). Open wounds of the head and upper limbs were higher in males for all age groups while the lower limb was more common in females of all ages (Table 3-5).

#### Figure 3-14





*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator.

#### Table 3-5

Rates of Patients with Fall-Related Open Wounds by Body Locations Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)

Age group	Head	1	Upper limb an	d shoulder	Lower limb and hip		
(years)	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	
65-69	190	230	32	54	27	25	
70-74	230	259	42	66	30	23	
75-79	335	385	68	109	45	32	
80-84	499	610	108	205	70	42	
85-89	689	860	171	340	95	58	
90+	849	1,195	233	523	125	76	

*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator.

### 3.1.2.4 Sprains, Strains, Tears

The injury type category hereon referred to as 'sprains' included avulsions, cuts, lacerations, and traumatic ruptures of muscles, fascia, and tendons. Unlike other injury types, sprains became slightly less common with advancing age. Rates of sprains follow a unique pattern; in females the rate sharply decreased between 65-69 and 70-74 year age groups, but slowly declined thereafter while males had slight fluctuations throughout all age groups (Figure 3-15). The overall age-related decrease in rate appeared to be female-driven. Sprains are further described by body location. Sprains of the ankle and foot were most common (Table 3-6). Among females, rates of these injuries declined by half from

the youngest to oldest group while males decreased less dramatically (Figure 3-16). Counts and age-specific rates of all sprain locations are included in Table I6, by sex and age group (Appendix I).

Patients with Fall-Related Sprains, Strains, and Tears Seen in the Emergency

Figure 3-15



*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator.

#### Table 3-6

Patients with Fall-Related Sprains, Strains, and Tears by Body Location Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex (2010-2014)

Dede Leeder	Total		Female		Male	
Body Location	N (%)	Rate <sup>a</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>b</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>b</sup>
Ankle, foot	5,335 (33.5)	54	3,877 (38.2)	71	1,458 (25.3)	33
Knee, lower leg	2,850 (17.9)	29	1,730 (17.0)	32	1,120 (19.4)	26
Wrist, hand	2,797 (17.6)	28	1,817 (17.9)	33	980 (17.0)	22
Shoulder and upper arm	1,885 (11.8)	19	972 (9.6)	18	913 (15.8)	21
Trunk	1,567 (9.8)	13	907 (8.9)	14	660 (11.4)	12
Neck	945 (5.9)	10	527 (5.2)	10	418 (7.2)	10

*Note.* Sprains, strains, or tears of the neck include whiplash. <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with total number of sprain, strain, or tear observations per body location as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of sprain, strain, or tear observations per body location and sex as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population. Denominator for percentage is the total of individuals diagnosed with a sprain, strain, or tear per sex.

#### Figure 3-16

Patients with Fall-Related Sprains, Strains, and Tears of the Ankle and Foot Seen in the Emergency Department by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)



Note. Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator.

#### 3.1.2.5 Traumatic Brain Injury

Figure 3-17

TBI diagnoses were more common in males than females (Table 3-3). Age-standardized rate (88 per 100,000) and crude rate (87 per 100,000) of TBI were nearly identical. Figure 3-18 shows that age-specific rates of patients with TBI increased with advancing age in both sexes and were consistently higher for males. Intracranial haemorrhages were the most common type of TBI (Table 3-7).



by Age Group and Sex (2010-2014)

Note. Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator.

	Total		Female		Male	
Type of TBI	N (% <sup>a</sup> )	Rate <sup>b</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>c</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>c</sup>
Hemorrhage	5,177 (60.2)	31	2,339 (55.3)	24	2,838 (65.0)	41
Concussion	2,700 (31.4)	27	1,565 (37.0)	29	1,135 (26.0)	26
Diffuse brain injury	365 (4.2)	4	174 (4.1)	3	191 (4.4)	4
Focal brain injury	270 (3.1)	3	121 (2.9)	2	149 (3.4)	3

Table 3-7Patients with Four Types of Fall-Related Traumatic Brain Injuries Seen in the Emergency Department (2010-2014)

*Note.* TBI = Traumatic Brain Injury. <sup>a</sup> Percent calculated with total number of patients with a specific TBI per sex as the denominator and N per fall type per sex as the numerator. <sup>b</sup> Crude rates were calculated with total number of observations in older adults as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>c</sup> Crude rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex in older adults as the numerator, and the sum of observations per sex in older adults as the numerator, and the sum of observations per sex in older adults as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. All rates were reported per 100,000 population.

#### 3.1.3 Mortality

Table 3-8

The mean age of patients who died within one year of an FRI event was  $82.9\pm7.4$  years;  $83.8\pm7.2$  in females and  $81.9\pm7.4$  years in males. Additionally, the rate of patients with FRIs who died within one year of ED visit was higher in males than females at all time intervals (Table 3-8). The rate of mortality within one year of FRI event increased with advancing age, nearly doubling with each five-year group (Figure 3-18). To gain further understanding of mortality after FRI events, mortality was examined separately in patients with all FRIs, fractures, hip fractures, open wounds, and TBI. For overall fractures (Table 3-9) and hip fractures (Table 3-10), rates of mortality within one year of FRI were higher in females than males, while rates were higher for males with open wounds (Table 3-11) and TBI (Table 3-12).

Rates of Functions who Died lifer Emergency Department Visit for hit Fun Retated Infances by bex (2010 2017)							
Time from ED admission to — death	Total	Total		Female		Male	
	N (% <sup>a</sup> )	Rate	N (% <sup>b</sup> )	Rate	N (% <sup>b</sup> )	Rate	p value
Same day	254 (0.1)	3	118 (0.1)	2	136 (0.1)	3	< 0.0001
One day	715 (0.2)	7	340 (0.2)	6	375 (0.3)	9	< 0.0001
One week	3,235 (1.1)	33	1,683 (0.9)	31	1,552 (1.4)	35	< 0.0001
One month	8,264 (2.7)	84	4,271 (2.2)	78	3,993 (3.5)	91	< 0.0001
Six months	22,427 (7.4)	227	11,895 (6.2)	217	10,532 (9.4)	241	< 0.0001
One year	33,054 (10.9)	335	17,752 (9.2)	324	15,302 (13.6)	350	< 0.0001

Rates of Patients Who Died After Emergency Department Visit for All Fall-Related Injuries by Sex (2010-2014)

*Note.* Percent is calculated with the total number of ED admissions per sex as the denominator. <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with total number of observations in older adults as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex in older adults as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population. One month = 30 days. Six months = 183 days. One year = 365 days.
Rates of Patients who Died within One Year of Admission to Emergency Department for Any Fall-Related Injury by Sex (2010-2014)



*Note.* Crude rates were calculated with the Ontario population of older adults per age group as the denominator.

#### Table 3-9

Rates of Patients Who Died After Emergency Department Visit for All Fall-Related Fractures by Sex (2010-2014)

Time from ED	Total		Female	Female		
	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate
Same day	72 (0.1)	1	33 (0.0)	1	39 (0.1)	1
One day	243 (0.2)	2	124 (0.1)	2	119 (0.3)	3
One week	1,712 (1.4)	17	978 (1.1)	18	734 (2.0)	17
One month	4,261 (3.5)	43	2,433 (2.8)	44	1,828 (5.1)	42
Six months	10,119 (8.3)	103	6,045 (7.0)	110	4,074 (11.4)	93
One year	14,016 (11.5)	142	8,511 (9.9)	155	5,505 (15.4)	126

*Note.* Percent is calculated with the total number of patients with fractures at the ED per sex as the denominator. <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with total number of observations in older adults as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex in older adults as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population. ED = Emergency Department. One month = 30 days. Six months = 183 days. One year = 365 days.

(2010-2014)						
Time from ED	Total	Total		Female		
	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate
Same day	16 (0.1)	0	10 (0.1)	0	6 (0.1)	0
One day	98 (0.4)	1	61 (0.3)	1	37 (0.5)	1
One week	922 (3.5)	9	563 (3.1)	10	359 (4.5)	8
One month	2,315 (8.8)	23	1,337 (7.2)	24	978 (12.4)	22
Six months	3,854 (14.6)	51	2,984 (16.2)	54	2,014 (25.4)	46
One year	4,998 (24.3)	65	3,867 (21.0)	71	2,538 (32.1)	58

# Table 3-10 Rates of Patients Who Died After Emergency Department Visit for Fall-Related Hip Fractures by Sex (2010-2014)

*Note.* Percent is calculated with the total number of patients with hip fractures at the ED per sex as the denominator. <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with total number of observations in older adults as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex in older adults as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population. ED = Emergency Department. One month = 30 days. Six months = 183 days. One year = 365 days.

#### Table 3-11

Rates of Patients Who Died After Emergency Department Visit for Fall-Related Open Wounds by Sex (2010-2014)

Time from ED	Total		Female		Male	
	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate
Same day	40 (0.1)	0	21 (0.1)	0	19 (0.1)	0
One day	98 (0.2)	1	45 (0.2)	1	53 (0.2)	1
One week	371 (0.8)	4	165 (0.6)	3	206 (0.9)	5
One month	1,082 (2.2)	11	492 (1.9)	9	590 (2.6)	13
Six months	3,793 (7.7)	38	1,698 (6.5)	31	2,095 (9.1)	48
One year	6,013 (12.2)	61	2,712 (10.4)	49	3,301 (14.3)	75

*Note.* Percent is calculated with the total number of patients with open wounds at the ED per sex as the denominator. <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with total number of observations in older adults as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex in older adults as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population. ED = Emergency Department. One month = 30 days. Six months = 183 days. One year = 365 days.

<i>by BCA</i> (2010 2017)						
Time from ED	Total		Female		Male	
	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate
Same day	127 (1.5)	1	53 (1.3)	1	74 (1.7)	2
One day	327 (3.8)	3	128 (3.0)	2	199 (4.6)	5
One week	772 (9.0)	8	336 (7.9)	6	436 (10.0)	10
One month	1,245 (14.5)	13	521 (12.3)	10	724 (16.6)	17
Six months	1,714 (19.9)	17	709 (16.8)	13	1,005 (23.0)	23
One year	1,985 (23.1)	20	841 (19.9)	15	1,144 (26.2)	26

 Table 3-12

 Rates of Patients Who Died After Emergency Department Visit for Fall-Related Traumatic Brain Injuries

 by Sex (2010-2014)

*Note.* Percent is calculated with the total number of patients with TBIs at the ED per sex as the denominator. <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with total number of observations in older adults as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex in older adults as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population. ED = Emergency Department. One month = 30 days. Six months = 183 days. One year = 365 days.

## 3.1.4 Change Over Time

The number of ED admissions for an FRI increased by an average of 2.5% annually, with an overall increase of 10.2% and this increase was higher in males than females (Appendix I, Tables I7-I9). Despite the increase in number of FRIs, the annual crude rate declined by 4.8% overall. This decline was clearer in females than males (Figure 3-19). Age-standardized rates were similar to crude rates in all five years. The highest age-standardized rate occurred in 2010 (3,208 per 100,000) and the lowest in 2013 (3,021 per 100,000). Time-related change appeared to fluctuate by age group. Figure 3-20 shows that rates in the oldest age group decreased most notably with time. Annual counts and rates of injury types by sex can be found in Appendix I (Tables I10-I16).

Figure 3-19

Change with Time in Rate of Patients with Fall-Related Injuries at the Emergency Department by Sex and Year



*Note.* Sex-specific rates were calculated with the Ontario population of older adults per sex and year as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population.

Change with Time in Rates of Patients with Fall-Related Injuries at the Emergency Department by Age-Group



*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with the Ontario population of older adults per age group and year as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population.

# 3.2 Hospital Level of Care

## 3.2.1 Demographics

From here on, study findings focus on FRIs that required hospital level of care. Nearly half (47.0%) of people who entered the ED for an FRI were subsequently hospitalized. Hospital admission percentages varied by sex and age group as well as injury and fall types, which are described in this section.

A greater proportion of males were hospitalized from the ED than females, and the proportion more than doubled from the youngest to oldest age groups (Table 3-13). Age-standardized rate of patients who were hospitalized after ED admission (1,452 per 100,000) was similar to crude and sex-specific rates; 1,459 per 100,000 (1,606 in females and 1,274 in males). The mean age of patients hospitalized for FRIs was 79.7 (8.0) years. The mean age was 80.3 (8.0) years in females and 78.8 (7.9) in males. Overall, the rate of hospitalizations increased 6.3 times from the youngest to oldest age groups (Table 3-13). This age-related increase was seen in both sexes and rates among females exceeded those of males for all age groups except 90+ years (Figure 3-21). Rates of hospitalizations varied by LHIN; Table 3-14 shows these rates for 2013. The South West LHIN had the lowest proportion of hospitalizations, while the North West LHIN had the highest (Table 3-13). Like ED admissions, rates of hospitalizations increased with higher income quintiles (Table 3-13). Information on chronic conditions for patients with various injury types admitted to the hospital for an FRI can be found in Appendix G, Table G5.

Table 3-13

Demographic Characteristics of Population of Older Adults with Fall-related Injuries Admitted to the Hospital b	y
Count, Percent, and Rate (2010-2014)	

Characteristic	N(0/a)	Pate (per 100.000)	Percent hospitalized b
Total <sup>c</sup>	1/(70)	1 452 c	
l'otal	143,210 (100)	1,432	47.0
Female	97 (12 (61 2))	1 500 d	15 6
remaie Mala	67,015 (01.2) 55,507 (29.2)	1,596 - 1,270 d	45.0
Male	55,597 (38.3)	1,270 ª	49.4
Age group (years)	01 404 (15 0)	60.0	
65-69	21,434 (15.0)	698	31.6
70-74	19,672 (13.7)	857	37.9
75-79	24,388 (17.0)	1,346	45.7
80-84	30,179 (21.1)	2,187	53.4
85-89	28,062 (19.6)	3,281	60.8
90+	19,475 (13.6)	4,364	66.6
Chronic conditions <sup>c, f</sup>			
Asthma	23,176 (16.2)	235	50.6
COPD	46,338 (32.4)	470	57.2
Dementia	29,303 (20.5)	297	63.7
Diabetes	48,449 (33.8)	491	52.4
Hypertension	116,475 (81.3)	1,181	50.5
LHIN °	, , , ,		
1. Erie St. Clair	8,205 (5.7)	-	50.1
2. South West	12,809 (8.9)	-	47.9
3. Waterloo Wellington	7.093 (5.0)	-	47.5
4. Hamilton Niagara Haldimand Brant	19,102 (8.9)	-	49.4
5. Central West	5.664 (4.0)	-	46.4
6 Mississauga Halton	9 223 (6 4)	_	46.6
7 Toronto Central	11,282,(7,9)	_	46.4
8 Central	14,939(10.4)	_	44.0
9. Central Fast	14,001(11.2)		44.0
10 South East	7.016(4.9)	-	44.5
11. Champlein	12724(0.6)	-	45.4
12. North Simooo Muskoka	5748(4.0)	-	40.0
12. North East	3,740(4.0)	-	40.9
13. Norui East	0,0/1(0.2)	-	52.4
14. North west	3,530 (2.5)	-	52.4
Nearest neighbournood income quintile	21.551 (22.0)	220	50.1
1	31,551 (22.0)	320	50.1
2	29,868 (20.9)	303	47.2
3	27,825 (19.4)	282	46.9
4	27,030 (18.9)	274	45.8
5	26,366 (18.4)	267	44.7
NA	570 (0.4)	-	53.4
Deaths within days following hospitalization <sup>c</sup>			
Same day	147 (0.1)	1	57.9
One day	557 (0.4)	6	77.9
Three days	1,419 (1.0)	14	86.2
One week	2,880 (2.0)	29	89.0
One month <sup>g</sup>	7,460 (5.2)	76	90.3
Six months h	20,133 (14.1)	204	89.8
One year	29,536 (20.6)	300	89.4

*Note.* COPD = Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. <sup>a</sup> Denominator to calculate percentages = 143,210. <sup>b</sup> Denominator for percent hospitalized is the number of each characteristic hospitalized (Table 3-1). <sup>c</sup> Crude rates were calculated with total number of observations at the hospital as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>d</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. <sup>e</sup> Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex of comorbidities do not add to 100 as it is possible for patients to be diagnosed with more than one condition. <sup>g</sup> One month = 30 days. <sup>h</sup> Six months = 183 days.

Figure 3-21

Patients Admitted to the Hospital for all Fall-Related Injury Types by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)



*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator.

Rales of Hospitalizations for Fail-Related injuries by Local Health Integration Network for 2015						
LHIN	Ν	Rate (per 100,000)				
1. Erie St. Clair	1,660	1,637				
2. South West	2,555	1,666				
3. Waterloo Wellington	1,416	1,504				
4. Hamilton Niagara Haldimond Brant	3,797	1,651				
5. Central West	1,185	1,320				
6. Mississauga Halton	1,891	1,423				
7. Toronto Central	2,308	1,526				
8. Central	3,043	1,347				
9. Central East	3,321	1,480				
10. South East	1,372	1,515				
11. Champlain	2,785	1,586				
12. North Simcoe Muskoka	1,128	1,521				
13. North East	1,815	1,826				
14. North West	688	1,944				

Table 3-14

Rates of Hospitalizations for Fall-Related Injuries by Local Health Integration Network for 2013

*Note*. LHIN = Local Health Integration Network. Crude rates were calculated using the total number of hospital FRI observations per LHIN in the year 2013 as the numerator and the population of older adults per LHIN in 2013 as a denominator.

# 3.2.2 Injury Types

The most common injury types at the hospital varied slightly from those seen at the ED, with rates of TBI exceeding sprains (Table 3-15). A higher percentage of males were than females for all injury types except dislocations (Table 3-15). Tables J1 and J2 (Appendix J) display the rates and counts of patients with various injury types by sex and age group.

Fattenis with various Fatt-Related injury Types Admitted to the Hospital by Sex (2010-2014)							
In items trues	Total		Female		Male	m voluo	
injury type	N (%)	Rate <sup>a</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>b</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>b</sup>	p value
Fracture	69,387 (57.0)	704	47,789 (55.7)	872	21,598 (60.3)	493	< 0.0001
Superficial	27,848 (39.3)	282	16,026 (37.2)	292	11,822 (42.5)	270	< 0.0001
With other injury	4,236 (41.1)	43	2,481 (38.4)	45	1,755 (45.5)	40	0.0004
Superficial only	23,612 (39.0)	239	13,545 (37.0)	247	10,067 (42.0)	230	< 0.0001
Other, unspecified	24,148 (42.4)	245	13,764 (39.9)	251	10,384 (47.3)	237	< 0.0001
Open wound	20,468 (41.6)	208	10,061 (38.6)	183	10,407 (45.1)	238	< 0.0001
TBI	6,244 (72.6)	63	2,877 (68.0)	52	3,367 (77.2)	77	< 0.0001
Sprain, strain, tear	4,329 (27.2)	44	2,555 (25.2)	47	1,774 (30.7)	41	0.003
Dislocation	2,265 (34.4)	23	1,343 (35.5)	24	922 (33.0)	21	NS
Muscle, tendon	1,432 (33.3)	15	604 (31.3)	11	828 (35.0)	19	< 0.0001
Internal organ	926 (82.0)	9	314 (83.3)	6	612 (81.4)	14	< 0.0001
Eye, orbit	341 (46.6)	3	195 (43.4)	4	146 (51.6)	3	NS

Patients with Various Fall Polated Inium Types Admitted to the Hospital by Ser (2010 2014)

*Note.* Percentages were calculated by dividing count of each sex by total count of observations per injury type per sex. <sup>a</sup> Crude rate was calculated with total number of observations as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population. NS = Not Significant. TBI = Traumatic Brain Injury. A p value less than 0.05 was used as the level of Statistical Significance.

# 3.2.2.1 Fractures

**Table 3-15** 

Fractures were the most common injury type in patients admitted to the hospital. Agestandardized rate (overall, 706 per 100,000; 876 in females and 495 per 100,000 in males) was similar to crude and sex-specific rates of fractures (Table 3-15). Age-specific rate increased with advancing age in both sexes though rates were consistently higher in females than males (Figure 3-22). The percent of patients with fractures hospitalized from ED also increased with age and were higher in males (Figure 3-23). Table 3-16 displays the counts, rates, and percentages of patients with fracture by body location and sex. Findings on patients with five common chronic conditions are presented in Table G6 (Appendix G). Nearly all patients with hip fractures were hospitalized (98.7%). Overall, the age-standardized rate of hip fracture was 265 per 100,000; 334 in females and 179 in males. Compared to other common fracture locations, the age-specific rate of hip fractures increased most sharply with age (Figures 3-24 and 3-25).

Figure 3-22





*Note.* Age-specific rates are calculated with total number of observations per sex and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator.

## Figure 3-23





*Note.* Percent calculated with the total number of hospitalizations with fractures per sex and age group as the denominator and number of hospitalizations per sex and age group as numerator.

Patients with Fall-Related	d Fractures Admitted i	to the Hosp	ital by Sex (2010-20	014)		
De des la antien	Total		Female		Male	
Body location	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate
Нір	26,020 (98.7)	264	18,211 (98.7)	332	7,809 (98.6)	178
Forearm	8,066 (33.4)	82	6,371 (32.3)	116	1,695 (38.1)	39
Humerus	6,735 (50.9)	68	5,052 (49.0)	92	1,683 (57.3)	38
Rib	5,076 (47.6)	51	2,168 (47.7)	40	2,908 (47.5)	66
Knee/lower leg	3,972 (50.8)	40	2,793 (50.4)	51	1,179 (51.8)	27
Pelvis	3,816 (79.4)	39	2,925 (78.7)	53	891 (81.7)	20
Vertebral	3,740 (66.9)	38	2,172 (63.5)	40	1,568 (72.2)	36
Ankle	3,682 (56.6)	37	2,700 (57.0)	49	982 (55.6)	22
Wrist/hand	2,759 (29.3)	28	1,811 (28.2)	33	948 (31.6)	22
Femur	2,575 (95.9)	26	1,993 (96.2)	36	582 (94.9)	13
Skull/facial	2,463 (49.2)	25	1,290 (43.0)	24	1,173 (58.6)	27
Foot	1,604 (27.3)	16	1,190 (26.4)	22	414 (30.2)	9
Clavicle	1,016 (45.7)	10	573 (43.1)	10	443 (49.7)	10
Scapula	333 (47.4)	3	165 (44.2)	3	168 (51.1)	4

Table 3-16

*Note.* Percent calculated with the total number of hospitalizations with each fracture location per sex as the denominator and number of hospitalizations for fracture location per sex as the numerator. <sup>a</sup> Crude rate was calculated with the total number observations as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations for fracture type per sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population.

**Figure 3-24** Female Patients with Five Common Fall-Related Fractures Admitted to the Hospital (2010-2014)



*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the denominator.

**Figure 3-25** Male Patients with Five Common Fall-Related Fractures Admitted to the Hospital (2010-2014)



*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the denominator.

# 3.2.2.2 Non-Fracture Injuries

Figures 3-26 and 3-27 show the age- and sex-specific rates of superficial injuries, other or unspecified injuries, open wounds, TBI, and 'sprains, strains, and tears'. Superficial injuries were the second most prevalent injury after fractures. Most of these patients (84.8%) did not have any other injury diagnosis. Rates of superficial injuries, 'other and unspecified injuries' and open wounds increased with advancing age in both sexes, while the increase in TBI and sprains was more subtle (Figures 3-26 and 3-27). Open wounds of the head were seen in 74.5% (N = 15,239) of all patients with any open wound. Rates of head wounds were higher in males for all ages though the rate increased with advancing age in both sexes (Figure 3-28).

Female Patients with Common Fall-Related Injury Types Admitted to the Hospital by Age Group (2010-2014)



*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of female observations per injury type and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's female population over the five years per age group as the denominator.

**Figure 3-27** Male Patients with Common Fall-Related Injury Types Admitted to the Hospital by Age Group (2010-2014)



*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of male observations per injury type and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's male population over the five years per age group as the denominator.

Figure 3-28





Note. Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per age group and sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group and sex as the denominator.

TBIs were most frequent in older males; age-specific rates increased with advancing age in both sexes, but this increase was sharper in males, with a rate more than double that of females in the 90+ year group (Figure 3-29). The percent of patients with TBI who were subsequently hospitalized after ED admission also increased with advancing age (Figure 3-30). Intracranial haemorrhage was the most common TBI (75.8%, 48 per 100,000), followed by concussion (14.7%, 10 per 100,000).



by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)

Note. Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per age group and sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group and sex as the denominator.

Percentage of Patients with Fall-Related Traumatic Brain Injuries who were Hospitalized after Emergency Department Admission (2010-2014)



*Note.* Percentages were calculated with the number of TBIs at the ED per age group and sex as the denominator.

# 3.2.3 Mortality

In total, one-fifth (20.6%) of patients who were hospitalized for FRIs died within one year of the event date (Table 3-17). A higher rate of males at each time interval than females. Nearly one-fifth (19.9%) of all patients with any fracture died within one year, with a rate of 134 per 100,000. A quarter of patients (24.4%; 64 per 100,000) with hip fractures also died within a year, and this was higher in males (32.3%; 58 per 100,000) than females (21.0%; 70 per 100,000). TBI also appeared to be particularly problematic. A large portion of patients (29.8%) with TBIs died within one year of FRI event (31.8% of males and 27.4% of females).

	•	0	0		-	
Time from FRI event to death	Total		Female		Male	
	N (% <sup>a</sup> )	Rate	N (% <sup>b</sup> )	Rate	N (% <sup>b</sup> )	Rate
Same day	147 (0.1)	1	70 (0.1)	1	77 (0.1)	2
One day	557 (0.4)	6	266 (0.3)	5	291 (0.5)	7
One week	2,880 (2.0)	29	1,497 (1.7)	27	1,383 (2.5)	32
One month	7,460 (5.2)	76	3,820 (4.4)	70	3,640 (6.5)	83
Six months	20,133 (14.1)	204	10,564 (12.1)	193	9,569 (17.2)	219
One year	29,536 (20.6)	300	15,687 (17.9)	286	13,849 (24.9)	316

Table 3-17Rates of Patients Who Died After Hospitalization for All Fall-Related Injuries by Sex (2010-2014)

*Note.* Percent is calculated with the total number of hospitalizations per sex as the denominator. <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with total number of observations in older adults as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex in older adults as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population. One month = 30 days. Six months = 183 days. One year = 365 days.

# 3.2.4 Change Over Time

Overall, the sex-specific rate decreased over the five-year period in females but remained stable in males (Figure 3-31). Tables J3, J4, and J5 (Appendix J) include the counts and rates of FRIs at the hospital per sex, age group, and year. The annual rate of FRIs at the hospital decreased in all age groups with time except for the youngest group (65-69 years) which increased. This pattern was observed in both sexes.

#### Figure 3-31





*Note.* Sex-specific rates were calculated with the Ontario population of older adults per sex and year as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population.

## 3.3 Types and Locations of Falls

In this section, the attention shifts from injuries to causes of the injuries – the falls. As before, results are presented first for ED, followed by hospitalizations. Different types of falls are reported overall and for major injury types (e.g. fracture, TBI, open wounds). The section concludes with a summary of findings.

## 3.3.1 Falls - Emergency Department Level of Care

The types of falls that caused various injury types seen at the ED are described in this section. Counts and rates for fall types by age group and sex at the ED level can be found in Tables H1 and H2 (Appendix H). Figure 3-32 shows the percent of patients with codes for various fall types. The most common fall type was 'fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01) with a rate of 1,031 per 100,000. The sex-specific rate was higher in females than males for all age groups except the oldest group (Figure 3-33).





*Note.* Denominator = 304,610. Slip, Trip = 'Fall on same level form slipping, tripping, and stumbling'. Other Same Level = 'Other fall on same level'. Stairs = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps'. Ice = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow'. Bed = 'Fall involving bed'. Ladder = 'Fall on and from ladder'. Chair = 'Fall involving chair'. Another Level = 'Other fall from one level to another'. Walker = 'Fall involving adult walker'. Wheelchair = 'Fall involving wheelchair'.

Patients with Codes for 'Fall on Same Level from Slipping, Tripping, and Stumbling' (W01) Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)



*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per age group and sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group and sex as the denominator.

The remaining fall types were also examined by age group and sex. The rate of patients with codes for 'unspecified fall' (W19) and 'other fall on same level' (W18) increased with advancing age and was overall higher in females than males (Figures 3-34 and 3-35). However, the rate of patients with a 'fall on and from stairs and steps' code followed a different pattern. In both sexes, the age-specific rate increased with age until the 85-89 group and decreased thereafter (Appendix H, Tables H1 and H2). This decrease was more prominent in females (Figure 3-36). "Diminishing rates among females drove led to an overall age-related decrease in the rate of 'fall on the same level involving ice and snow' (Figure 3-37).

So far, all fall types have been female-dominated; however, four fall types were predominantly seen in males. Codes for 'falls on and from ladder' were identified in 4.6% of all males (118 per 100,000) and only 0.7% of females (24 per 100,000) admitted to the ED. Less common fall types were more common in males than females; 'fall involving skates, skis, sport boards and in-line skates' (W02), 'fall from, out of or through building or structure' (W13), and 'fall from tree' (W14; Table 3-18). The types of falls that caused various injury types seen at the ED are described in this section. Counts and rates for fall types by age group and sex at the ED level can be found in Tables H1 and H2 (Appendix H). Figure 3-32 shows the percent of patients with codes

for various fall types. The most common fall type was 'fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01) with a rate of 1,031 per 100,000. The sex-specific rate was higher in females than males for all age groups except the oldest group (Figure 3-33).

Tanenis win Coues for various Fair Types Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex (2010-2014)								
E-11 to	Total		Female	•	Male			
Fail type	N (%)	Rate <sup>a</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>b</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>b</sup>		
Slip, trip stumble	101,670 (33.4)	1,031	68,407 (35.6)	1,243	33,263 (29.5)	760		
Unspecified	65,560 (21.5)	665	42,245 (22.0)	770	23,315 (20.7)	533		
Other same level	45,009 (14.8)	456	28,689 (14.9)	523	16,320 (14.5)	373		
Stairs, steps	34,828 (11.4)	353	22,473 (11.7)	410	12,355 (11.0)	282		
Ice, snow	17,985 (5.9)	182	9,243 (4.8)	169	8,742 (7.8)	200		
Bed	9,676 (3.2)	98	6,068 (3.2)	111	3,608 (3.2)	82		
Ladder	6,436 (2.1)	65	1,289 (0.7)	24	5,147 (4.6)	118		
Chair	5,945 (2.0)	60	3,828 (2.0)	70	2,117 (1.9)	48		
One level to other	5,021 (1.6)	51	2,400 (1.2)	44	2,621 (2.3)	60		
Walker	4,473 (1.5)	45	3,210 (1.7)	59	1,263 (1.1)	29		
Wheelchair	3,048 (1.0)	31	1,724 (0.9)	31	1,324 (1.2)	30		
Skates, sport boards	1,999 (0.7)	20	936 (0.5)	17	1,063 (0.9)	24		
Other furniture	1,591 (0.5)	16	1,072 (0.6)	20	519 (0.5)	12		
From building	652 (0.3)	7	133 (0.1)	2	519 (0.5)	12		
Collision or pushing	338 (0.1)	3	255 (0.1)	3	83 (0.1)	2		
From tree	152 (0.0)	2	7 (0.0)	0	145 (0.1)	3		
Support from others	101 (0.0)	1	72 (0.0)	1	29 (0.0)	1		

Table 3-18	
Patients with Codes for Various Fall Types Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex (2	010-2014)

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Ice, snow = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). Ladder = Fall on and from ladder' (W11). Chair = 'Fall involving chair' (W07). One level to other = 'Other fall from one level to another' (W17). Walker = 'Fall involving adult walker' (W0501). Wheelchair = 'Fall involving wheelchair' (W0500). Skates, sport boards = 'fall involving skates, skis, sport boards, and in-line skates' (W02). Other furniture = 'fall involving other furniture' (W08). From building = 'fall from, out of or through building or structure' (W13). Collision or pushing = 'other fall on same level due to collision with, or pushing by, another person' (W03). From tree = 'Fall from tree' (W14). Support from others = 'fall while being carried or supported by other persons' (W04). <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with the total number of observations per fall type as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five-year period as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with the total number of observations per sex as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population. Percent calculated with the total number of FRI observations per sex as the denominator.

Patients with Codes for 'Unspecified Fall' (W19) Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)



*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per age group and sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group and sex as the denominator.





*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per age group and sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group and sex as the denominator.

Figure 3-36

Patients with Codes for 'Fall on and from Stairs and Steps' (W10) Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)



Note. Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per age group and sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group and sex as the denominator.





Patients with Codes for 'Fall on Same Level Involving Ice and Snow' (W00) Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)

Note. Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per age group and sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group and sex as the denominator.

Now that types of falls have been reported, the focus switches to the location where FRI events typically occurred. Overall, there were 304,964 location codes in the NACRS dataset which indicates that there were individuals with multiple location codes. Unfortunately, 50.3% of all location codes were for 'unspecified place' (U989). Among

the remaining location codes, the most common location was the 'home' (U980; N = 85,792, 56.6%), followed by 'residential institution' (U98; N = 26,652, 17.6%) A greater proportion of females had a code for falls in residential institutions (19.2%) compared to males (14.6%).

# 3.3.1.1 Fractures

'Fall on same level form slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01) was the most common fall type in patients with fractures. Rates of patients with these falls increased with age in both sexes (Figure 3-38). Tables H3 and H4 (Appendix H) show the counts and rates of fall types seen in patients with fractures and are separated by sex and age group. 'Unspecified fall' was also increasingly common in older age groups (Figure 3-39, Tables H3 and H4 in Appendix H). 'Other fall on same level' (W18), and 'fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10) followed similar age- and sex-related patterns as all FRIs (Figures 3-40 and 3-41). Only half patients with fracture diagnoses (N = 62,805) contained information on a specific location of a fall and 58,882 patients had an ICD-10-CA code for an 'unspecified place'. Of the observations with a specified injury location, 59.2% of patients with fractures experienced this event in the home (N = 37,187) and 17.4% in a residential institution (N = 10,954).

#### Figure 3-38





*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations with fractures per age group and sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group and sex as the denominator.

Patients with Fractures and Codes for 'Other Fall on Same Level' (W18) Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)



*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations with fractures per age group and sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group and sex as the denominator.



**Figure 3-40** Patients with Fractures and Codes for 'Fall on and from Stairs and Steps' (W10) Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex and Age Group (2010-2014)

*Note.* Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations with fractures per age group and sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group and sex as the denominator.

There were 19,434 (73.7%) patients with hip fractures with a specified location of the injury event. The home was the most common location of fall (59.1% of patients with a specified location) followed by residential institutions (27.8%). A higher proportion of males than females had a code for an unspecified location (29.0% vs. 25.2%). The most

common fall types in patients with hip fractures are described in Table 3-19 and are further separated by age groups in Appendix H (Tables H5 and H6). Codes for 'fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' were the most common in patients with fractures of the hip, hand and wrist, forearm, humerus, ankle, and foot fractures, followed by 'unspecified fall' (Tables 3-20 to 3-25). Details, including age group and sex, for the fall types seen with the above fractures can be found in Tables H7 to H9 (Appendix H).

#### **Table 3-19**

Types of Falls in Patients with Hip Fractures Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex (2010-2014)

Fall trms	Total		Female		Male	
ran type	N (%)	Rate <sup>a</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>b</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>b</sup>
Slip, trip, stumble	9,404 (35.7)	95	6,855 (37.1)	125	2,549 (32.2)	58
Unspecified	6,193 (23.5)	63	4,350 (23.6)	79	1,843 (23.5)	42
Other same level	4,690 (17.8)	48	3,344 (18.1)	61	1,346 (17.0)	31
Stairs, steps	1,674 (6.3)	17	1,154 (6.3)	21	520 (6.6)	12
Bed	1,030 (3.9)	10	712 (3.9)	13	318 (4.0)	7
Ice, snow	933 (3.5)	9	484 (2.6)	9	449 (5.7)	10
Walker	750 (2.9)	8	544 (2.6)	10	206 (2.8)	5
Chair	620 (2.4)	6	436 (2.3)	8	184 (2.4)	4
Wheelchair	341 (1.3)	3	201 (1.1)	4	140 (1.8)	3

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). Ice, snow = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Walker = 'Fall involving adult walker' (W0501). Chair = 'Fall involving chair' (W07). Wheelchair = 'Fall involving wheelchair' (W0500). Percent was calculated with the number of patients per fall type per sex as the numerator and total number of patients with a hip fracture per sex as the denominator. <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with total number of observations per fall types as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's per fall types and sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population.

Types of Falls in Patients with Hand and Wrist Fractures Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex (2010-2014)							
Eall trime	Total		Female		Male		
ran type	N (% <sup>a</sup> )	Rate <sup>b</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>c</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>c</sup>	
Slip, trip, stumble	3,687 (39.1)	37	2,664 (41.5)	49	1,023 (34.1)	23	
Unspecified	2,258 (24.0)	23	1,524 (23.7)	28	734 (24.5)	17	
Other same level	1,195 (12.7)	12	819 (12.8)	15	376 (12.5)	9	
Stairs, steps	970 (10.3)	10	680 (10.6)	12	290 (9.7)	7	
Ice, snow	586 (6.2)	6	339 (5.3)	6	247 (8.2)	6	
Ladder	153 (1.6)	2	30 (0.5)	1	123 (4.1)	3	
Bed	133 (1.4)	1	95 (1.5)	2	38 (1.3)	1	
One level to other	118 (1.3)	1	72 (1.1)	1	46 (1.5)	4	
Chair	110 (1.2)	1	75 (1.2)	1	35 (1.2)	1	

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Ice, snow = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Ladder = 'Fall on and from ladder' (W11). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). One level to other = 'Other fall from one level to another' (W17). Chair = 'Fall involving chair' (W07). <sup>a</sup> Percent calculated with total number of patients with a wrist/hand fracture per sex as the denominator and N per fall type per sex as the numerator. <sup>b</sup> Crude rate was calculated with total number of observations as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>c</sup> Sexspecific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. All rates were reported per 100,000 population.

Table 3	3-21
---------	------

**Table 3-20** 

Types of Falls in Patients with Forearm Fractures Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex (2010-2014)

E-11 to me	Total		Female	•	Male	
Fan type	N (%)	Rate <sup>a</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>b</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>b</sup>
Slip, trip, stumble	8,680 (35.9)	88	7,405 (37.5)	135	1,275 (28.7)	29
Unspecified	5,123 (21.2)	52	4,201 (21.3)	77	922 (20.7)	21
Other same level	3,142 (13.0)	32	2,636 (13.4)	48	506 (11.4)	12
Ice, snow	2,594 (10.7)	26	1,992 (10.1)	36	602 (13.5)	14
Stairs, steps	2,490 (10.3)	25	2,042 (10.3)	37	448 (10.1)	10
Ladder	497 (2.1)	5	334 (1.7)	3	163 (3.7)	8
Bed	324 (1.3)	3	283 (1.4)	5	41 (0.9)	1
One level to other	307 (1.3)	3	207 (1.0)	4	100 (2.2)	2
Skates, skis, sports boards	257 (1.1)	3	195 (1.0)	4	62 (1.4)	1

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Ice, snow = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Ladder = Fall on and from ladder' (W11). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). One level to other = 'Other fall from one level to another' (W17). Skates, sport boards = 'Fall involving skates, skis, sport boards, and in-line skates' (W02).<sup>a</sup> Percent calculated with total number of patients with a forearm fracture per sex as the denominator and N per fall type per sex as the numerator. <sup>b</sup> Crude rate was calculated with total number of observations as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. All rates were reported per 100,000 population.

Types of Falls in Fallenis with Humerus Fractures seen in the Emergency Department by Sex (2010-2014)							
Fall type	Total		Female		Male		
Fail type	N (% <sup>a</sup> )	Rate <sup>b</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>c</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>c</sup>	
Slip, trip, stumble	5,198 (39.3)	53	4,241 (41.2)	77	957 (32.6)	22	
Unspecified	2,445 (18.5)	25	1,896 (18.4)	35	549 (18.7)	13	
Other same level	1,648 (12.5)	17	1,299 (12.6)	24	349 (11.9)	8	
Stairs, steps	1,506 (11.4)	15	1,179 (11.4)	22	327 (11.1)	7	
Ice, snow	1,087 (8.2)	11	736 (7.1)	13	351 (12.0)	8	
Bed	326 (2.5)	3	257 (2.5)	5	69 (2.4)	2	

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Ice, snow = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). <sup>a</sup> Percent calculated with total number of patients with a rib fracture per sex as the denominator and N per fall type per sex as the numerator. <sup>b</sup> Crude rate was calculated with total number of observations as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>c</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. All rates were reported per 100,000 population.

Table 3-23		
Types of Falls in Patients with Rib	Fractures Seen in the Emerger	ncy Department by Sex (2010-2014)

Fall type	Total		Female		Male	
Fan type	N (% <sup>a</sup> )	Rate <sup>b</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>c</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>c</sup>
Slip, trip, stumble	2,737 (25.7)	28	1,301 (28.6)	24	1,436 (23.5)	33
Unspecified	2,239 (21.0)	23	1,059 (23.3)	19	1,180 (19.3)	27
Other same level	1,597 (15.0)	16	795 (17.5)	14	802 (13.1)	18
Stairs, steps	1,563 (14.7)	16	689 (15.2)	13	874 (14.3)	20
Ice, snow	637 (6.0)	6	107 (2.4)	2	530 (8.7)	12
Ladder	565 (5.3)	6	44 (1.0)	1	521 (8.5)	12
Bed	353 (3.3)	4	205 (4.5)	4	148 (2.4)	3
One level to another	304 (2.8)	3	72 (1.6)	1	232 (3.8)	5
Chair	241 (2.3)	2	118 (2.6)	2	123 (2.0)	3

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Ice, snow = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Ladder = Fall on and from ladder' (W11). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). One level to other = 'Other fall from one level to another' (W17). Chair = 'Fall involving chair' (W07). <sup>a</sup> Percent calculated with total number of patients with a rib fracture per sex as the denominator and N per fall type per sex as the numerator. <sup>b</sup> Crude rate was calculated with total number of observations as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>c</sup> Sexspecific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. All rates were reported per 100,000 population.

Types of Falls in Patients with Ankle Fractures Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex (2010-2014)							
Fall type	Total		Female		Male		
Fail type	N (% <sup>a</sup> )	Rate <sup>b</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>c</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>c</sup>	
Slip, trip, stumble	2,050 (31.5)	21	1,695 (35.8)	31	355 (20.1)	8	
Stairs, steps	1,301 (20.0)	13	1,032 (21.8)	19	269 (15.2)	6	
Ice, snow	973 (15.0)	10	621 (13.1)	11	352 (19.9)	8	
Unspecified	904 (13.9)	9	678 (14.3)	12	226 (12.8)	5	
Other same level	577 (8.9)	6	430 (9.1)	8	147 (8.3)	3	
Ladder	170 (2.6)	2	44 (0.9)	1	126 (7.1)	3	
One level to other	145 (2.2)	1	89 (1.9)	2	56 (3.2)	1	
Chair	74 (1.1)	1	62 (1.3)	1	12 (0.7)	0	
Bed	70 (1.1)	1	59 (1.2)	1	11 (0.6)	0	

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Ice, snow = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Ladder = Fall on and from ladder' (W11). One level to other = 'Other fall from one level to another' (W17). Chair = 'Fall involving chair' (W07). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). <sup>a</sup> Percent calculated with total number of patients with an ankle fracture per sex as the denominator and N per fall type per sex as the numerator. <sup>b</sup> Crude rate was calculated with total number of observations as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>c</sup> Sexspecific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. All rates were reported per 100,000 population.

#### **Table 3-25**

Table 3-24

- ·

Types of Falls in Patients with Foot Fractures Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex (2010-2014)

Eall tring	Total		Female		Male	
ran type	N (% <sup>a</sup> )	Rate <sup>b</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>c</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>c</sup>
Slip, trip, stumble	2,050 (34.9)	21	1,695 (37.6)	31	355 (25.9)	8
Stairs, steps	1,432 (24.4)	15	1,142 (25.3)	21	290 (21.2)	7
Unspecified	1,023 (17.4)	10	823 (18.3)	15	200 (14.6)	5
Other same level	465 (7.9)	5	366 (8.1)	7	99 (7.2)	2
Ladder	309 (5.3)	3	57 (1.3)	1	252 (18.4)	6
One level to another	160 (2.7)	2	99 (2.2)	2	61 (4.4)	1
Chair	124 (2.1)	1	107 (2.4)	2	17 (1.2)	0
Bed	92 (1.6)	1	70 (1.6)	1	22 (1.6)	1
Ice, snow	84 (1.4)	1	57 (1.3)	1	27 (2.0)	1

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Ladder = Fall on and from ladder' (W11). One level to other = 'Other fall from one level to another' (W17). Chair = 'Fall involving chair' (W07). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). Ice, snow = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). <sup>a</sup> Percent calculated with total number of patients with an foot fracture per sex as the denominator and N per fall type per sex as the numerator. <sup>b</sup> Crude rate was calculated with total number of observations as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>c</sup> Sexspecific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. All rates were reported per 100,000 population.

# 3.3.1.2 Non-Fracture Injuries

Unlike other fracture types, 'unspecified fall' was recorded in the greatest number of patients with TBI, followed by 'fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling', 'fall on and from stairs and steps', and 'other fall on same level' (Table 3-25). There were 5,303 (61.7% of all patients with TBI) patients that had a code for a specified location of FRI event. Of these patients, 63.4% experienced a fall-related TBI at home, and 13.8% in residential institutions. Further information on fall types seen in patients with open wounds and sprains can be found in Tables 3-26, 3-27, and Tables H10 to H12 (Appendix H).

Table	3-26
-------	------

Types of Falls in Patients with a Traumatic Brain Injury Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex (2010-2014)

Fall type	Total		Female		Male	
Fail type	N (% <sup>a</sup> )	Rate <sup>b</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>c</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>c</sup>
Unspecified	2,463 (28.7)	25	1,221 (28.9)	22	1,242 (28.5)	28
Slip, trip, stumble	1,603 (18.7)	16	904 (21.4)	16	699 (16.0)	16
Stairs, steps	1,404 (16.3)	14	735 (17.4)	13	669 (15.3)	15
Other same level	1,403 (16.3)	14	691 (16.3)	13	712 (16.3)	16
Ice, snow	593 (6.9)	6	231 (5.5)	4	362 (8.3)	8
Ladder	274 (3.2)	3	38 (0.9)	1	236 (5.4)	5
Bed	233 (2.7)	2	132 (3.1)	2	101 (2.3)	2

*Note.* Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Ice, snow = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Ladder = Fall on and from ladder' (W11). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). <sup>a</sup> Percent calculated with total number of patients with a TBI per sex as the denominator and N per fall type per sex as the numerator. <sup>b</sup> Crude rate was calculated with total number of observations as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>c</sup> Sexspecific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. All rates were reported per 100,000 population.

Types of Falls in Patients with Open Wounds Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex (2010-2014)						
<b>F</b> -11 to a s	Total		Female		Male	
Fail type	N (% <sup>a</sup> )	Rate <sup>b</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>c</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>c</sup>
Slip, trip, stumble	18,867 (38.4)	191	10,614 (40.7)	194	8,253 (35.8)	189
Unspecified	8,594 (17.5)	87	4,594 (17.6)	84	4,000 (17.3)	91
Other same level	7,912 (16.1)	80	4,162 (16.0)	76	3,750 (16.2)	86
Stairs, steps	5,350 (10.9)	54	2,998 (11.5)	55	2,352 (10.2)	54
Ice, snow	1,524 (3.1)	15	578 (2.2)	11	946 (3.1)	22
Bed	2,063 (4.2)	21	990 (3.8)	18	1,073 (4.6)	25
Chair	969 (2.0)	10	509 (2.0)	9	460 (2.0)	11
Ladder	951 (1.9)	10	130 (0.5)	2	821 (3.6)	19
Walker	787 (1.6)	8	515 (2.0)	9	272 (1.2)	6
Wheelchair	748 (1.5)	8	400 (1.5)	7	348 (1.5)	8

**Table 3-27** 

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Ice, snow = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). Chair = 'Fall involving chair' (W07). Ladder = Fall on and from ladder' (W11). Walker = 'Fall involving adult walker' (W0501). Wheelchair = 'Fall involving wheelchair' (W0500). <sup>a</sup> Percent calculated with total number of patients with open wounds per sex as the denominator and N per fall type per sex as the numerator. <sup>b</sup> Crude rate was calculated with total number of observations as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. All rates were reported per 100,000 population.

Table 3-28	
Types of Falls in Patients with Sprains, Strains, and Tears Seen in the Emergency Department by Sex (2010-201	4)

Fall type	Total		Female		Male	
	N (% <sup>a</sup> )	Rate <sup>b</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>c</sup>	N (%)	Rate <sup>c</sup>
Slip, trip, stumble	5,352 (33.6)	54	3,611 (35.5)	66	1,741 (30.2)	40
Unspecified	3,143 (19.7)	32	2,066 (20.3)	38	1,077 (18.7)	25
Stairs, steps	2,567 (16.1)	26	1,796 (17.7)	33	771 (13.4)	18
Other same level	1,765 (11.1)	18	1,153 (11.4)	21	612 (10.6)	14
Ice, snow	1,270 (8.0)	13	607 (6.0)	11	663 (11.5)	15
One level to another	428 (2.7)	4	207 (2.0)	4	221 (3.8)	5
Ladder	380 (2.4)	4	84 (0.8)	2	296 (5.1)	7
Bed	321 (2.0)	3	205 (2.0)	4	116 (2.0)	3
Chair	264 (1.7)	3	184 (1.8)	3	80 (1.4)	2

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Ice, snow = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). One level to other = 'Other fall from one level to another' (W17). Ladder = Fall on and from ladder' (W11). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). Chair = 'Fall involving chair' (W07). <sup>a</sup> Percent calculated with total number of patients with open wounds per sex as the denominator and N per fall type per sex as the numerator. <sup>b</sup> Crude rate was calculated with total number of observations as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>c</sup> Sexspecific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. All rates were reported per 100,000 population.

## 3.3.2 Falls - Hospital Level of Care

Similar to ED admissions, 'fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' was the most common fall code seen in patients who were hospitalized, followed by 'unspecified fall'. Figure 3-44 shows the percent of patients at the hospital level of care with codes for various fall types. The numbers and rates of fall types fluctuated by age group and sex (Appendix H, Tables H13 and H14). Figures 3-45 and 3-46 show the age-specific rates of the five most common fall types separately by sex and age groups. Overall, the rate for most fall types increased with advancing age apart from 'fall on and from stairs and steps' in both sexes and 'fall on same level involving snow and ice' in males. There were 84,854 observations with codes for location of falls and 58,421 (40.8%) were an 'unspecified location (U989). A greater proportion (59.3%) of older adults in hospital had a specified location of fall, the most common location was the home (60.3%) followed by residential institutions (21.5%).

#### Figure 3-41





*Note.* Denominator = 143,210. Other = ICD-10-CA codes W02, W03, W04, W08, W09, W12, W13, W14, W15, W16.

Common Fall Types in Females with all Fall-Related Injuries Admitted to the Hospital (2010-2014)



*Note.* Slip, trip = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). Age-specific rates are calculated with total number of female observations per age group and fall type as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the denominator.

#### Figure 3-43

Common Fall Types in Males with all Fall-Related Injuries Admitted to the Hospital (2010-2014)



*Note.* Slip, Trip = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other Same Level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Snow, Ice = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Age-specific rates are calculated with total number of male observations per age group and fall type as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the denominator.

# 3.4 Summary of Results

This chapter reported descriptive findings for two levels of healthcare; patients admitted to the ED for an FRI, and patients who were subsequently hospitalized. At both levels of care, fractures were the most common injury type, and the hip was the most common fracture location. In both care settings, the injury types (e.g., fractures and TBI) and body locations (e.g., hip and forearm fractures) varied by age group and sex. Generally, injury rates were higher in females and increased with advancing age groups. Fractures of the forearm, humerus, and wrist and hand were more common in the youngest age group (65-69 years) and did not increase as notably with advancing age. Hip fractures increased drastically, becoming the most common fracture type in the 80-84 year (female) and 75-79 year groups (male). There are more female older adults in Ontario than males, so it is not surprising that the proportion of females was greater than males in both the NACRS and DAD datasets. However, this does not explain why crude rates for TBIs, injuries of internal organs, injuries of muscles and tendons, and rib fractures were higher in males than females. More males died within one year of ED admission, and crude rate of mortality was higher in females for fractures and males for TBI. Finally, 'fall on the same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' was the most common fall type, followed by 'unspecified fall'.

## 4. Discussion

In general, FRIs were more common in females and in the older age groups. Fractures were the most common injury type for both sexes and all age groups. Rates of fractures increased with advancing age for both sexes. Superficial injuries were the second most frequent injury type and were mainly diagnosed without another injury. Nearly 20% of patients had ICD-10-CA codes for 'other or unspecified' injuries. The most common fall code was 'fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' in both sexes. More than 20%, of patients had codes for 'unspecified fall'. Rates of FRIs were highest in the North West LHIN which is comprised of 34% rural residences (North West Local Health Integration Network, n.d.), and the lowest rate was recorded in the Central West LHIN which was only 6% rural (Central West LHIN, n.d.).

At the ED level of care, rates of FRIs were higher in females than males, consistent with results from the United States (Mahoney et al., 2005). Findings from this thesis also suggested that the rate of FRIs increased three-fold from the youngest (65-69 years) to oldest (90+ years) age groups, while the Ontario Injury Data Report (Parachute, 2018) identified a 3.7-fold increase between the 65-69 year and 80+ year groups. The head was the most injured body part in all age groups, which aligns with findings from Parachute (2018) and DeGrauw et al. (2016). At the ED, fractures and superficial injuries were the most common injuries which was consistent with findings from the Netherlands (Olij et al., 2019). A slight decrease in the crude rates of fractures was noted between 2010 and 2014 in Ontario, which is contrary to Olij and colleagues (2019) who found a significant decrease in fall-related fractures reported to the ED in the Netherlands (2,560 in 1997 to 1,810 per 100,000 in 2016)<sup>4</sup>. The differences in population characteristics and healthcare systems might be partly responsible. Like all FRIs, fractures were more common in females than males and increased with advancing age.

The most common fracture locations varied by age group and sex. Forearm fractures were particularly concerning for females, as age-specific rates were 3.5 times higher than for males at the ED. Orces and Martinez (2011) also found that the combined

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Olij et al. (2019) calculated rates per 10,000 population. To compare, their rates they were recalculated per 100,000.

rates of forearm and wrist fractures were about four times higher in females than males aged 60 and older. Since the 1980s, rates of forearm fractures in EDs from all causes have been higher in females than males (Miller & Grimley Evans, 1985). These rates may be explained by varying trajectories of bone mass loss between sexes. Females typically see a sharp decrease in bone mass at the onset of menopause, followed by a gradual decline, while males typically experience a steady bone loss throughout adulthood and older age (Kruger & Nell, 2017). Most fractures were female-dominated, with few exceptions. For example, rib fractures were male-dominated and the second most common fracture type in males. Rib fractures were the most common fracture type in males until the 70-74 year group, after which they were surpassed by hip fractures.

Two non-fracture injury types were also male-dominated: TBI and open wounds. The most common TBIs at the ED were hemorrhages (60.2%) and concussions (31.4%). These findings were comparable to Parachute's (2015) issue of the Ontario Injury Compass Report which reported intracranial hemorrhages (42%) as the most common fall-related TBI, followed by concussions (22%). Hemorrhages were more common in males than females. It is possible that this sex-related difference could be a result of a higher proportion of males than females using anticoagulant medications (Virjo et al., 2010). Rates of TBI increased during the study period, which aligns with findings from the Netherlands between 1997 and 2016 (Olij et al., 2019). However, comparisons must be made with the caution due to variation in injury type classification between the two studies.

Hospitalization rates due to FRI were higher in females than males and increased with advancing age, consistent with the literature (Carey & Laffoy, 2002; Hartholt et al., 2010; Hartholt, Stevens, et al., 2011; Kannus, Niemi, et al., 2005; Kannus, Parkkari, et al., 2018; Korhonen et al., 2012; Nilson et al., 2016; Scott et al., 2004; Watson & Mitchell, 2011). In this study, FRI hospitalizations declined between 2010 and 2014 while conflicting time trends were reported in other studies. In Finland, there has been a decline in FRI hospitalizations (80+ years) since the 1990s (Kannus, Parkkari, et al., 2018; Korhonen et al., 2012), but an increase was reported in studies from Australia, Finland, the United States, and the Netherlands (Cassell & Clapperton, 2013; Hartholt et al., 2010; Hartholt, Stevens, et al., 2011; Kannus, Niemi, et al., 2005; Mahoney et al.,

2005; Watson & Mitchell, 2011), which could not be fully explained by population aging (Hartholt, Stevens, et al., 2011; Watson & Mitchell, 2011).

Fractures were the most common FRI injury type at the hospital, which was consistent with previous findings (Carey & Laffoy, 2005; Hartholt et al., 2010; Hartholt, Stevens, 2011; Nilson et al., 2016; Olij et al., 2019; Scott et al., 2010; Watson & Mitchell, 2011). Rates for fractures were higher in females, which could be partially explained by higher prevalence of osteoporosis and osteopenia in females (Hartholt, Stevens, et al., 2011; Orces, 2013). Hip fracture was the most common fracture type, though the proportion of hip fractures compared to other injuries has decreased over time (Cassell & Clapperton, 2013; Carey & Laffoy, 2005; Hartholt et al., 2010; Olij et al., 2019; Watson & Mitchell, 2011). This might be a consequence of improved surgical procedures that require hospital stay for upper limb fractures (Hartholt et al., 2010; Hartholt, Stevens, et al., 2011).

An unexpected finding was that superficial injuries were second (after fractures) at the hospital level of care. A Swedish study reported similar rates for superficial injuries, 344 per 100,000 females and 225 per 100,000 males, and indicated that these high rates could be due to the stress and impact of a fall on the overall health of older adults (Nilson et al., 2016). TBIs were a male-dominated injury type and became increasingly common with advancing age in both sexes, though findings from the literature were inconsistent. Studies from Australia, the United States, and Finland (Carey & Laffoy, 2005; Coronado et al., 2005; Fletcher et al., 2007; Harvey & Close, 2012; Kannus et al., 2007) found higher rates among males, while studies from Netherlands and Sweden (Hartholt, Van Lieshout, et al., 2011; Nilson et al., 2016) reported higher rates in females. This thesis reported a slight increase in the rate of TBI hospitalizations between 2010 and 2014, mirroring results from Australia, Finland, the Netherlands, and the United States (Cassell & Clapperton, 2013; Fletcher et al., 2007; Hartholt et al., 2010; Hartholt, Van Lieshout, et al., 2011; Harvey & Close, 2012; Kannus et al., 2007; Olij et al., 2019). It is unclear how improved detection of TBI (via computerized tomography scanning) or the use of anticoagulant and antiplatelet medications are contributing to this increase (Cassell & Clapperton, 2013; Hartholt, Van Lieshout, et al., 2011; Harvey & Close, 2012; Lip et al., 2011). These questions warrant further investigation.

More males than females died following an FRI at both settings of healthcare delivery, which is similar to findings on higher mortality rates in males after an FRI from the literature (Mahoney et al., 2005; Stevens et al., 1999; Stevens & Dellinger, 2002). Other studies explained that males have more comorbidities and tend to engage in more physical activity and riskier behaviours (Alamgir et al., 2012; Orces, 2008). Alamgir et al. (2012) and Orces (2008) also reported higher mortality rates with advancing age.

Exploring types of falls that lead to injuries is important to provide stakeholders with the evidence required to produce specific fall and injury prevention strategies. The most common ICD-10-CA fall code was 'fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). More than 20% of observations had a code for 'unspecified fall' (W19) and this proportion increased with advancing age. It was not possible to determine why one-fifth of patients in this dataset had W19 codes, though it is possible that this could have been used as a generic code when the exact cause of FRI was unclear. Additionally, it was not possible to determine the reason for an age-related increase in W19 codes. This is problematic as falls and injury prevention strategies depend on specific evidence to create meaningful remedial solutions. The literature did not provide much reflection on high numbers of 'unspecified fall' codes.

Previous FRI literature did not offer much information on the types and locations of falls. Vague descriptions of the fall types that resulted in injury are available, but categorizations of fall types were inconsistent between studies. For example, a Dutch study found that 96% of hospitalizations involved 'accidental fall on same level from slipping, tripping, or stumbling', 'accidental fall on or from stairs or steps', or 'accidental fall on or from chair or bed' (Hartholt et al., 2010). Here, multiple codes were combined into a single category making it impossible to align the causes (falls) with resulting injuries.

'Falls involving ice or snow' were common at both ED and hospital level of care. Winter weather in Ontario, including heavy snowfall and icy conditions, can be present for four months or longer, placing a heavy burden on the healthcare system during this season. Therefore, ice and snow falls are an important fall type to consider for future FRI prevention strategies in Ontario. Rates for 'fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00) remained steady through the advancing age groups in males but decreased in females. This finding was similar to Beynon et al. (2011) where rates of hospitalizations for falls on snow and ice increased with all age groups in males and increased until age 74 in females. Miller and Grimley Evans (1985) also found that rates of distal forearm fractures were four times higher during weeks with freezing temperatures than any other time of year. Hip fractures followed a similar pattern and were more frequent in the winter months (Crawford & Parker, 2003).

## 4.1 Methodological Considerations

A major methodological consideration for the present study is the use of ICD-10-CA codes for injuries and falls. Although this coding system is internationally recognized and widely utilized, making it useful for comparison across populations, a large portion of the codes have limited utility, such as injury codes in the category 'other or unspecified injuries' (Appendix C, Table C3). The ICD-10-CA classification list (CIHI, 2015) contains injury categories that describe multiple injuries, unspecified injury types, unspecified body location, or more than one of these subcategories within a single code. For example, the code T019 is the classification for 'multiple open wounds of unspecified site' (CIHI, 2015, p. 835). Arbitrary grouping of injury diagnosis codes in previous studies, types of coding systems used, and issues with transcription from patient records to databases diminish our ability to provide good evidence for injury prevention.

Similarly, more than 20% of observations had an ICD-10-CA code for 'unspecified fall' (W19). Another 14.8% of observations in ED and 16.9% in hospital had codes for 'other fall on same level' (W18). This means that about 35% of all observations had unclear causes of injury. Large proportions of 'unspecified fall' codes were identified in other studies as well (Harvey & Close, 2012). A better taxonomy of ICD-10-CA codes for both injury and falls types is required.

At present, the ICD-10 is the latest version of the disease classification system used. The ICD-11 version was approved by the World Health Assembly in 2019, is now pilot tested and will come into effect in 2022 (CIHI, n.d.). This suggests that any changes in the categorization or grouping of ICD codes for injuries and falls will have to wait for the ICD-12 version.
### 4.2 Strengths and Limitations

Several strengths of this study must be highlighted, including the use of a large population-based dataset that was representative of the entire population of older adults with FRIs at the time of an ED admission over the period of five years. This eliminated re-call bias and self-reporting bias. The use of ED and hospital level data allowed for a closer estimate of the magnitude of FRIs. It also allowed for continuity in following the same population from entry point into the healthcare system (ED), to hospital discharge. Studies that have examined only FRI hospitalizations have underestimated the total number of cases and their impact on healthcare systems (Fletcher et al., 2007; Harvey & Close, 2012). Additionally, in this study, only one observation per person was included, removing a chance of double-registration.

Every observation in this dataset could have up to ten ICD-10-CA diagnosis codes which allowed for examination of all FRIs rather than only the cases with a single primary diagnosis of injury. Studies that included only primary diagnoses were not reflective of all the injuries (Watson & Mitchell, 2011; Nilson et al., 2016). Finally, this study contributed information about less serious and less common injuries in detail, such as rib fractures, open wounds, or superficial injuries. Although they are not of the most pressing concern to the overburdened healthcare system in Ontario, it is important to consider all injuries that result in utilization of healthcare resources.

There were several limitations to this study that must be acknowledged. First, secondary data that is routinely collected for administrative healthcare databases for the population of Ontario, Canada was analyzed. ICD-10 coding is an internationally recognized diagnosis classification system and is utilized in the healthcare system by trained coders based on an instruction manual that accompanies ICD-10-CA (CIHI, 2018). However, the author did not have control over data collection, therefore it is not possible to rule out errors in data collection and coding processes. Second, the dataset was extracted from three large healthcare databases (i.e., NACRS, DAD, RPDB) by a trained IC/ES analyst based on a specific Dataset Creation Plan (Appendix B). Although the Dataset Creation Plan included clear details for the data required for the study, there was still room for data analyst's interpretation of this request. Third, IC/ES imposed an upper age limit of 91 years, meaning anyone older than that was listed as 91 years old.

This meant that it was not possible to break down the oldest age group (90+ years) for further interpretation, such as common FRIs among centenarians. This limitation provided a basis for further research on FRIs among Ontarians 90 years and older. Fourth, the overall findings from this study may be an underestimate of the impact of FRIs in Ontario healthcare system as the dataset did not include patients who: 1) were treated for an FRI by their family physician or at a walk-in clinic, 2) were treated out of the province, 3) failed to identify a fall as the cause of injury during ED admission, 4) died prior to admission to the ED, or 5) were directly admitted to hospital without being registered at the ED. Future FRI research in Ontario should seek to include these areas of medical services to identify the total impact of FRIs on Ontario's healthcare system. Fifth, the dataset included older adults from a single Canadian province and therefore may not be generalizable to other Canadian provinces or territories, or other societies due to differences in demographic make-up and healthcare protocols. Sixth, causes of death from death certificates were not included in this dataset, therefore it was not possible to calculate mortality rates due to FRIs. However, the inclusion of rates of death after FRIs and proportions of patients who died within one year after FRIs provided a basis for future research on FRI-related mortality in Ontario. Finally, the five-year observation window (2010-2014) is dated, but this was the most up-to-date full dataset available at the time of data request in 2017. Advantageously, this timeframe aligns well with the entry of the baby boomer generation (i.e., people born between 1946 and 1964) into the retirement age, starting in 2011, providing a baseline for future FRI trend analysis on FRIs in the baby boomer generation.

## 4.3 Implications for Future Research and Falls Prevention

Epidemiological information about FRIs and falls is essential for allocating healthcare resources and guidance for prevention strategy creation and implementation. Targeted prevention strategies based on personal demographic characteristics (e.g., age, sex, location, income) may be a cost-effective alternative to a blanket national public health strategy. Moreover, prevention must change with patient needs and fluctuating risks.

The author supports the need for better injury types classification to improve the future of FRI research. The future ICD codes need to better categorize specific injury types. For example, differentiating body location and defining exact injury type while

avoiding groupings such as, 'sprain, strain, or dislocation'. Another recommendation would be to ensure the healthcare practitioners ask patients with potential FRIs detailed information about the fall event itself. The goal would be to reduce the number of FRI events coded as 'unspecified falls' (W19), thus allowing for a clearer picture of what fall types are most problematic for the older adult population.

The future of FRI research should seek to identify causal relationships between various fall types, injuries, and the characteristics of individuals who experience them. The present descriptive study provided evidence to guide the direction for future research endeavors. The review of population-based FRI literature presented in the introduction has shown that some injury types (e.g. TBI and fractures) were frequently studied, while other injuries, like rib fracture which can cause life-threatening pulmonary complications (Bulger et al., 2000), were rarely mentioned. Based on findings reported here, the following is a list of recommendations for future FRI research in Ontario:

- Identify causal relationships between demographic characteristics and injury types, especially focusing on infrequently studied injury types.
- Examine the link between types of injuries and falls at a population level.
- Examine the impact of chronic conditions and other health indicators, such as osteoporosis, asthma, COPD, body mass index, and bone mineral density on types of injuries and falls.
- Identify causal relationships between injury types and use of various medications.
- Explore associations between types of falls, injuries, and demographics of firsttime versus recurrent fallers at the ED and hospital levels.
- Explore how various FRIs in urban centres in Ontario differ from FRIs in rural and Indigenous communities.
- Explore the role of fall-related superficial injuries leading to hospitalizations.
- Examine the types of injuries and falls in special populations in Ontario, such as clients receiving home care or long-term care residents.

Although it was beyond the scope of this study to identify risk factors for falls or to test prevention strategies, some higher-level FRI prevention recommendations can be made based on the findings presented in this thesis. Females and individuals in the older age groups experienced FRIs at higher rates than males and younger older adults and should therefore receive the most attention in prevention efforts. It is also important to recognize that FRI types and causes differed among individuals based on their demographic characteristics, such as age and sex. As individuals got older, the common injury types changed, therefore FRI prevention should target the consequential injuries that they are most likely to experience based on their demographic characteristics.

### 5. Conclusion

FRIs are a considerable problem for older adults in Ontario, and a burden on the healthcare system. This population-based descriptive study examined data for 304,610 older adults admitted to the ED, and 143,210 patients subsequently hospitalized. Research on FRIs is vast, but there was no peer-reviewed published literature on FRIs for the Canadian province of Ontario. The purpose of this thesis was to identify demographic characteristics of older adults who experienced FRIs and to describe the types of FRIs and the falls that caused them.

Females had higher overall rates of FRIs than males. FRIs increased nearly threefold from the youngest age group (65-69 years) to the oldest (90+ years), and this agerelated increase was sharper in males than females. The sex- and age-related patterns were consistent with findings from the literature. The types and body locations of injuries changed with advancing age. Fractures were the most common injury type in both sexes, followed by superficial injuries. Most injury types were female-dominated except for TBIs, open wounds, muscle and tendon injuries, and internal organ injuries. The ICD-10-CA code 'fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' was the most common fall type for most injuries. However, over 35% of observations had codes for 'unspecified fall' (W19) or 'other fall on same level' (W18), making it impossible to draw meaningful conclusions on causes of injuries. This means that FRIs will likely remain a burden for Ontario's EDs and hospitals in the coming decades. A better understanding of fall types that cause injuries will help create meaningful and effective FRI prevention protocols. These programs need to target injury types that are more serious (i.e., result in hospitalization) and should align with an individual's specific risks as they age. This study provides evidence that can guide fall-related injury prevention at the population level, reduce the burden on the healthcare system, and most importantly prevent suffering of older adults who experience injuries.

#### References

- Alamgir, H., Muazzam, S., & Nasrullah, M. (2012). Unintentional falls mortality among elderly in the United States: Time for action. *Injury*, *43*(12), 2065-2071. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.injury.2011.12.001
- Bergen, G., Stevens, M. R., & Burns, E. R. (2016). Falls and fall injuries among adults aged≥ 65 years—United States, 2014. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 65(37), 993-998. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6537a2</u>
- Bergland, A., & Wyller, T. B. (2004). Risk factors for serious fall related injury in elderly women living at home. *Injury Prevention*, 10(5), 308-313. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/ip.2003.004721</u>
- Beynon, C., Wyke, S., Jarman, I., Robinson, M., Mason, J., Murphy, K., Bellis, M.A., & Perkins, C. (2011). The cost of emergency hospital admissions for falls on snow and ice in England during winter 2009/10: A cross sectional analysis. *Environmental Health*, 10(1), 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-069X-10-60</u>
- Brazinova, A., Mauritz, W., Majdan, M., Rehorcikova, V., & Leitgeb, J. (2015). Fatal traumatic brain injury in older adults in Austria 1980–2012: An analysis of 33 years. *Age and Ageing*, 44(3), 502–506. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afu194</u>
- Bulger, E. M., Arneson, M. A., Mock, C. N., & Jurkovich, G. J. (2000). Rib fractures in the elderly. *Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery*, 48(6), 1040-1047.
- Campbell, A. J., Reinken, J., Allan, B. C., & Martinez, G. S. (1981). Falls in old age: A study of frequency and related clinical factors. *Age and Ageing*, 10(4), 264-270. doi:10.1093/ageing/10.4.264
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. (n.d.). *ICD-11 (International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 11th Revision),* <u>https://www.cihi.ca/en/submit-data-and-view-standards/codes-and-classifications/icd-11-international-statistical</u>
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2011). *National trauma registry 2011 report: Hospitalizations for major injury in Canada, 2008-2009 data,* <u>https://secure.cihi.ca/free\_products/NTR\_CDS\_2008\_2009\_Annual\_Report.pdf</u>
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2015). International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems: Tenth Revision, Canada, https://www.cihi.ca/sites/default/files/icd\_volume\_one\_2015\_en\_0.pdf
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2018). *Measuring health inequalities: A toolkit. Area-level equity stratifiers using PCCF and PCCF+*, <u>https://www.cihi.ca/sites/default/files/document/cphi-toolkit-area-level-</u> <u>measurement-pccf-2018-en-web.pdf</u>
- Carey, D., & Laffoy, M. (2005). Hospitalisations due to falls in older persons. Irish Medical Journal, 98(6), 179-181.
- CDC. (n.d.). United States Cancer Statistics (USCS): Interpreting Data. CDC Ceters for Disease Control and Prevention. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/uscs/about/hints.htm</u>
- Cassell, E., & Clapperton, A. (2013). A decreasing trend in fall-related hip fracture incidence in Victoria, Australia. *Osteoporosis International*, 24(1), 99-109. doi:10.1007/s00198-012-1937-6

- Central West LHIN. (n.d.). Central West LHIN Population Profile. Central West LHIN. <u>http://www.centralwestlhin.on.ca/About%20Us/The%20Landscape/Population%2</u> <u>0Profile.aspx#:~:text=The%20Central%20West%20LHIN%20is,and%20rural%2</u> <u>0communities%20(6%25)</u>.
- Chan, V., Zagorski, B., Parsons, D., Colantonio, A. (2013). Older adults with acquired brain injury: A population based study. *BMC Geriatrics*, 13(3), 97. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2318-13-97
- Coronado, G., Thomas, E., Sattin, W., & Johnson, L. (2005). The CDC traumatic brain injury surveillance system: Characteristics of persons aged 65 years and older hospitalized with a TBI. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 20(3), 215–228. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001199-200505000-00005
- Crawford, J. R., & Parker, M. J. (2003). Seasonal variation of proximal femoral fractures in the United Kingdom. *Injury*, 34(3), 223-225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0020-1383(02)00211-5</u>
- DeGrauw, X., Annest, J. L., Stevens, J. A., Xu, L., & Coronado, V. (2016). Unintentional injuries treated in hospital emergency departments among older persons aged 65 years and older, United States, 2006-2011. *Journal of Safety Research*, 56, 105-109. doi:10.1016/j.jsr.2015.11.002
- Do, M. T., Chang, V.C., Kuran, N. & Thompson, W. (2015). Fall-related injuries among Canadian seniors, 2005–2013: An analysis of the Canadian Community Health Survey. *Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada*, 35(7), 99–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.24095/hpcdp.35.7.01</u>
- Dowle, M., Srinivasan, A., Short, T., Lianoglou, S., Saporta, R., &Antonyan, E. (2015). *data.table: Extension of data.frame*. The R Project for Statistical Computing. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=data.table</u>
- Faul, M., Xu, L., Wald, M.M., Coronado, V.G. (2010). Traumatic brain injuries in the united states: Emergency department visits, hospitalizations, and deaths 2002-2006. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control.
  https://www.ede.com/traumaticheninininium/adf/hlue.hools.pdf

https://www.cdc.gov/traumaticbraininjury/pdf/blue\_book.pdf

- Fletcher, A. E., Khalid, S., & Mallonee, S. (2007). The epidemiology of severe traumatic brain injury among persons 65 years of age and older in Oklahoma, 1992– 2003. *Brain Injury*, 21(7), 691-699. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02699050701426873</u>
- Government of Ontario Ministry for Seniors and Accessibility. (2017, November). Aging with confidence: Ontario's action plan for seniors. https://files.ontario.ca/ontarios\_seniors\_strategy\_2017.pdf
- Hartholt, K., Stevens, J., Polinder, S., Van Der Cammen, T., & Patka, P. (2011). Increase in fall-related hospitalizations in the United States, 2001–2008. *The Journal of Trauma: Injury, Infection, and Critical Care*, 71(1), 255–258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/TA.0b013e31821c36e7</u>
- Hartholt, K., van Der Velde, N., Looman, C., van Lieshout, E., Panneman, M., van Beeck, E.F., Patka, P., van Der Cammen, T.J.M. (2010). Trends in fall-related hospital admissions in older persons in the Netherlands. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 170(10), 905–911. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archinternmed.2010.106</u>

- Hartholt, K. A., Van Lieshout, E. M., Polinder, S., Panneman, M. J., Van der Cammen, T. J., & Patka, P. (2011). Rapid increase in hospitalizations resulting from fall-related traumatic head injury in older adults in The Netherlands 1986–2008. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 28(5), 739-744. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2010.1488
- Harvey, L., & Close, J. (2012). Traumatic brain injury in older adults: Characteristics, causes and consequences. *Injury*, *43*(11), 1821–1826. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.injury.2012.07.188
- He, W., Goodkind, D., & Kowal, P. R. (2016). *An aging world: 2015*. <u>https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2016/demo/p95-16-1.pdf</u>
- Høidrup, S., Sørensen, T. I., Grønbæk, M., & Schroll, M. (2003). Incidence and characteristics of falls leading to hospital treatment: A one-year population surveillance study of the Danish population aged 45 years and over. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, *31*(1), 24-30. https://doi.org/10.1080/14034940210134185
- Iron, K., Zagorski, B.M., Sykora, K., Manuel, D.G. (2008). Living and dying in Ontario: An opportunity for improved health information. ICES Investigative Report. Toronto: Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences; 2008. <u>https://www.ices.on.ca/~/media/Files/Atlases-Reports/2008/Living-and-dying-in-Ontario/Full-report.ashx</u>
- Jørgensen, T. S. H., Hansen, A. H., Sahlberg, M., Gislason, G. H., Torp-Pedersen, C., Andersson, C., & Holm, E. (2014). Falls and comorbidity: The pathway to fractures. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, *42*(3), 287-294. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494813516831</u>
- Kannus, P., Niemi, S., Palvanen, M., & Parkkari, J. (2005). Rising incidence of fallinduced injuries among elderly adults. *Journal of Public Health*, *13*(4), 212–215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10389-005-0115-0</u>
- Kannus, P., Niemi, S., Parkkari, J., Palvanen, M., & Sievänen, H. (2007). Alarming rise in fall-induced severe head injuries among elderly people. *Injury*, 38(1), 81-83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.injury.2006.08.027</u>
- Kannus, P., Niemi, S., Sievänen, H., & Parkkari, J. (2018). Fall-induced wounds and lacerations in older Finns between 1970 and 2014. Aging Clinical and Experimental Research, 30(1), 71–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40520-017-0753-4
- Kannus, P., Palvanen, M., Niemi, S., Sievänen, H., & Parkkari, J. (2009). Rate of proximal humeral fractures in older Finnish women between 1970 and 2007. *Bone*, 44(4), 656–659. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2008.12.007</u>
- Kannus, P., Parkkari, J., Niemi, S., & Sievänen, H. (2018). Continuously declining incidence of fall injuries in older adults: Nationwide statistics from Finland between 1970 and 2016. *European Geriatric Medicine*, 9(3), 371–375. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s41999-018-0053-3</u>
- Kannus, P., Sievänen, H., Palvanen, M., Järvinen, T., & Parkkari, J. (2005). Prevention of falls and consequent injuries in elderly people. *The Lancet*, 366(9500), 1885-1893. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67604-0</u>

- King, M. B., & Tinetti, M. E. (1995). Falls in community-dwelling older persons. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 43(10), 1146-1154. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.1995.tb07017.x</u>
- Korhonen, N., Niemi, S., Palvanen, M., Parkkari, J., Sievänen, H., & Kannus, P. (2012). Declining age-adjusted incidence of fall-induced injuries among elderly Finns. Age and Ageing, 41(1), 75-79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afr137</u>
- Kruger, M. J., & Nell, T. A. (2017). Bone mineral density in people living with HIV: A narrative review of the literature. *AIDS Research and Therapy*, *14*(1), 1-17.
- Lamb, S. E., Jørstad-Stein, E. C., Hauer, K., Becker, C., & Prevention of Falls Network Europe and Outcomes Consensus Group. (2005). Development of a common outcome data set for fall injury prevention trials: The prevention of falls network Europe consensus. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 53(9), 1618-1622. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53455.x</u>
- Lip, G., Andreotti, F., Fauchier, L., Huber, K., Hylek, E., Knight, E., Lane, D.A., Marin, F., Palareti., G., Kirchhof, P. (2011). Bleeding risk assessment and management in atrial fibrillation patients: A position document from the European Heart Rhythm Association, endorsed by the European Society of Cardiology Working Group on Thrombosis. *Europace*, 13(5), 723–746. https://doi.org/10.1093/europace/eur126
- Mahoney, J. E., Glysch, R. L., Guilfoyle, S. M., Hale, L. J., & Katcher, M. L. (2005). Trends, risk factors, and prevention of falls in older adults in Wisconsin. *Wisconsin Medical Journal*, 104(1), 22-28.
- Menon, D. K., Schwab, K., Wright, D. W., Maas, A. I., & Demographics and Clinical Assessment Working Group of the International and Interagency Initiative toward Common Data Elements for Research on Traumatic Brain Injury and Psychological Health. (2010). Position statement: Definition of traumatic brain injury. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 91(11), 1637-1640. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2010.05.017
- Miller, S. W. M., & Grimley Evans, J. (1985). Fractures of the distal forearm in Newcastle: An epidemiological survey. Age and Ageing, 14(3), 155-158. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/14.3.155
- Nachreiner, N. M., Findorff, M. J., Wyman, J. F., & McCarthy, T. C. (2007). Circumstances and consequences of falls in community-dwelling older women. *Journal of Women's Health*, 16(10), 1437-1446. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2006.0245
- Nilson, F., Moniruzzaman, S., Andersson, R. (2016). Hospitalized fall-related injury trends in Sweden between 2001 and 2010. *International Journal of Injury Control and Safety Promotion*, 23(3), 277-283. doi:10.1080/17457300.2015.1032980
- North West Local Health Integration Network. (n.d.). Advancing the future of health care: North West LHIN annual report 2016-2017. North West Local Health Integration Network.

http://www.northwestlhin.on.ca/~/media/sites/nw/reports/Annual%20Reports/201 6-2017%20North%20West%20LHIN%20Annual%20Report-ENG.pdf?la=en

Olij, B., Panneman, M., van Beeck, E., Haagsma, J., Hartholt, K., & Polinder, S. (2019). Fall-related healthcare use and mortality among older adults in the Netherlands, 1997–2016. *Experimental Gerontology*, *120*, 95–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2019.03.003

- Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. (2012). *Health Analyst's Toolkit*. <u>http://www.health.gov.on.ca/english/providers/pub/healthanalytics/health\_toolkit/ health\_toolkit.pdf</u>
- Orces, C. H. (2008). Trends in fall-related mortality among older adults in Texas. *Texas Medicine*, *104*(5), 55-59.
- Orces, C. (2013). Emergency department visits for fall-related fractures among older adults in the USA: A retrospective cross-sectional analysis of the National Electronic Injury Surveillance System All Injury Program, 2001–2008. BMJ Open, 3(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001722</u>
- Orces, C. H., & Martinez, F. J. (2011). Epidemiology of fall related forearm and wrist fractures among adults treated in US hospital emergency departments. *Injury Prevention*, *17*(1), 33-36. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/ip.2010.026799</u>
- Oudshoorn, C., Hartholt, K., Zillikens, M., Panneman, M., van Der Velde, N., Colin, E.M., Patka, P., van Der Cammen, T.J.M. (2012). Emergency department visits due to vertebral fractures in the Netherlands, 1986–2008: Steep increase in the oldest old, strong association with falls. *Injury*, 43(4), 458–461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.injury.2011.09.014
- Parachute. (2015). *Fall-related head injuries in adults 65 and over*. <u>https://parachute.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Ontario-Injury-Compass-September-2015.pdf</u>
- Parachute. (2016). *Injuries from falls on stairs in Ontario*. <u>https://parachute.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Ontario-Injury-Compass-December-2016.pdf</u>
- Parachute. (2018). Ontario injury data report 2018. <u>https://parachute.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/OIDR\_2018.pdf</u>
- Prudham, D., & Evans, J. G. (1981). Factors associated with falls in the elderly: A community study. *Age and Ageing*, *10*(3), 141-146. <u>https://doi-org.proxy1.lib.uwo.ca/10.1093/ageing/10.3.141</u>
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2005). *Report on seniors' falls in Canada*. Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada. http://publications.gc.ca/collections/Collection/HP25-1-2005E.pdf
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2014). *Report on seniors' falls in Canada: Second report.* <u>https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/migration/phac-aspc/seniors-aines/publications/public/injury-blessure/seniors\_falls-chutes\_aines/assets/pdf/seniors\_falls-chutes\_aines-eng.pdf</u>
- R Core Team. (2000). R language definition. *Vienna, Austria: R foundation for statistical computing*.
- R Core Team. (2016). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u>
- Schiller, J. S., Kramarow, E. A., Dey, A. N., & National Center for Health Statistics (U.S.). (2007). Fall injury episodes among noninstitutionalized older adults, United States, 2001-2003. Advance Data from Vital and Health Statistics of the National Center for Health Statistics, 392, 1–16.

- Scott, V. J., Peck, S. H. S., Kendall, P. R. W., & British Columbia Office of the Provincial Health Officer. (2004, January). Prevention of falls and injuries among the elderly: A special report from the office of the provincial health officer. https://www.health.gov.bc.ca/library/publications/year/2004/falls.pdf
- Scott, V., Wagar, L., & Elliott, S. (2010, April). Falls and fall-related injuries among older Canadians: Fall-related hospitalizations and prevention initiatives. <u>https://www.injuryresearch.bc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Elliott-Scott-</u> Wagnar-2011-Falls-Related-Injuries-among-Older-Canadians.pdf
- SMARTRISK. (2009). The economic burden of injury in Canada. <u>http://www.parachutecanada.org/downloads/research/reports/EBI2009-Eng-</u> <u>Final.pdf</u>
- Soubhi, H., Raina, P., Lisonkova, S., Brussoni, M., & Scott, V. (2002). Unintentional fall-related injuries and deaths among seniors in British Columbia: Trends, patterns and future projections, 1987-2012. <u>https://www.injuryresearch.bc.ca/reports-authors/lisonkova/</u>
- Statistics Canada. (2017a). *Census profile, 2016 census* [table]. <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/prof/search-recherche/lst/results-resultats.cfm?Lang=E&TABID=1&G=1&Geo1=&Code1=&Geo2=&Code2=&GEOCODE=35&type=0</u>
- Statistics Canada. (2017b). *Age-standardized rates*. https://www.statcan.gc.ca/eng/dai/btd/asr
- Statistics Canada. (n.d.). *Table 17-10-0005-01 Population estimates on July 1st, by age* and sex. <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tb11/en/tv.action?pid=1710000501</u>
- Statistics Canada. (2019). 2011 census of Canada: Topic based tabulations [table]. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 98-311-XCB2011018. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2011/dp-pd/tbt-tt/Rpeng.cfm?TABID=2&LANG=E&APATH=3&DETAIL=0&DIM=0&FL=A&FRE E=0&GC=0&GK=0&GRP=1&PID=101998&PRID=35&PTYPE=101955&S=0 &SHOWALL=0&SUB=0&Temporal=2011&THEME=88&VID=0&VNAMEE= &VNAMEF=
- Stevens, J., & Dellinger, A. (2002). Motor vehicle and fall related deaths among older Americans 1990–98: sex, race, and ethnic disparities. *Injury Prevention*, 8(4), 272–275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/ip.8.4.272</u>
- Stevens, J. A., Hasbrouck, L. M., Durant, T. M., Dellinger, A. M., Batabyal, P. K., Crosby, A. E., Valluru., B.R., Kresnow., M., & Guerrero, J. L. (1999). Surveillance for injuries and violence among older adults. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report: CDC Surveillance Summaries*, 27-50.
- Stevens, J. A., Mack, K. A., Paulozzi, L. J., & Ballesteros, M. F. (2008). Self-reported falls and fall-related injuries among persons aged ≥ 65 years-United States, 2006. *Journal of Safety Research*, 39(3), 345-349. doi:10.1016/j.jsr.2008.05.002
- Stevens, J., Thomas, K., Teh, L., & Greenspan, A. (2009). Unintentional fall injuries associated with walkers and canes in older adults treated in U.S. emergency departments. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 57(8), 1464–1469. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009.02365.x

- Teasell, R., Bayona, N., Marshall, S., Cullen, N., Bayley, M., Chundamala, J., Villamere, J., Mackie, D., Rees, L., Hartridge, C., Lippert, C., Hilditch, M., Welch-West, P., Weiser, M., Ferri, C., Mccabe, P., Mccormick, A., Aubut, J-A., Comper, P., Salter, K., Van Reekum, R., Collins, D., Foley, N., Nowak, J., Jutai, J., Speechley, M., Hellings, C., & Tu, L. (2007). A systematic review of the rehabilitation of moderate to severe acquired brain injuries. *Brain Injury*, 21(2), 107-112. doi:10.1080/02699050701201524
- Thompson, H. J., McCormick, W. C., & Kagan, S. H. (2006). Traumatic brain injury in older adults: Epidemiology, outcomes, and future implications. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 54(10), 1590-1595. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2006.00894.x
- Thomson, W., Stephenson, S., Kieser, J., & Langley, J. (2003). Dental and maxillofacial injuries among older New Zealanders during the 1990s. *International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Surgery*, 32(2), 201–205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1054/ijom.2002.0373</u>
- Tinetti, M. E., Speechley, M., & Ginter, S. F. (1988). Risk factors for falls among elderly persons living in the community. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 319(26), 1701-1707. doi:10.1056/NEJM198812293192604
- Utah Department of Health. (2016). *Falls among older adults*. <u>https://www.health.utah.gov/vipp/pdf/OlderAduts/FallsAmongOlderAdults2016.p</u> <u>df</u>
- Virjo, I., Mäkelä, K., Aho, J., Kalliola, P., Kurunmäki, H., Uusitalo, L., Valli., M., & Ylinen, S. (2010). Who receives anticoagulant treatment with warfarin and why? A population-based study in Finland. *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care*, 28(4), 237-241. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/02813432.2010.514138</u>
- Watson, W. L., & Mitchell, R. (2011). Conflicting trends in fall-related injury hospitalisations among older people: Variations by injury type. *Osteoporosis International*, 22(10), 2623-2631.
- Wickham, H., Francois, R. (2015). dplyr: A grammar of data manipulation. R package version 0.4.3. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=dplyr</u>
- World Health Organization. (2017). *Global strategy and action plan on ageing and health*. <u>https://www.who.int/ageing/WHO-GSAP-2017.pdf?ua=1</u>
- World Health Organization. (2018, April 6). *Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy data by country*.

https://apps.who.int/gho/data/view.main.SDG2016LEXv?lang=en

Zecevic, A. A., Chesworth, B. M., Zaric, G. S., Huang, Q., Salmon, A., McAuslan, D., Welch., R., & Brunton, D. (2012). Estimating the cost of serious injurious falls in a Canadian acute care hospital. *Canadian Journal on Aging / La Revue Canadienne Du Vieillissement, 31*(2), 139-147. doi:10.1017/S0714980812000037

## Appendices

Appendix A. Ethics Approval



Date: 12 July 2018

To: Aleksandra Zecevic

Project ID: 109335

Study Title: The Association Between Health Indicators and Serious Fall-related Injuries in Older Adults

Application Type: Continuing Ethics Review (CER) Form

Review Type: Delegated

REB Meeting Date: 07/Aug/2018

Date Approval Issued: 12/Jul/2018

REB Approval Expiry Date: 10/Jul/2019

\*\*\*Lapse in Approval: July 11, 2018 to July 12, 2018\*\*\*

#### Dear Aleksandra Zecevic,

The Western University Research Ethics Board has reviewed the application. This study, including all currently approved documents, has been re-approved until the expiry date noted above.

REB members involved in the research project do not participate in the review, discussion or decision.

Western University REB operates in compliance with, and is constituted in accordance with, the requirements of the TriCouncil Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS 2); the International Conference on Harmonisation Good Clinical Practice Consolidated Guideline (ICH GCP); Part C, Division 5 of the Food and Drug Regulations; Part 4 of the Natural Health Products Regulations; Part 3 of the Medical Devices Regulations and the provisions of the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act (PHIPA 2004) and its applicable regulations. The REB is registered with the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services under the IRB registration number IRB 00000940.

Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have any questions.

Sincerely,

Daniel Wyzynski, Research Ethics Coordinator, on behalf of Dr. Joseph Gilbert, HSREB Chair

Note: This correspondence includes an electronic signature (validation and approval via an online system that is compliant with all regulations).



Date: 7 July 2019

To: Aleksandra Zecevic

Project ID: 109335

Study Title: The Association Between Health Indicators and Serious Fall-related Injuries in Older Adults

Application Type: Continuing Ethics Review (CER) Form

Review Type: Delegated

REB Meeting Date: 16/Jul/2019

Date Approval Issued: 07/Jul/2019

REB Approval Expiry Date: 10/Jul/2020

Dear Aleksandra Zecevic,

The Western University Research Ethics Board has reviewed the application. This study, including all currently approved documents, has been re-approved until the expiry date noted above.

REB members involved in the research project do not participate in the review, discussion or decision.

Western University REB operates in compliance with, and is constituted in accordance with, the requirements of the TriCouncil Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS 2); the International Conference on Harmonisation Good Clinical Practice Consolidated Guideline (ICH GCP); Part C, Division 5 of the Food and Drug Regulations; Part 4 of the Natural Health Products Regulations; Part 3 of the Medical Devices Regulations and the provisions of the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act (PHIPA 2004) and its applicable regulations. The REB is registered with the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services under the IRB registration number IRB 00000940.

Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have any questions.

Sincerely,

Daniel Wyzynski, Research Ethics Coordinator, on behalf of Dr. Joseph Gilbert, HSREB Chair

Note: This correspondence includes an electronic signature (validation and approval via an online system that is compliant with all regulations).



Date: 15 June 2020

To: Aleksandra Zecevic

Project ID: 109335

Study Title: The Association Between Health Indicators and Serious Fall-related Injuries in Older Adults

Application Type: Continuing Ethics Review (CER) Form

Review Type: Delegated

REB Meeting Date: 16/Jun/2020

Date Approval Issued: 15/Jun/2020

REB Approval Expiry Date: 10/Jul/2021

Dear Aleksandra Zecevic,

The Western University Research Ethics Board has reviewed the application. This study, including all currently approved documents, has been re-approved until the expiry date noted above.

REB members involved in the research project do not participate in the review, discussion or decision.

Western University REB operates in compliance with, and is constituted in accordance with, the requirements of the TriCouncil Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS 2); the International Conference on Harmonisation Good Clinical Practice Consolidated Guideline (ICH GCP); Part C, Division 5 of the Food and Drug Regulations; Part 4 of the Natural Health Products Regulations; Part 3 of the Medical Devices Regulations and the provisions of the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act (PHIPA 2004) and its applicable regulations. The REB is registered with the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services under the IRB registration number IRB 00000940.

Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have any questions.

Sincerely,

Daniel Wyzynski, Research Ethics Coordinator, on behalf of Dr. Joseph Gilbert, HSREB Chair

Note: This correspondence includes an electronic signature (validation and approval via an online system that is compliant with all regulations).



**Dataset Creation Plan** 

This Section	Project Initiation must be Completed Prior to Proje	ect Dataset(s) Creation	on
Project Title:	The association between selected health indicators, prescription medications and serious fall-related injuries in older adults (REVISED July 2019)		
Project TRIM number:			
Research Program:	DAS		
Site:	ICES Western		
Project Objectives:	Insert Project Objectives as listed in the approved IC	ES Project PIA	
No. 899/1980-6 UNITER CONSEL CARE	The objective of this study is to investigat indicators, prescription medications and s	e the association betwe serious fall-related injuri	en selected health es in older adults
ICES Project PIA Initial Approval Date:	The ICES Employee or agent who is responsible for c there is an approved ICES Project PIA and verifying t	reating the Project Dataset(s) the date of approval prior to cr	is responsible for ensuring eating the Project Dataset(s)
	2017-Jul-12		
Principal Investigator (PI):	Aleksandra Zecevic		
Check the applicable box if the PI is an ICES Student/Trainee	□ ICES Student □ ICES Fellow □ ICE	ES Post-Doctoral Trainee	□ Visiting Scholar
Responsible ICES Scientist:	Name the Responsible ICES Scientist if the PI is not a	Full Status ICES Scientist	
Project Team Member(s) Responsible for Project Dataset Creation and/or Statistical	All person(s) (ICES Analyst, Appointed Analyst, Analytic Epidemiologist, PI, and/or Student) responsible for creating the Project Dataset(s) and/or statistical analysis on the Research Analytics Environment (RAE) <u>and the</u> <u>date they joined the project</u> must be recorded		
Analysis and date joined (list all):	Aleksandra Zecevic, Yu Ming		2017-Jul-12
	<del>Tyson Schierholtz</del>		<del>2017 Dec 01</del>
	Nicolette Lappan		2018-Nov-6
Other ICES Project Team Members and date joined (list all):	All other Research Project Team Members (e.g., Res Project Managers, Epidemiologists) <u>and the date th</u>	earch Administrative Assistant ey joined the project must be r	ts, Research Assistants, ecorded
			yyyy-mon-dd
Confirmation that DCP is consistent with Project Objectives:	The following individuals must confirm that the ICES to cohort, timeframe, and variables) and required to PIA <u>prior to initial Project Dataset creation</u> ; 1) Pi; 2) Scientist, or a second ICES Scientist or the Scientific Project Dataset[s]; 3) ICES Research and Analysis Sta Employee or agent responsible for creating the Proj e-mail.	5 Data provided for in this DCP o achieve the Project Objective Responsible ICES Scientist if th Program Lead if the PI is creati aff creating the DCP; and 4) ICI ect Dataset[s]). This may be de	is relevant (e.g., with respect s stated in the ICES Project e PI is not a Full Status ICES ing both the DCP and the ES Analytic Staff (ICES elegated either verbally or via
	Principal Investigator Aleksandra Zecev	ic 🗆	2017-Aug-21
	Responsible ICES Scientist or Second ICES	Scientist/Lead	yyyy-mon-dd
	ICES Research and Analysis Staff Creating	g the DCP 🛛	yyyy-mon-dd
	ICES Analytic Staff		yyyy-mon-dd
Designated ICES Research and Analysis Staff accountable for Project Documentation:	The person named (ICES staff) is accountable for en Amendments, and DCP are saved on the T Drive, en required, ensuring DCP Amendments are documents Scientist at project completion	suring that the approved ICES : suring ICES Project PIA Amendi ed, and sharing the final DCP v	Project PIA, ICES Project PIA ments are submitted as with the PI/Responsible ICES
DCP Creation Date and Author	Date DCP was finalized prior to Project		
	Dataset(s) creation Na	me of person who created the	DCP
	Date No	ame	_ 1010/101_
ICES DCP Template v. 1.5 (04/11/16)			Page 1



**Dataset Creation Plan** 

Project	Initiation
This Section must be Completed I	Prior to Project Dataset(s) Creation
2017-Aug-20	Yu Ming, Tyson Schierholtz, Aleksandra Zecevic
2019-Jul-8	Nicolette Lappan

ICES DCP Template v. 1.5 (04/11/16)

ICES

**Dataset Creation Plan** 

ICES Data This Section must be Completed Prior to Project Dataset(s) Creation		
The ICES Employee or agent who is responsible for creating the Project Dataset(s) must ensure that this list includes only data listed in the ICES Project PIA	Mandatory for all datasets that are available by	
General Use Datasets – Health Services	Years (where applicable)	
See list		
See list		
General Use Datasets – Care Providers		
See list		
See list		
General Use Datasets – Population		
See list		
See list		
General Use Datasets – Coding/Geography		
See list		
See list		
General Use Datasets - Facilities		
See list		
General Use Datasets - Other		
See list		
See list		
Controlled Use Datasets		
See list		
See list		
Other Datasets		

ICES DCP Template v. 1.5 (04/11/16)



## **Dataset Creation Plan**

	Project Ar	nendments and Re	conciliation
ICES Project PIA Amendment History (add additional rows as	Privacy approval date	Person who submitted amendment	Note that any changes to the list of ICES Data or Project Objectives require an ICES Project PIA Amendment
needed):	Date	Name	Amendment
	yyyy-mon-dd		
DCP Amendment History (add additional rows as needed):	Date DCP amended	Person who made the DCP amendment	Note that any DCP amendments involving changes to the list of ICES Data or Project Objectives require an ICES Project PIA Amendment
	Date	Name	Amendment
	yyyy-mon-dd		
Date Programs/DCP reconciled	The person(s) crea reflects the final p	ating the dataset and/or anal program(s) when the project is	yzing the data are responsible for ensuring that the final DCP s completed
	yyyy-mon-dd		

	Project Cohort
Study Design	□ Cohort study □ Matched cohort study ⊠ Case-control study
	Cross-sectional study Other (specify):
Index Event / Inclusion Criteria	<ul> <li>Serious Fall-Related Injuries and Death (Appendix A – ICD-10 W, S and T codes). When cutting a cohort of cases, please keep information on all 10 diagnostic codes from NACRS (e.g., dx10code1 – dx10code10), so we can confirm W code is combined with S or T code (e.g., S and W, T and W, S&amp;T and W) to make it "fall-related".</li> <li>Case group inclusion criteria:         <ul> <li>a) Older adults 65 years and older</li> <li>b) Residents of Ontario</li> <li>c) Presented to Emergency Department</li> <li>d) Diagnosed with a serious fall-related injury or death due to fall-related injury. Fall related injury is defined by combining ICD-10 codes for falls W00-W19 with ICD-1 codes for injuries S00-S99 or T00-T14. The time between codes W00-W19 and codes S00-S99 or T00-T14 should be the same day. Descriptive information (e.g., brakedown of S00-S99 or T00-T14 and W00-W19 codes) should be included into the dataset to allow analysis of injury types.)</li> <li>e) Diagnosed between Jan 1 2006 and Dec 31 2015.</li> </ul> </li> <li>Control group         <ul> <li>a) Matched to the case group by sex, age Charlson Comorbidity Index score, and LHIN, with a ratio of 1.5 to 1.</li> <li>b) Exclude the patients having serious fall-related injuries (codes W00-W19, codes S00-S99 or T00-14) between Jan 1, 2006 and Dec 31, 2015.</li> </ul> </li> <li>The date of visiting Emergency Department due to serious fall-related injury will be defined as the index event date.</li> <li>For individuals with repetitive serious fall-related injuries during the observation period, the first time and consecutive visits to ED due to serious fall-related injury will be taken into account to the serious fall-related injury will be taken into account to the serious fall-related injury will be taken into account to the serious fall-related injury will be taken into account to the serious fall-related injury will be taken into a</li></ul>
Estimated Size of Cohort (if known)	
Exclusions (in order)	Step Description

ICES DCP Template v. 1.5 (04/11/16)

l

Ĩ

Page 4

Project Cohort		
	1 Invalid IKN	
	2 Incomplete information (e.g, missing age or missing sex information, non-Ontario residents, died before ED visits)	
	3 <65 years old at the index event date	
	4 Patients who have experienced in-hospital serious fall-related injuries	
	5 Excluding diagnoses that are suspected, questionable, rule out.	
	6 Excluding transferred ED visits.	
	7 Excluding ED visits from which a patient left without being seen.	
	8 Excluding scheduled ED visits.	



Variable Definitions (add additional rows as needed)		
Main Exposure or Risk Factor	For the full list of variables, please refer to Appendix B – Variables from N≙CRS, CIHI- DAD, RAI-HC and ODB.	
Primary Outcome Definition	Serious fall-related injuries (ICD-10 codes W00-W19 combined with S00-S99 or T00-T14 ICD-10 codes)	
Secondary Outcome Definition(s)	Death	
Baseline Characteristics	Case and Control: age, sex, Charlson Comoribidity Index score, LHIN	
Other Variables	Variables needed from NACRS, CIHI-DAD, RAI-HC and ODB databases are provided in attached file (Appendix B). IMPORTANT: to reduce number of observations we decided NOT to proceed with	
	analysis of OHIP data, hence we excluded it in this revision.	

ICES DCP Template v. 1.5 (04/11/16)

ICES

## **Dataset Creation Plan**

Analysis Plar	and Dummy Tables (expand/modify as needed)
Descriptive Tables (insert or append du	mmy tables), e.g.: See Appendix C and Appendix D
Table 1. Baseline characteristic	s according to primary/secondary exposure
	Descriptive statistics, measures of central tendency and dispersion for continuous variables, and frequency tables for categorical variables. Trends in the data across time will also be analyzed.
Table 2. Outcomes according to	o primary/secondary exposure: See dummy tables in Appendix D
Table 3. Covariates (baseline c	haracteristics) according to outcomes : See dummy tables in Appendix D
Statistical Model(s)	
Type of model	Cox Proportional Ha+zard Regression
Primary independent variable	Risk factors mentioned above
Dependent variable	Serious fall-related injuries and death
Covariates	
Sensitivity Analyses	
Type of model	
Primary independent variable	
Dependent variable	
Covariates	

	Quality Assurance	e Activities	
RAE Directory of SAS Programs			
RAE Directory of Final Dataset(s) The final analytic dataset for each cohort includes all the data required to create the baseline tables a run all the models. It should include all covariates for all models such as patient risk factors, hospital characteristics, physician characteristics, exposure measures (continuous, categorical) and outcomes. should include covariates that were considered but didn't make the final cut. This would permit an and to easily re-run the models in the future.		d to create the baseline tables and as patient risk factors, hospital ous, categorical) and outcomes. It nal cut. This would permit an analyst	
Date results of quality assurance to	ols for final dataset shared wi	th project team (where an	plicable):
Date results of quality assurance to	9	assign	yyyy-mon-dd
	9	6evolution	yyyy-mon-dd
	9	6 dinexplore	yyyy-mon-dd
	9	strack / %exclude	yyyy-mon-dd
	9	6codebook	yyyy-mon-dd
Additional comments:			5 5 5 5 constructions

ICES DCP Template v. 1.5 (04/11/16)

# Appendix C. List of ICD-10-CA Codes

Table C1

Codes for Fall Types based on the International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements

Fall type	ICD-10-CA code
Fall on same level involving ice and snow	W00
Fall on same level from slipping, tripping and stumbling	W01
Fall involving skates, skis, sport boards and in-line skates	W02
Other fall on same level due to collision with, or pushing by, another person	W03
Fall while being carried or supported by other persons	W04
Fall involving wheelchair and other types of walking devices	W05
Fall involving wheelchair	W0500
Fall involving walker	W0501
Fall involving bed	W06
Fall involving chair	W07
Fall involving other furniture	W08
Fall involving playground equipment	W09
Fall on and from stairs and steps	W10
Fall on and from ladder	W11
Fall on and from scaffolding	W12
Fall from, out of or through building or structure	W13
Fall from tree	W14
Fall from cliff	W15
Diving or jumping into water causing injury other than drowning or	W16
submersion	117
Other fall from one level to another	W17
Other fall on same level	W18
Unspecified fall	W19

*Note.* CIHI, 2015. ICD 10-CA = International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements.

#### Table C2

-

Codes for Body Locations based on the International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements

Ennuncemenis	
Body location	ICD 10-CA codes
Head	S00-S09
Neck	S10-S19
Trunk	S20-S29 (thorax)
	S30-S39 (abdominal, lower back, lumbar spine and pelvis)
	T08, T09 (spine, trunk)
Upper limb	S40-S49 (shoulder and upper arm)
	S50-S59 (elbow and forearm)
	S60-S69 (wrist and hand)
	T10, T11 (level unspecified)
Lower limb	S70-S79 (hip and thigh)
	S80-S89 (knee and lower leg)
	S90-S99 (ankle and foot)
	T12, T13 (level unspecified)
Multiple regions	T00-T07
Unspecified level	T14 (unspecified body region)

*Note.* CIHI, 2015. ICD 10-CA = International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements.

Codes for Injury Types based on the International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements

Injury type	ICD-10-CA codes
Fracture	S02, S12, S22, S32, S42, S52, S62, S72, S82, S92, T02, T08, T10, T12, T142
Superficial	S00, S10, S20, S30, S40, S50, S60, S70, S80, S90, T00, T090, T110, T130, T140
Open wound	S01, S11, S21, S31, S41, S51, S61, S71, S81, S91, T01, T091, T111, T131, T141
Sprain, strain, tear	\$034, \$035, \$134, \$135, \$136, \$233, \$234, \$235, \$335, \$336, \$337, \$434-\$437, \$532,
	\$533, \$534, \$633, \$634, \$635, \$636, \$637, \$731, \$832, \$833, \$834, \$835, \$836, \$932,
	\$934, \$935, \$936
TBI	S060, S061, S062, S063, S064, S065, S066, S067, S068, S069
Dislocation	\$030, \$031, \$032, \$033, \$131, \$132, \$133, \$231, \$232, \$331, \$332, \$333, \$430, \$431,
	\$432, \$433, \$530, \$531, \$630, \$631, \$632, \$730, \$830, \$831, \$930, \$931, \$933
Muscle, fascia, tendon	S091, S16, S290, S390, S46, S56, S66, S76, S86, S96, T064, T095, T115, T135, T146
Internal organ	S26, S27, S36, S37, S396, T065
Other or unspecified	S092, S097, S098, S099, S130, S197, S198, S199, S230, S297, S298, S299, S330, S334,
-	S397, S398, S399, S497, S498, S499, S597, S598, S599, S697, S698, S699, S797, S798,
	S799, S837, S897, S898, S899, S997, S998, S999, T03, T060, T061, T068, T07, T098,
	T099, T112, T118, T119, T132, T138, T139, T143, T148, T149

*Note.* TBI = Traumatic Brain Injury. ICD 10-CA = International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements. CIHI, 2015.

Table C4

Codes for Fracture by Body Location based on the International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements

Body location	ICD 10-CA codes
Head	S02 (skull and face)
Neck	S120, S121, S122, S127 (cervical spine)
	S128, S129 (other neck)
Trunk	S220, S221 (thoracic spine)
	S222 (sternum)
	S223, S224, S225 (ribs)
	S228, S229 (other thorax)
	S320 (lumbar spine)
	\$321, \$322, \$323, \$324, \$325 (pelvis)
	S327, S328 (other abdomen)
	T021 (thorax, lower back, pelvis)
Spine (all levels)	S120, S121, S122, S127 (cervical spine)
	S220, S221 (thoracic spine)
	S320 (lumbar spine)
	T08 (unspecified level)
Abdomen	S320 (lumbar spine)
	S321, S322, S323, S324, S325 (pelvis)
	S327, S328 (other abdomen)
Shoulder and upper arm	S420 (clavicle)
	S421 (scapula)
	S422, S423, S424 (humerus)
	S422 (proximal humerus)
E.	S427, S428, S429 (other and multiple shoulder or upper arm)
Forearm	552
Wrist and hand	S62
Hip and thigh	S720, S721, S722 (hip)
	S723, S724, S727, S728, S729 (femur)
Knee and lower leg	S820, S821, S822, S823, S824, S827, S829 (knee, lower leg)
_	S825, S826, S828 (ankle)
Foot	S92
Multiple body regions	T020 (head + torso)
	T021 (thorax + lower back or pelvis)
	T022 (multiple locations on one upper limb)
	T023 (multiple locations on one lower limb)
	T024 (both upper limbs)
	T025 (both lower limbs)
	T026, T027, T028, T029 (other multiple regions)
Unspecified level	
	T10 (upper limb)
	T12 (lower limb)
Unspecified fracture	T142

*Note*. CIHI, 2015. ICD 10-CA = International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements.

#### Table C5

with Canaatan Ennancements			
Body location	ICD 10-CA codes		
Head	S00		
Neck	S10		
Trunk	S20 (thorax)		
	S30 (abdomen)		
	T090 (level unspecified)		
Upper limb	S40 (shoulder and upper arm)		
	S50 (elbow and forearm)		
	S60 (wrist and hand)		
	T110 (level unspecified)		
Lower limb	S70 (hip and thigh)		
	S80 (knee and lower leg)		
	S90 (ankle and foot)		
	T130 (level unspecified)		
Multiple body regions	T00		
Unspecified body region	T140		

Codes for Superficial Injuries by Body Location based on the International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements

*Note.* CIHI, 2015. ICD 10-CA = International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements.

#### Table C6

Codes for Open Wounds by Body Location based on the International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements

Body location	ICD 10-CA codes
Head	S01
Neck	S11
Trunk	S21 (thorax)
	S31 (abdomen)
	T011 (thorax or abdomen)
	T090 (level unspecified)
Upper limb	S41 (shoulder and upper arm)
	S51 (elbow and forearm)
	S61 (wrist and hand)
	T012 (multiple locations)
	T111 (level unspecified)
Lower limb	S71 (hip and thigh)
	S81 (knee and lower leg)
	S91 (ankle and foot)
	T013 (multiple locations)
	T131 (level unspecified)
Multiple body regions	T010 (head $+$ neck)
	T016 (upper + lower limbs)
	T018, T019 (other or unspecified multiple regions)
Unspecified body region	T141
Note CIHI 2015 ICD 10-CA = Internation	tional Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian

*Note.* CIHI, 2015. ICD 10-CA = International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements.

Body location	ICD 10-CA codes
Head	S034 (jaw)
	S035 (other or unspecified)
Neck	S134 (cervical vertebrae)
	S135 (thyroid region)
	S136 (other or unspecified
Thorax	S233 (thoracic vertebrae)
	S234 (ribs and sternum)
	S235 (other or unspecified)
Lumbar spine and pelvis	S335 (lumbar spine)
	S336 (sacroiliac joint)
	S337 (other or unspecified)
Shoulder and upper arm	S434 (shoulder joint)
	S435 (acromioclavicular joint)
	S436 (sternoclavicular joint)
	S437 (other or unspecified)
Elbow and forearm	S532 (rupture of radial collateral ligament)
	S533 (rupture of ulnar collateral ligament)
	S534 (sprain or strain of elbow)
Wrist and hand	S633 (ligament rupture of wrist and carpus)
	S634 (ligament rupture of finger)
	S635 (sprain or strain of wrist)
	S636 (sprain or strain of finger)
	S637 (other sprain or strain)
Hip	S731
Knee and lower leg	S832 (tear of meniscus)
	S833 (tear of articular cartilage)
	S834 (collateral ligaments)
	S835 (cruciate ligaments)
	S832 (unspecified sprain or strain of knee)
Ankle and foot	S932 (rupture of ligament at ankle or foot)
	S934 (sprain or strain of ankle)
	S935 (sprain or strain of toe)
	S936 (other sprain or strain)

Codes for Sprains, Strains, or Tears by Body Location based on the International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements

*Note*. CIHI, 2015. ICD 10-CA = International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements.

#### Table C8

Codes for Traumatic Brain Injuries by Type based on the International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements

Type of TBI	ICD 10-CA codes		
Concussion	S060		
Diffuse brain injury	S062		
Focal brain injury	S063		
Haemorrhage	S064, S065, S066, S067, S068		
Other TBI	S061, S069		

*Note.* CIHI, 2015. TBI = Traumatic Brain Injury. ICD 10-CA = International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements.

#### Table C9

Body location	ICD 10-CA codes
Head	S030 (jaw)
	S031 (nose)
	S032 (tooth)
	S033 (unspecified)
Neck	S131 (cervical vertebrae)
	S132 (other or unspecified)
	S133 (multiple dislocations)
Thorax	S231 (thoracic vertebrae)
	S232 (other or unspecified)
Lumbar spine and pelvis	S331 (lumbar vertebrae)
	S332 (sacroiliac or sacrococcygeal joint)
	S333 (other or unspecified)
Shoulder and upper arm	S430 (shoulder)
	S431 (acromioclavicular joint)
	S432 (sternoclavicular joint)
	S433 (other or unspecified shoulder)
Elbow and forearm	S530 (radial head)
	S531 (elbow)
Wrist and hand	S630 (wrist)
	S631 (finger)
	S632 (multiple fingers)
Hip	S730
Knee and lower leg	S830 (patella)
	S831 (knee)
Ankle and foot	S930 (ankle)
	S931 (metatarsophalangeal joint)
	S933 (other foot)

Codes for Dislocations by Body Location based on the International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements

*Note*. CIHI, 2015. TBI = traumatic brain injury. ICD 10-CA = International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements.

#### Table C10

Codes for Locations of Fall-Related Injury Events based on the International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements

Injury location	ICD-10-CA codes
Home	U980
Residential institution	U981
School, other institution, public	U982
Sports and athletics area	U983
Street and highway	U984
Trade and service area	U985
Industrial and construction area	U986
Farm	U987
Other specified	U988
Unspecified	U989

*Note*. CIHI, 2015. ICD 10-CA = International Classification of Diseases Tenth Edition with Canadian Enhancements.

Table D1         Population of Older Adults in Ontario by Age Group and Year						
Age group (years)	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	Total
65-69	545,176	570,269	616,006	654,852	686,061	3,072,364
70-74	429,734	441,675	455,534	474,736	493,339	2,295,018
75-79	353,355	355,908	359,678	366,520	376,139	1,811,600
80-84	265,780	271,772	277,039	280,963	284,239	1,379,793
85-89	162,691	166,263	171,242	175,981	179,180	855,357
90+	75,999	82,943	89,716	95,627	101,967	446,252
Total	1,832,735	1,888,830	1,969,215	2,048,679	2,120,925	9,860,384

Note. Statistics Canada, n.d.

# Table D2

Population of Female Older Adults in Ontario by Age Group and Year

Age group (years)	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	Total
65-69	284,066	296,657	319,859	340,063	356,670	1,597,315
70-74	229,826	236,070	243,179	252,910	261,926	1,223,911
75-79	194,649	195,549	197,043	200,118	205,191	992,550
80-84	156,544	158,601	160,416	161,614	162,541	799,716
85-89	106,143	107,926	109,827	111,359	112,083	547,338
90+	55,489	60,100	64,639	68,828	73,139	322,195
Total	1,026,717	1,054,903	1,094,963	1,134,892	1,171,550	5,483,025

Note. Statistics Canada, n.d.

#### Table D3

Population of Male Older Adults in Ontario by Age Group and Year

Age group (years)	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	Total
65-69	261,110	273,612	296,147	314,789	329,391	1,475,049
70-74	199,908	205,605	212,355	221,826	231,413	1,071,107
75-79	158,706	160,359	162,635	166,402	170,948	819,050
80-84	109,236	113,171	116,623	119,349	121,698	580,077
85-89	56,548	58,337	61,415	64,622	67,097	308,019
90+	20,510	22,843	25,077	26,799	28,828	124,057
Total	806,018	833,927	874,252	913,787	949,375	4,377,359

Note. Statistics Canada, n.d.

Table E1         Standard Population of Older Adults by Age Group and Sex							
Age group (years)	Population of both sexes	Weight of both sexes <sup>a</sup>	Population of females	Population of males			
65+	1,878,325	N/A	1,045,215	833,105			
65-69	563,485	30.0%	292,610	270,875			
70-74	440,785	23.5%	234,430	206,350			
75-79	356,150	19.0%	194,805	161,340			
80-84	271,510	14.5%	157,890	113,615			
85-89	165,775	8.8%	107,370	58,410			
90+	80,620	4.3%	58,110	22,515			

Appendix D. Ontario Standard Population for Age-Standardized Rates

*Note.* <sup>a</sup> Weight calculated by dividing population for a given age group by the entire population; weights were rounded to the nearest single decimal. Population counts were rounded to the nearest five people. Statistics Canada, 2019.

# Appendix E. LHIN Populations in 2013

**Table F1**Population of Older Adults per Local Health Integration Network in 2013 Only

LHIN	Ν
1. Erie St. Clair	101,420
2. South West	153,395
3. Waterloo Wellington	94,130
4. Hamilton Niagara Haldimond Brant	230,015
5. Central West	89,755
6. Mississauga Halton	132,920
7. Toronto Central	151,245
8. Central	225,965
9. Central East	224,400
10. South East	90,550
11. Champlain	175,575
12. North Simcoe Muskoka	74,165
13. North East	99,410
14. North West	35,400

Note. LHIN = Local Health Integration Network. Rates were reported per 100,000. Statistics Canada, 2017b

# Appendix F. Results for Chronic Conditions at Emergency Department and Hospital



**Figure G1** *Patients with Chronic Conditions at the Emergency Department by Sex (2010-2014)* 

*Note.* Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations among older adults per sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. COPD = Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease.

122

Injury Type —	Asthma		COPD		Dementia	Dementia		Diabetes		Hypertension	
	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	
Fracture	13,185 (15.4)	240	20,511 (23.9)	374	12,878 (15.0)	235	22,0467 (25.7)	402	64,096 (74.7)	1,169	
Face, skull	462 (15.4)	8	631 (21.0)	12	460 (15.3)	8	846 (28.2)	15	2,327 (77.5)	42	
Vertebral	581 (17.0)	11	966 (28.3)	18	540 (15.8)	10	919 (26.9)	17	2,684 (78.5)	49	
Clavicle	209 (15.7)	4	317 (23.8)	6	216 (16.2)	4	294 (22.1)	5	975 (73.3)	18	
Rib	785 (17.3)	14	1,329 (29.2)	24	613 (13.5)	11	1,304 (28.7)	24	3,614 (79.5)	66	
Humerus	1,586 (15.4)	29	2,535 (24.6)	46	1,391 (13.5)	25	3,054 (29.6)	56	7,877 (76.5)	144	
Forearm	2,921 (14.8)	53	4,029 (20.4)	73	1,807 (9.2)	33	4,128 (20.9)	75	13,604 (68.9)	428	
Wrist, hand	1,060 (16.5)	19	1,374 (21.4)	25	627 (9.8)	11	1,672 (26.1)	30	4,636 (72.2)	85	
Pelvis	567 (15.3)	10	983 (26.5)	18	822 (22.1)	15	934 (25.1)	17	2,986 (80.4)	54	
Hip	2,601 (14.1)	47	5,108 (27.7)	93	5,094 (27.6)	93	4,815 (26.1)	88	14,673 (79.5)	268	
Femur	332 (16.0)	6	546 (26.4)	10	368 (17.8)	7	569 (27.5)	10	1,639 (79.1)	30	
Lower leg	860 (15.5)	16	1,190 (21.5)	22	480 (8.7)	9	1,478 (26.7)	27	3,924 (70.7)	72	
Ankle	709 (15.0)	13	991 (20.9)	18	359 (7.6)	7	1,317 (27.8)	24	3,382 (71.4)	62	
Foot	828 (18.4)	15	1,016 (22.5)	19	288 (6.4)	5	1,208 (26.8)	22	3,158 (70.0)	58	
TBI	652 (15.4)	12	982 (23.2)	18	726 (17.2)	13	1,290 (30.5)	24	3,284 (77.6)	60	
Sprain	1,822 (17.9)	33	2,401 (23.6)	44	716 (7.0)	13	2,733 (26.9)	50	7,295 (71.8)	133	
Open wound	4,240 (16.3)	77	6,545 (25.1)	119	5,096 (19.5)	93	6,686 (25.6)	122	20,340 (78.0)	371	

 Table G1

 Chronic Conditions in Female Patients at the Emergency Department by Injury Type (2010-2014)

*Note.* COPD = Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. TBI = Traumatic Brain Injury. Sprain refers to sprains or strains of tendon or ligament, and tears of joint cartilage. Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of female observations per chronic condition and injury type as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's female population over the five years as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population. Percentages were calculated with the total number of female observations with each injury type and chronic condition as the numerator and the number of female observations with the same injury type as the denominator.

Chronic Conditions in Male Patients at the Emergency Department by Injury Type (2010-2014)										
Inium Tuno	Asth	ma	COPD		Dementia		Diabetes		Hypertension	
mjury rype	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate
Fracture	4,152 (11.6)	95	10,749 (30.0)	246	4,970 (13.9)	114	12,117 (33.8)	277	26,268 (73.3)	600
Face/skull	220 (11.0)	5	524 (26.2)	12	287 (14.3)	7	673 (33.6)	15	1,481 (74.0)	34
Vertebral	257 (11.8)	6	622 (28.6)	14	321 (14.8)	7	711 (32.7)	16	1,610 (74.1)	37
Clavicle	105 (11.8)	2	287 (32.2)	7	124 (13.9)	3	261 (29.3)	6	641 (71.9)	15
Rib	749 (12.2)	17	1,846 (30.2)	42	599 (9.8)	14	2,044 (33.4)	47	4,410 (72.0)	72.0
Humerus	343 (11.7)	8	927 (31.6)	21	392 (13.4)	9	1,080 (36.8)	25	2,190 (74.6)	50
Forearm	496 (11.2)	11	1,120 (25.2)	26	355 (8.0)	8	1,377 (31.0)	31	3,100 (69.7)	71
Wrist/hand	382 (12.7)	9	807 (26.9)	18	284 (9.5)	6	939 (31.3)	21	2,129 (70.9)	49
Pelvis	114 (10.4)	3	367 (33.6)	8	205 (18.8)	5	367 (33.6)	8	813 (74.5)	19
Hip	881 (11.1)	20	2,805 (35.4)	64	7,174 (27.2)	73	2,622 (33.1)	60	6,058 (76.5)	138
Femur	89 (14.5)	2	207 (33.8)	5	90 (14.7)	2	220 (35.9)	5	474 (77.3)	11
Lower leg	237 (10.4)	5	578 (25.4)	13	136 (6.0)	3	868 (38.2)	20	1,643 (72.2)	38
Ankle	180 (10.2)	4	440 (24.9)	10	101 (5.7)	2	664 (37.6)	15	1,303 (73.7)	30
Foot	164 (12.0)	4	365 (26.6)	8	75 (5.5)	2	490 (35.7)	11	959 (69.9)	22
TBI	481 (11.0)	11	1,149 (26.3)	26	644 (14.8)	15	1,677 (38.4)	38	3,367 (77.2)	77
Sprain	747 (12.9)	17	1,574 (27.3)	36	427 (7.4)	10	2,041 (35.4)	47	4,193 (72.7)	96
Open wound	2,925 (12.7)	67	6,952 (30.1)	159	4,000 (17.3)	91	7,593 (32.9)	173	17,411 (75.4)	398

Note. COPD = Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. TBI = Traumatic Brain Injury. Sprain refers to sprains or strains of tendon or ligament, and tears of joint cartilage. Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of male observations per chronic condition and injury type as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's male population over the five years as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population. Percentages were calculated with the total number of male observations with each injury type and chronic condition as the numerator and the number of male observations with the same injury type as the denominator.

123

Table G2

(2010-2014)											
Characteristic	Asth	Asthma		COPD		Dementia		Diabetes		Hypertension	
Characteristic	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	
Total <sup>a</sup>	17,337 (14.3)	176	31,260 (25.7)	317	17,848 (14.7)	181	34,163 (28.1)	346	90,364 (74.3)	916	
Sex <sup>b</sup>											
Female	13,185 (15.4)	240	20,511 (23.9)	374	12,878 (15.0)	235	22,046 (25.7)	402	64,096 (74.7)	1,169	
Male	4,152 (11.6)	95	10,749 (30.0)	246	4,970 (13.9)	114	12,117 (33.8)	277	26,096 (73.3)	600	
Age Group (yea	rs) <sup>c</sup>										
65-69	3,994 (14.8)	130	5,606 (20.7)	182	741 (2.7)	24	7,045 (26.1)	229	15,882 (58.8)	517	
70-74	3,098 (15.0)	135	4,948 (24.0)	216	1,145 (5.6)	50	6,039 (29.3)	263	14,117 (68.5)	615	
75-79	3,165 (15.1)	175	5,649 (27.0)	312	2,425 (11.6)	134	6,664 (31.8)	368	16,148 (77.0)	891	
80-84	3,138 (14.2)	227	6,288 (28.4)	456	4,448 (20.1)	322	6,656 (30.1)	482	17,940 (81.1)	1,300	
85-89	2,506 (13.5)	293	5,333 (28.6)	623	5,018 (26.9)	587	5,086 (27.3)	595	15,740 (84.5)	1,840	
90+	1,436 (11.6)	176	3,436 (27.8)	770	4,071 (33.0)	912	2,673 (21.7)	599	10,537 (85.3)	2,361	

Table G3Chronic Conditions in Patients with Fractures at the Emergency Department by Sex and Age Group(2010-2014)

*Note.* COPD = Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. <sup>a</sup> Crude rate was calculated with total number of fracture observations at the ED as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. <sup>c</sup> Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000. Percentages were calculated using the total number of FRI observations per sex or age group as the denominator; total N = 304,610, female N = 192,044, male N = 112,566 in males, N = 67,837 in 65-69 group, N = 51,958 in 70-74 group, N = 53,384 in 75-79 group, N = 56,008 in 80-84 group, N = 46,185 in 85-89 group, N = 29,238 in the 90+ group.

	Asthma		COP	COPD		Dementia		Diabetes		Hypertension	
Characteristic	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	
Total <sup>a</sup>	3,482 (13.2)	35	7,913 (30.0)	80	7,174 (27.2)	73	7,437 (28.2)	75	20,731 (78.6)	210	
Sex <sup>b</sup>											
Female	2,601 (14.1)	47	5,108 (27.7)	93	5,094 (27.6)	93	4,815 (26.1)	88	14,673 (79.5)	268	
Male	881 (11.1)	20	2,805 (35.4)	64	2,080 (26.3)	48	2,622 (33.1)	60	6,058 (76.5)	138	
Age group (yea	rs) <sup>c</sup>										
65-69	326 (14.9)	11	673 (30.8)	22	169 (7.7)	6	634 (29.0)	21	1,319 (60.4)	43	
70-74	378 (15.2)	16	796 (32.1)	35	320 (12.9)	14	813 (32.8)	35	1,724 (69.5)	75	
75-79	588 (15.1)	32	1,233 (31.7)	68	776 (19.9)	43	1,293 (33.2)	71	2,995 (76.9)	165	
80-84	812 (13.4)	59	1,840 (30.4)	133	1,824 (30.1)	132	1,814 (30.0)	131	4,838 (79.9)	351	
85-89	803 (12.4)	94	1,892 (29.2)	221	2,153 (33.3)	252	1,778 (27.5)	208	5,398 (83.4)	631	
90+	575 (10.9)	129	1,479 (28.0)	331	1,932 (36.6)	433	1,105 (20.9)	248	4,457 (84.4)	999	

Table G4
Chronic Conditions in Patients with Hip Fractures by Demographic Characteristics at the Emergency
Department (2010-2014)

*Note.* COPD = Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. <sup>a</sup> Crude rate was calculated with total number of fracture observations at the ED as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. <sup>c</sup> Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000. Percentages were calculated using the total number of FRI observations per sex or age group as the denominator.

	Asthma COPD			Dementia	Diabetes		Hypertension			
	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate
Total <sup>a</sup>	23,176 (16.2)	235	46,338 (32.4)	470	29,303 (20.5)	297	48,449 (33.8)	491	116,475 (81.3)	1,181
Sex <sup>b</sup>										
Female	15,644 (17.9)	285	26,465 (30.2)	483	18,455 (21.1)	337	27,052 (30.9)	493	72,024 (82.2)	1,314
Male	7,532 (13.5)	172	19,873 (35.7)	454	10,848 (19.5)	248	21,397 (38.5)	489	44,451 (80.0)	1,015
Age group <sup>c</sup>										
65-69	3,908 (18.2)	127	6,474 (30.2)	211	1,205 (5.6)	39	7,725 (36.0)	251	14,780 (69.0)	481
70-74	3,592 (18.3)	157	6,405 (32.6)	279	1,892 (9.6)	82	7,391 (37.6)	322	14,953 (76.0)	652
75-79	4,197 (17.2)	232	8,249 (33.8)	455	4,009 (16.4)	221	9,363 (38.4)	517	19,960 (81.8)	1,102
80-84	4,816 (16.0)	349	10,138 (33.6)	735	7,428 (24.6)	538	10,577 (35.0)	767	25,505 (84.5)	1,848
85-89	4,161 (14.8)	486	9,129 (32.5)	1,067	8,312 (29.6)	972	8,664 (30.9)	1,013	24,309 (86.6)	2,842
90+	2,502 (12.8)	561	5,943 (30.5)	1,332	6,457 (33.2)	1,447	4,729 (24.3)	1,060	16,968 (87.1)	3,802

 Table G5

 Comorbidities by Injury Type and Demographic Characteristics among Patients in Hospital (2010-2016)

*Note.* COPD = Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. <sup>a</sup> Crude rate was calculated with total number of fracture observations at the hospital as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. <sup>c</sup> Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000. Percentages were calculated using the total number of FRI observations per sex or age group as the denominator.
	Asthma		COPD		Dementia		Diabetes		Hypertensio	n
	N (%)	Rate								
Total <sup>a</sup>	10,336 (14.9)	105	20,902 (30.1)	212	13,633 (19.7)	138	21,094 (30.4)	214	54,732 (78.9)	555
Sex <sup>b</sup>										
Female	7,718 (16.2)	141	13,476 (28.2)	246	9,648 (20.2)	176	13,400 (28.0)	244	38,112 (79.8)	695
Male	2,618 (12.1)	60	7,426 (34.4)	170	3,985 (18.5)	91	7,694 (35.6)	176	16,620 (77.0)	380
Age group <sup>c</sup>										
65-69	1,735 (16.4)	56	2,937 (27.8)	96	482 (4.6)	16	3,320 (31.4)	108	6,878 (65.1)	224
70-74	1,576 (16.9)	69	2,829 (30.4)	123	768 (8.2)	33	3,154 (33.8)	137	6,770 (72.6)	295
75-79	1,902 (16.5)	105	3,645 (31.5)	201	1,729 (15.0)	95	4,069 (35.2)	225	9,151 (79.1)	505
80-84	2,119 (14.7)	154	4,528 (31.5)	328	3,440 (23.9)	249	4,567 (31.8)	331	11,851 (82.4)	859
85-89	1,866 (13.7))	218	4,148 (30.4)	485	3,918 (28.8)	458	3,835 (28.1)	448	11,563 (84.9)	1,352
90+	1,138 (11.5)	255	2,815 (28.4)	631	3,296 (33.2)	739	2,149 (21.7)	482	8,519 (85.8)	1,909

 Table G6

 Comorbidities by Injury Type and Demographic Characteristics among Patients with Fractures at the Hospital (2010-2014)

*Note.* COPD = Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. <sup>a</sup> Crude rate was calculated with total number of fracture observations at the hospital as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. <sup>c</sup> Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000. Percentages were calculated using the total number of FRI observations per sex or age group as the denominator.

### Appendix H. Types of Falls at the Emergency Department and Hospital Levels of Care

Table H1	
Female Patents with Codes for Fall Types at the Emergency Department (2010-2014)	

Fall type	65-69 years		70-74 years		75-79 years		80-84 years		85-89 years		90+ years	
Fail type	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate
Slip, trip stumble	14,861 (36.2)	930	11,629 (36.9)	950	12,174 (37.2)	1,227	12,897 (36.8)	1,613	10,556 (34.4)	1,929	6,290 (30.0)	1,952
Unspecified	7,485 (18.2)	469	6,009 (19.1)	491	6,820 (20.8)	687	7,936 (22.6)	992	7,804 (25.5)	1,426	6,191 (29.5)	1,922
Other same level	4,896 (11.9)	307	4,073 (12.9)	333	4,777 (14.6)	481	5,600 (16.0)	700	5,406 (17.6)	988	3,937 (18.8)	1,222
Stairs, steps	6,380 (15.5)	399	4,670 (14.8)	382	4,267 (13.0)	430	3,745 (10.7)	468	2,390 (7.8)	437	1,021 (4.9)	317
Snow, ice	3,549 (8.6)	222	2,241 (7.1)	183	1,593 (4.9)	160	1,117 (3.2)	140	594 (1.9)	109	149 (0.7)	46
Bed	649 (1.6)	41	647 (2.1)	53	903 (2.8)	91	1,253 (3.6)	157	1,355 (4.4)	248	1,261 (6.0)	391
Chair	681 (1.7)	43	549 (1.7)	45	671 (2.0)	68	742 (2.1)	93	697 (2.3)	127	488 (2.3)	151
Walker	209 (0.5)	13	240 (0.8)	20	349 (1.1)	35	641 (1.9)	80	886 (2.9)	162	885 (4.2)	275
One level to other	772 (1.9)	48	511 (1.6)	42	388 (1.2)	39	324 (0.9)	41	272 (0.9)	50	133 (0.6)	41
Wheelchair	229 (0.6)	14	180 (0.6)	15	237 (0.7)	24	296 (0.8)	37	362 (1.2)	66	420 (2.0)	130
Ladder	537 (1.3)	34	320 (1.0)	26	202 (0.6)	20	143 (0.4)	18	73 (0.2)	13	14 (0.1)	4

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Snow, ice = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). Chair = 'Fall involving chair' (W07). Walker = 'Fall involving adult walker' (W0501). One level to other = 'Other fall from one level to another' (W17). Wheelchair = 'Fall involving wheelchair' (W0500). Ladder = 'Fall on and from ladder' (W11). Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations among females per age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's female population over the five years per age group as the denominator. Reported per 100,000 population. Percentages calculated with the number of FRI observations in females per age group as the denominator.

#### Table H2

Male Patients with Codes for Fall Types at the Emergency Department (2010-2014)

E-11 tour -	65-69 years		70-74 years		75-79 years		80-84 years		85-89 years		90+ years	
ran type	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate						
Slip, trip stumble	7,040 (26.3)	477	5,809 (28.5)	542	6,371 (30.9)	778	6,645 (31.7)	1,146	4,948 (31.9)	1,606	2,450 (29.6)	1,975
Unspecified	4,688 (17.5)	318	2,207 (18.5)	352	4,119 (20.0)	503	4,663 (22.2)	804	3,867 (24.9)	1,255	2,207 (26.7)	1,779
Other same level	3,252 (12.2)	220	2,657 (13.0)	248	2,892 (14.0)	353	3,334 (15.9)	575	2,611 (16.8)	848	1,574 (19.0)	1,269
Stairs, steps	3,315 (12.4)	225	2,506 (12.3)	234	2,413 (11.7)	295	2,214 (10.6)	382	1,378 (8.9)	447	529 (6.4)	426
Snow, ice	2,956 (11.1)	200	2,036 (10.1)	190	1,678 (8.1)	205	1,246 (5.9)	215	625 (4.0)	203	201 (2.4)	162
Ladder	2,204 (8.2)	149	1,305 (6.4)	122	928 (4.5)	113	496 (2.4)	86	160 (1.0)	52	54 (0.7)	44
Bed	514 (1.9)	35	523 (2.6)	49	629 (3.0)	77	769 (3.5)	133	711 (4.6)	231	462 (5.6)	372
One level to other	1.031 (3.9)	70	596 (2.9)	56	437 (2.1)	53	322 (1.5)	56	173 (1.1)	56	62 (0.7)	50
Chair	353 (1.3)	24	353 (1.7)	33	384 (1.9)	47	440 (2.1)	76	357 (2.3)	116	230 (2.8)	185
Wheelchair	259 (1.0)	18	169 (0.8)	16	213 (1.0)	26	274 (1.3)	47	241 (1.6)	78	168 (2.0)	135
Walker	93 (0.3)	6	113 (0.6)	11	179 (0.9)	22	298 (1.4)	51	317 (2.0)	103	263 (3.2)	212

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Snow, ice = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Ladder = 'Fall on and from ladder' (W11). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). One level to other = 'Other fall from one level to another' (W17). Chair = 'Fall involving chair' (W07). Wheelchair = 'Fall involving wheelchair' (W0500). Walker = 'Fall involving adult walker' (W0501). Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations among males per age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's male population over the five years per age group as the denominator. Reported per 100,000 population. Percentages calculated with the number of FRI observations in males per age group as the denominator.

Types of Tants seen a												
Fall type	65-69 yea	ars	70-74 years		75-79 years		80-84 years		85-89 years		90+ years	
Fail type	N (%)	Rate										
Slip, trip, stumble	6,765 (36.6)	424	5,296 (37.6)	433	5,552 (38.4)	559	5,909 (37.9)	739	4,975 (36.4)	909	3,037 (31.8)	943
Unspecified	3,237 (17.5)	203	2,649 (18.8)	216	2,885 (19.9)	291	3,484 (22.3)	436	3,415 (25.0)	624	2,802 (29.3)	870
Other same level	2,047 (11.1)	128	1,629 (11.6)	133	1,965 (13.6)	198	2,305 (14.8)	288	2,318 (16.9)	424	1,819 (19.1)	565
Stairs, steps	2,864 (15.5)	179	2.090 (14.8)	171	1,931 (13.3)	195	1,701 (10.9)	213	1,091 (8.0)	199	472 (4.9)	146
Snow, ice	1,923 (10.4)	120	1,240 (8.8)	101	903 (6.2)	91	653 (4.2)	82	356 (2.6)	65	72 (0.8)	22
Chair	259 (1.4)	16	237 (1.7)	19	273 (1.9)	28	335 (2.1)	42	289 (2.1)	53	207 (2.2)	64
Bed	211 (1.1)	13	208 (1.5)	17	313 (2.2)	32	495 (3.2)	62	493 (3.6)	90	478 (5.0)	148
Ladder	259 (1.4)	16	144 (1.0)	12	96 (0.7)	10	71 (0.5)	9	35 (0.3)	6	8 (0.1)	2
Walker	72 (0.4)	5	85 (0.6)	7	134 (0.9)	14	255 (1.6)	32	376 (2.7)	69	398 (4.2)	124
Wheelchair	84 (0.5)	5	70 (0.5)	6	74 (0.5)	7	103 (0.7)	13	109 (0.8)	20	135 (1.4)	42

Table H3	
Types of Falls seen in Female Patients with Fractures at the Emergency Department by Age Group (2010-2014)	

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Snow, ice = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Chair = 'Fall involving chair' (W07). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). Ladder = 'Fall on and from ladder' (W11). Walker = 'Fall involving adult walker' (W0501). Wheelchair = 'Fall involving wheelchair' (W0500). Walker = 'Fall involving adult walker' (W0501). Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of fracture observations among females per age group as the denominator. Reported per 100,000 population. Percentages calculated with the number of fracture observations in females per age group as the denominator.

Table H4	
Types of Falls seen in Male Patients with Fractures at the Emergency Department by Age Group (2010-2014	)

E-11 tours	65-69 ye	ars	70-74 years		75-79 years		80-84 years		85-89 years		90+ years	
Fan type	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate								
Slip, trip, stumble	2,104 (24.6)	143	1,787 (27.4)	167	1,988 (30.7)	243	2,061 (31.6)	355	1,562 (31.6)	507	842 (30.1)	679
Unspecified	1,494 (17.5)	101	1,150 (17.6)	107	1,295 (20.0)	158	1,425 (21.9)	246	1,271 (25.7)	413	758 (27.1)	611
Other same level	892 (10.4)	60	748 (11.5)	70	830 (12.8)	101	953 (14.6)	164	770 (15.6)	250	527 (18.8)	425
Stairs, steps	1,074 (12.6)	73	859 (13.2)	80	756 (11.7)	92	707 (10.8)	122	475 (9.6)	154	187 (6.7)	151
Snow, ice	986 (11.5)	67	777 (11.9)	73	620 (9.6)	76	482 (7.4)	83	255 (5.2)	83	89 (3.2)	72
Chair	85 (1.0)	6	104 (1.6)	10	109 (1.7)	13	138 (2.1)	24	105 (2.1)	34	73 (2.6)	59
Bed	103 (1.2)	7	96 (1.5)	9	142 (2.2)	17	184 (2.8)	32	182 (3.7)	59	129 (4.6)	104
Ladder	955 (11.2)	65	527 (8.1)	49	359 (5.5)	44	190 (2.9)	33	67 (1.4)	22	22 (0.8)	18
Walker	35 (0.4)	2	44 (0.7)	4	54 (0.8)	7	106 (1.6)	18	107 (2.2)	35	89 (3.2)	72
Wheelchair	78 (0.9)	5	50 (0.8)	5	53 (0.8)	6	73 (1.1)	13	54 (1.1)	18	39 (1.4)	31

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Snow, ice = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Chair = 'Fall involving chair' (W07). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). Ladder = 'Fall on and from ladder' (W11). Walker = 'Fall involving adult walker' (W0501). Wheelchair = 'Fall involving wheelchair' (W0500). Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of fracture observations among males per age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's male population over the five years per age group as the denominator. Reported per 100,000 population. Percentages calculated with the number of fracture observations in males per age group as the denominator.

E-11 to	65-69 years		70-74 years		75-79 years		80-84 years		85-89 years		90+ years	
Fail type	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate
Slip, trip, stumble	547 (40.0)	34	622 (39.5)	51	1,016 (38.7)	102	1,579 (37.8)	197	1,789 (38.3)	327	1,302 (32.3)	404
Unspecified	241 (17.6)	15	313 (19.9)	26	558 (21.2)	56	958 (22.9)	120	1,132 (24.2)	207	1,148 (28.5)	356
Other same level	212 (15.5)	13	240 (15.2)	20	466 (17.7)	47	758 (18.1)	95	846 (18.1)	155	822 (20.4)	255
Stairs, steps	116 (8.5)	7	153 (9.7)	13	215 (8.2)	22	295 (7.1)	37	234 (5.0)	43	141 (3.5)	44
Bed	31 (2.3)	2	42 (2.7)	3	81 (3.1)	8	163 (3.9)	20	198 (4.2)	36	197 (4.9)	61
Walker	22 (1.6)	1	28 (1.8)	2	52 (2.0)	5	98 (2.3)	12	165 (3.5)	30	179 (4.4)	56
Snow, ice	93 (6.8)	6	84 (5.3)	7	103 (3.9)	10	103 (2.5)	13	82 (1.8)	15	19 (0.5)	6
Chair	26 (1.9)	2	33 (2.1)	3	52 (2.0)	5	104 (2.5)	13	112 (2.4)	20	109 (2.7)	34
Wheelchair	17 (1.2)	1	20 (1.3)	2	21 (0.8)	2	41 (1.0)	5	39 (0.8)	7	63 (1.6)	20

 Table H5

 Female Patients with Hip Fractures by Fall Type at the Emergency Department (2010-2014)

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). Walker = 'Fall involving adult walker' (W0501). Snow, ice = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Chair = 'Fall involving chair' (W07). Wheelchair = 'Fall involving wheelchair' (W0500). Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of female observations with hip fractures per fall type and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's female population over the five years per age group as the denominator; reported per 100,000 population. Percentages were calculated with the number of patients with hip fractures per age group as the denominator.

Fall tring	65-69 years		70-74 years		75-79 years		80-84 years		85-89 years		90+ years	
Fail type	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate								
Slip, trip, stumble	222 (27.2)	15	279 (30.8)	26	409 (32.3)	50	647 (34.5)	112	589 (32.8)	191	403 (32.2)	325
Unspecified	161 (19.7)	11	175 (19.3)	16	282 (22.2)	34	422 (22.5)	73	478 (26.6)	155	325 (26.0)	262
Other same level	121 (14.8)	8	142 (15.7)	13	198 (15.6)	24	313 (16.7)	54	311 (17.3)	101	261 (20.9)	210
Stairs, steps	70 (8.6)	5	83 (9.2)	8	106 (8.4)	13	120 (6.4)	21	99 (5.5)	32	42 (3.4)	34
Snow, ice	78 (9.5)	5	87 (9.6)	8	94 (7.4)	11	94 (5.0)	16	69 (3.8)	22	27 (2.2)	22
Chair	15 (1.8)	1	24 (2.6)	2	24 (1.9)	3	44 (2.3)	8	46 (2.6)	15	31 (2.5)	25
Bed	23 (2.8)	2	18 (2.0)	2	55 (4.3)	7	79 (4.2)	14	76 (4.2)	25	67 (5.4)	54
Wheelchair	25 (3.1)	2	13 (1.4)	1	17 (1.3)	2	38 (2.0)	7	27 (1.5)	9	20 (1.6)	16
Walker	13 (1.6)	1	15 (1.7)	1	18 (1.4)	2	50 (2.7)	9	58 (3.2)	19	52 (4.2)	42
Ladder	39 (4.8)	3	30 (3.3)	3	28 (2.2)	3	23 (1.2)	4	$\leq 10$	N/A	≤5	N/A

 Table H6

 Male Patients with Hip Fractures by Fall Type at the Emergency Department (2010-2014)

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Snow, ice = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Chair = 'Fall involving chair' (W07). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). Wheelchair = 'Fall involving wheelchair' (W0500). Walker = 'Fall involving adult walker' (W0501). Ladder = 'Fall on and from ladder' (W11). Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of male observations with hip fractures per fall type and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's male population over the five years per age group as the denominator; reported per 100,000 population. Percentages were calculated with the number of patients with hip fractures per age group as the denominator.

I an I ypes in I anems	with with the content of the second s	cinci i neicni	nes un me Bme	r seney Dep	<i>fulliment by be</i>	1 (2010 20)	11)					
Fall type	65-69 ye	ears	70-74 ye	70-74 years		75-79 years		80-84 years		85-89 years		ars
ran type	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate
Female												
Slip, trip, stumble	784 (42.2)	49	553 (42.4)	45	466 (41.1)	47	433 (42.2)	54	307 (42.8)	56	121 (32.0)	38
Unspecified	417 (22.4)	26	305 (23.4)	25	273 (24.1)	28	246 (24.0)	31	162 (22.6)	30	121 (32.0)	38
Other same level	208 (11.2)	13	159 (12.2)	13	155 (13.7)	16	138 (13.5)	17	97 (13.5)	18	62 (16.4)	19
Stairs, steps	199 (10.7)	12	131 (10.0)	11	138 (12.2)	14	109 (10.6)	14	78 (10.9)	14	25 (6.6)	8
Male												
Slip, trip, stumble	260 (30.3)	18	198 (31.5)	18	217 (37.5)	26	185 (37.5)	32	125 (38.0)	41	38 (33.0)	31
Unspecified	214 (24.9)	15	140 (22.3)	13	141 (24.4)	17	113 (22.9)	19	93 (28.3)	30	33 (28.7)	27
Other same level	100 (11.7)	7	89 (14.2)	8	65 (11.2)	8	60 (12.2)	10	47 (14.3)	15	15 (13.0)	12
Stairs, steps	72 (8.4)	5	69 (11.0)	6	43 (7.4)	5	58 (11.8)	10	36 (10.9)	12	12 (10.4)	10

 Table H7

 Fall Types in Patients with Wrist and Hand Fractures at the Emergency Department by Sex (2010-2014)

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations with wrist and hand fractures per fall type, sex, and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population per sex and age group over the five years as the denominator; reported per 100,000 population. Percentages were calculated with the number of patients with wrist and hand fractures per age group as the denominator.

E-11 6-11 -	65-69 ye	ars	70-74 years		75-79 years		80-84 years		85-89 years		90+ years	
Fall type	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate						
Female												
Slip, trip, stumble	2,023 (35.4)	127	1,484 (37.6)	121	1,369 (39.9)	138	1,255 (39.5)	157	868 (38.8)	159	406 (33.4)	126
Unspecified	1,119 (19.6)	70	793 (20.1)	65	674 (19.6)	68	721 (22.7)	90	528 (23.6)	96	366 (30.1)	114
Other same level	690 (12.1)	43	488 (12.3)	40	436 (12.7)	44	438 (13.8)	55	359 (16.1)	66	225 (18.5)	70
Stairs, steps	593 (10.4)	37	436 (11.0)	36	395 (11.5)	40	349 (11.0)	44	191 (8.5)	35	78 (6.4)	24
Snow, ice	855 (14.9)	54	476 (12.0)	39	328 (9.6)	33	207 (6.5)	26	106 (4.7)	19	20 (1.6)	6
Male												
Slip, trip, stumble	332 (23.2)	23	266 (26.9)	25	262 (32.0)	32	216 (35.4)	37	137 (33.3)	44	62 (32.6)	50
Unspecified	271 (19.0)	18	195 (19.7)	18	168 (20.5)	21	133 (21.8)	23	100 (24.3)	32	55 (28.9)	44
Other same level	149 (10.4)	10	101 (10.2)	9	90 (11.0)	11	76 (12.5)	13	67 (16.3)	22	23 (12.1)	19
Stairs, steps	139 (9.7)	9	107 (10.8)	10	76 (9.3)	9	65 (10.7)	11	41 (10.0)	13	20 (10.5)	16
Snow, ice	213 (14.9)	14	156 (15.8)	15	117 (14.3)	14	72 (11.8)	12	31 (7.5)	10	13 (6.8)	10

 Table H8

 Fall Types in Patients with Forearm Fractures at the Emergency Department by Sex (2010-2014)

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Snow, ice = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations with forearm fractures per fall type, sex, and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population per sex and age group over the five years as the denominator; reported per 100,000 population. Percentages were calculated with the number of patients with forearm fractures per age group as the denominator.

Fall type	65-69 ye	ears	70-74 ye	ars	75-79 ye	ears	80-84 ye	ears	85-89 ye	ars	90+ yea	ars
Fall type	N (%)	Rate										
Female												
Slip, trip, stumble	961 (42.1)	60	762 (42.1)	62	819 (42.7)	83	780 (41.0)	98	628 (41.1)	115	291 (34.0)	90
Unspecified	354 (15.5)	22	287 (15.9)	23	331 (17.2)	33	350 (18.4)	44	352 (23.0)	64	222 (25.9)	69
Other same level	252 (11.0)	16	197 (10.9)	16	216 (11.3)	22	259 (13.6)	32	220 (14.4)	40	155 (18.1)	48
Stairs, steps	273 (11.9)	17	229 (12.7)	19	249 (13.0)	25	230 (12.1)	29	133 (8.7)	24	65 (7.6)	20
Snow, ice	257 (11.2)	16	176 (9.7)	14	138 (7.2)	14	102 (5.4)	13	54 (3.5)	10	9 (1.1)	3
Male												
Slip, trip, stumble	200 (29.8)	14	167 (32.9)	16	199 (34.9)	24	198 (34.4)	34	127 (31.4)	41	66 (32.2)	53
Unspecified	113 (16.8)	8	86 (17.0)	8	100 (17.5)	12	111 (19.3)	19	95 (23.5)	31	44 (21.5)	35
Other same level	64 (9.5)	4	52 (10.3)	5	75 (13.1)	9	69 (12.0)	12	50 (12.3)	16	39 (19.0)	31
Stairs, steps	73 (10.9)	5	55 (10.8)	5	62 (10.9)	8	73 (12.7)	13	50 (12.3)	16	14 (6.8)	11
Snow, ice	99 (14.7)	7	77 (15.2)	7	66 (11.6)	8	60 (10.4)	10	37 (9.1)	12	12 (5.9)	10

 Table H9

 Fall Types in Patients with Humerus Fractures at the Emergency Department by Sex (2010-2014)

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Snow, ice = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations with humerus fractures per fall type, sex, and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population per sex and age group over the five years as the denominator; reported per 100,000 population. Percentages were calculated with the number of patients with humerus fractures per age group as the denominator.

Fall type	65-69 ye	ars	70-74 ye	ars	75-79 ye	ars	80-84 ye	ars	85-89 ye	ars	90+ yea	rs
Fail type	N (%)	Rate										
Slip, trip, stumble	1,641 (41.5)	103	1,554 (42.7)	127	1,902 (43.5)	192	2,259 (42.7)	282	2,017 (39.9)	369	1,241 (33.0)	385
Unspecified	579 (14.6)	36	521 (14.3)	43	681 (15.6)	69	905 (17.1)	113	998 (19.7)	182	910 (24.2)	282
Other same level	586 (14.8)	37	560 (15.4)	46	682 (15.6)	69	847 (16.0)	106	822 (16.3)	150	665 (17.7)	206
Stairs, steps	564 (14.3)	35	548 (15.0)	45	573 (13.1)	58	621 (11.8)	78	459 (9.1)	84	233 (6.2)	72
Snow, ice	189 (4.8)	12	115 (3.2)	9	101 (2.3)	10	93 (1.8)	12	63 (1.2)	12	17 (0.5)	5
Chair	62 (1.6)	4	59 (1.6)	5	82 (1.9)	8	94 (1.8)	12	109 (2.2)	20	103 (2.7)	32
Bed	90 (2.3)	6	103 (2.8)	8	147 (3.4)	15	189 (3.6)	24	227 (4.5)	41	234 (6.2)	73
Wheelchair	25 (0.6)	2	28 (0.8)	2	46 (1.1)	5	60 (1.1)	8	109 (2.2)	20	132 (3.5)	41
Walker	25 (0.6)	2	36 (1.0)	3	48 (1.1)	5	98 (1.9)	12	150 (3.0)	27	158 (4.2)	49

 Table H10

 Female Patients with Open Wounds by Fall Type at the Emergency Department (2010-2014)

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Snow, ice = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Chair = 'Fall involving chair' (W07). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). Wheelchair = 'Fall involving wheelchair' (W0500). Walker = 'Fall involving adult walker' (W0501). Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of female observations with open wounds per fall type and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's female population over the five years per age group as the denominator; reported per 100,000 population. Percentages were calculated with the number of patients with hip fractures per age group as the denominator. Falls from ladders were not included as counts were  $\leq 5$  in at least one age group.

Fall type	65-69 ye	ars	70-74 yea	ars	75-79 yea	ars	80-84 ye	ars	85-89 ye	ars	90+ yea	ars
ran type	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate								
Slip, trip, stumble	1,473 (32.8)	100	1,263 (34.2)	118	1,574 (37.3)	192	1,802 (37.3)	311	1,404 (37.7)	456	737 (34.7)	594
Unspecified	690 (15.4)	47	621 (16.8)	58	686 (16.3)	84	830 (17.2)	143	715 (19.2)	232	458 (21.5)	369
Other same level	694 (15.5)	47	539 (14.6)	50	646 (15.3)	79	821 (17.0)	142	659 (17.7)	214	391 (18.4)	315
Stairs, steps	459 (10.2)	31	398 (10.8)	37	456 (10.8)	56	541 (11.2)	93	345 (9.3)	112	153 (7.2)	123
Bed	174 (3.9)	12	153 (4.1)	14	188 (4.5)	23	218 (4.5)	38	206 (5.5)	67	134 (6.3)	108
Snow, ice	270 (6.0)	18	206 (5.6)	19	183 (4.3)	22	171 (3.5)	29	84 (2.3)	27	32 (1.5)	26
Ladder	314 (7.0)	21	220 (6.0)	21	169 (4.0)	21	83 (1.7)	14	27 (0.7)	9	8 (0.4)	6
Chair	63 (1.4)	4	67 (1.8)	6	94 (2.2)	11	101 (2.1)	17	81 (2.2)	26	54 (2.5)	44
Wheelchair	65 (1.4)	4	30 (0.8)	3	52 (1.2)	6	74 (1.5)	13	70 (1.9)	23	57 (2.7)	46
Walker	14 (0.3)	1	22 (0.6)	2	33 (0.8)	4	65 (1.3)	11	69 (1.9)	22	69 (3.2)	56

 Table H11

 Male Patients with Open Wounds by Fall Type at the Emergency Department (2010-2014)

*Note*. Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). Snow, ice = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Ladder = 'Fall on and from ladder' (W11). Chair = 'Fall involving chair' (W07). Wheelchair = 'Fall involving wheelchair' (W0500). Walker = 'Fall involving adult walker' (W0501). Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of male observations with open wounds per fall type and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's male population over the five years per age group as the denominator; reported per 100,000 population. Percentages were calculated with the number of patients with hip fractures per age group as the denominator.

Fall type	65-69 ye	ars	70-74 ye	ears	75-79 ye	ears	80-84 ye	ears	85-89 ye	ears	90+ yea	ars
Fall type	N	Rate	Ν	Rate								
Female												
Slip, trip, stumble	1,321 (35.9)	83	769 (36.0)	63	600 (35.3)	60	487 (36.1)	61	295 (35.0)	54	139 (30.5)	43
Unspecified	646 (17.6)	40	379 (17.8)	31	354 (20.8)	36	319 (23.7)	40	249 (29.6)	45	119 (26.1)	37
Stairs, steps	781 (21.2)	49	433 (20.3)	35	285 (16.8)	29	189 (14.0)	24	69 (8.2)	13	39 (8.6)	12
Other same level	326 (8.9)	20	240 (11.2)	20	214 (12.6)	22	166 (12.3)	21	124 (14.7)	23	83 (18.2)	26
Snow, ice	287 (7.8)	18	149 (7.0)	12	87 (5.1)	9	54 (4.0)	7	22 (2.6)	4	8 (1.8)	2
Male												
Slip, trip, stumble	592 (29.4)	40	394 (30.8)	37	302 (29.7)	37	257 (31.7)	44	143 (30.4)	46	53 (29.9)	43
Unspecified	298 (14.8)	20	224 (17.5)	21	216 (21.2)	26	165 (20.4)	28	122 (25.9)	40	52 (29.4)	42
Stairs, steps	290 (14.4)	20	182 (14.2)	17	129 (12.7)	16	103 (12.7)	18	53 (11.3)	17	14 (7.9)	11
Other same level	183 (9.1)	12	121 (9.5)	11	109 (10.7)	13	102 (12.6)	18	67 (14.2)	22	30 (16.9)	24

 Table H12

 Most Common Fall Types in Patients with Sprains, Strains, or Tear of Tendons, Ligaments, or Joint Cartilage at the Emergency Department by Sex (2010-2014)

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Snow, ice = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations with sprains, strains, and tears per fall type, sex, and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population per sex and age group over the five years as the denominator; reported per 100,000 population. Percentages were calculated with the number of patients with humerus fractures per age group as the denominator. Snow and ice falls were excluded for males from this table as at least one age group had  $\leq 5$  observations.

Fall type	65-69 yea	ars	70-74 ye	ars	75-79 ye	ars	80-84 ye	ars	85-89 ye	ars	90+ yea	ars
Fail type	N (%)	Rate	N (%)	Rate								
Slip, trip, stumble	4,126 (34.3)	258	3,762 (33.6)	307	4,902 (34.3)	494	6,160 (33.8)	770	5,907 (32.5)	1,079	3,967 (28.9)	1,231
Unspecified	2,362 (19.6)	148	2,276 (20.3)	186	3,147 (22.0)	317	4,420 (24.3)	553	4,805 (26.5)	878	4,160 (30.3)	1,291
Other same level	1,626 (13.5)	148	1,680 (15.0)	186	2,388 (16.7)	317	3,182 (17.5)	553	3,412 (18.8)	878	2,684 (19.6)	1,291
Stairs, steps	1,749 (14.5)	109	1,635 (14.6)	134	1,711 (12.0)	172	1,760 (9.7)	220	1,247 (6.9)	228	641 (4.7)	199
Bed	304 (2.5)	19	334 (3.0)	27	523 (3.7)	53	802 (4.4)	100	867 (4.8)	158	789 (5.7)	245
Snow, Ice	824 (6.8)	52	640 (5.7)	52	536 (3.8)	54	459 (2.5)	57	289 (1.6)	53	83 (0.6)	26
Chair	208 (1.7)	13	217 (1.9)	18	288 (2.0)	29	397 (2.2)	50	413 (2.3)	75	303 (2.2)	94

 Table H13
 Fall Types in Female Patients with all Fall-Related Injuries at the Hospital (2010-2014)

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). Snow, ice = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Chair = 'Fall involving chair' (W07). Age-specific rates are calculated with total number of observations per characteristic as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per characteristic as the denominator; reported per 100,000 population.

Eall trues	65-69 ye	ars	70-74 ye	ars	75-79 ye	ars	80-84 ye	ars	85-89 ye	ars	90+ yea	ars
Fall type	N (%)	Rate										
Slip, trip stumble	2,370 (25.2)	161	2,297 (27.1)	214	2,894 (28.6)	353	3,496 (29.2)	603	2,877 (29.1)	934	1,625 (28.2)	1,310
Unspecified	1,897 (20.2)	129	1,666 (19.7)	156	2,243 (22.2)	274	2,901 (24.2)	500	2,648 (26.8)	860	1,590 (27.6)	1,282
Other same level	1,340 (14.2)	91	1,285 (15.2)	120	1,595 (15.8)	195	2,146 (17.9)	370	1,766 (17.8)	573	1,156 (20.1)	932
Stairs, steps	1,137 (12.1)	77	1,032 (12.2)	96	1,196 (11.8)	146	1,151 (9.6)	198	817 (8.3)	265	340 (5.9)	274
Snow, ice	771 (8.2)	52	649 (7.7)	61	617 (6.1)	75	540 (4.5)	93	333 (3.4)	108	115 (2.0)	93
Bed	265 (2.8)	18	272 (3.2)	25	354 (3.5)	43	505 (4.2)	87	519 (5.2)	168	343 (6.0)	276
Ladder	663 (7.1)	45	438 (5.2)	41	366 (3.6)	45	227 (1.9)	39	84 (0.8)	27	27 (0.5)	22

Table H14	
Fall Types in Male Patients with all Fall-Related Injuries at the Hosp	oital (2010-2014)

*Note.* Slip, trip, stumble = 'Fall on same level from slipping, tripping, and stumbling' (W01). Unspecified = 'Unspecified fall' (W19). Other same level = 'Other fall on same level' (W18). Stairs, steps = 'Fall on and from stairs and steps' (W10). Snow, ice = 'Fall on same level involving ice and snow' (W00). Bed = 'Fall involving bed' (W06). Ladder = 'Fall on and from ladder' (W11). Age-specific rates are calculated with total number of observations per characteristic as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per characteristic as the denominator; reported per 100,000 population. Data from the Discharge Abstract Database dataset.

Injury Type per Local Health Integration Network (2010-2014)														
LIIN	Fractur	re	Superfi	icial	Open we	ound	Sprai	n	TBI		Disloca	ation	One-year n	nortality
	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%
1. Erie St. Clair	6,831	41.7	4,660	28.5	2,889	17.7	678	4.1	481	2.9	364	2.2	2,177	13.3
2. South West	10,503	39.3	7,803	29.2	4,361	16.3	1,692	6.3	694	2.6	573	2.1	2,897	10.8
3. Waterloo	6,043	40.5	3,557	23.8	2,769	18.5	703	4.7	382	2.6	315	2.1	1,723	11.5
4. Hamilton Niagara	15,345	39.7	9,051	23.4	6,458	16.7	1,737	4.5	1,085	2.8	785	2.0	4,612	11.9
5. Central West	5,202	42.6	2,017	16.5	1,831	15.0	529	4.3	341	2.8	332	2.7	1,216	10.0
6. Mississauga Halton	8,089	40.9	4,139	20.9	3,044	15.4	1,095	5.5	595	3.0	422	2.1	1,894	9.6
7. Toronto Central	10,296	42.4	4,236	17.4	4,168	17.2	897	3.7	656	2.7	573	2.4	2,411	9.9
8. Central	14,182	41.8	6,661	19.6	5,379	15.8	1,521	4.5	1,065	3.1	766	2.3	3,201	9.4
9. Central East	14,224	39.6	8,100	22.5	5,854	16.3	1,972	5.5	932	2.6	752	2.1	4,032	11.2
10. South East	6,263	38.7	4,421	27.3	2,580	16.0	829	5.1	357	2.2	357	2.2	1,824	11.3
11. Champlain	11,842	40.2	6,963	23.6	4,547	15.4	1,743	5.9	1,029	3.5	614	2.1	3,233	11.0
12. North Simcoe	4,822	39.3	2,889	23.6	1,826	14.9	808	6.6	387	3.2	270	2.2	1,322	10.8
13. North East	6,130	35.9	4,385	25.7	2,398	14.0	1,319	7.7	418	2.4	336	2.0	1,789	10.5
14. North West	2,365	35.1	2005	29.8	1,044	15.5	406	6.0	173	2.6	119	1.8	723	10.7

#### Appendix G. Emergency Department Results for Fall-Related Injuries

Table I1

Note. LHIN = Local Health Integration Network. Percent of each injury is calculated with number per injury type per LHIN as the numerator and total count of FRIs per LHIN as the denominator. Waterloo = Waterloo Wellington, Hamilton = Hamilton Niagara Haldimand Brant, North Simcoe = North Simcoe Muskoka. TBI = traumatic brain injury. Sprain = sprains, strains, and tears of joint cartilage.

Body location	65+ y	/ears	65-69	years	70-74	years	75-79	years	80-84	years	85-89	years	90+ y	/ears
body location	N (%)	Rate												
Head	86,538	878	15,660	510	13,525	589	15,395	850	17,838	1,293	14,830	1,734	9,290	2,082
	(28.4)		(23.1)		(26.0)		(28.8)		(31.8)		(32.1)		(31.8)	
Neck	3,646	37	838	27	646	28	640	35	671	49	527	62	324	73
	(1.2)		(1.2)		(1.2)		(1.2)		(1.2)		(1.1)		(1.1)	
Trunk	47,765	484	10,133	330	8,029	350	8,444	466	8,995	652	7,514	878	4,650	1,042
	(15.7)		(14.9)		(15.5)		(15.8)		(16.1)		(16.3)		(15.9)	
Thorax	26,704	271	6,343	206	4,933	215	4,857	268	4,844	351	3,632	425	2,095	469
	(8.8)		(9.4)		(9.5)		(9.1)		(8.6)		(7,9)		(7.2)	
Abdomen	20,255	205	3,593	117	2,941	128	3,442	190	4,018	291	3,769	441	2,492	558
	(6.6)		(5.3)		(5.7)		(6.4)		(7.2)		(8.2)		(8.5)	
Upper limb	91,951	933	23,727	772	17,286	753	16,764	925	15,655	1,135	11,836	1,384	6,683	1,498
	(30.2)		(35.0)		(33.3)		(31.4)		(28.0)		(25.6)		(22.9)	
Shoulder, upper arm	33,961	344	8,183	266	6,311	275	6,459	357	5,962	432	4,479	524	2,567	575
	(11.1)		(12.1)		(12.1)		(12.1)		(10.6)		(9.7)		(8.8)	
Elbow and forearm	33,885	344	8,943	291	6,274	273	5,898	326	5,657	410	4,479	524	2,634	590
	(11.1)		(13.2)		(12.1)		(11.0)		(10.1)		(9.7)		(9.0)	
Wrist and hand	26,175	265	7,112	231	5,064	221	4,761	263	4,430	321	3,187	373	1,621	363
	(8.6)		(10.5)		(9.7)		(8.9)		(7.9)		(6.9)		(5.5)	
Lower limb	94,367	957	21,180	689	15,524	676	15,710	867	16,800	1,218	14,778	1,728	10,375	2,325
	(31.0)		(31.2)		(29.9)		(29.4)		(30.0)		(32.0)		(35.5)	
Hip and thigh	41,922	425	4,677	152	4,684	204	6,556	362	9,178	665	9,375	1,096	7,452	1,670
	(13.8)		(6.9)		(9.0)		(12.3)		(16.4)		(20.3)		(25.5)	
Knee and lower leg	36,555	371	10,611	345	7,402	323	6,499	359	5,628	408	4,139	484	2,276	510
	(12.0)		(15.6)		(14.2)		(12.2)		(10.0)		(9.0)		(7.8)	
Ankle and foot	16,667	169	6,238	203	3,633	158	2,752	152	2,080	151	1,300	152	664	149
	(5.5)		(9.2)		(7.0)		(5.2)		(3.7)		(2.8)		(2.3)	
Multiple body regions	5,407	55	1,020	33	832	36	981	54	1,080	78	915	107	579	130
	(1.8)		(1.5)		(1.6)		(1.8)		(1.9)		(2.0)		(2.0)	
Unspecified region	3,069	31	529	17	429	19	509	28	614	44	587	130	401	90
	(1.0)		(0.8)		(0.8)		(1.0)		(1.1)		(1.3)		(1.4)	

**Table 12**Patients with Injuries by Body Location at the Emergency Department by Age Groups in years (2010-2014)

*Note.* Abdomen = abdomen, lower back, lumbar spine, and pelvis. Percent calculated with the total number of all FRIs at the ED per age group as the denominator.

Types and Body Locations of Fractures in Female Patients at the Emergency Department, by Age Group (2010-2014)

Body location -	65-69 y	ears	70-74	years	75-79	years	80-84	years	85-89	years	90+ y	ears
Body location	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate
All fractures	18,473	1,157	14,076	1,150	14,476	1,458	15,599	1,951	13,679	2,499	9,548	2,963
Skull, face	530	33	460	38	586	59	656	82	484	88	286	89
Vertebrae	436	27	462	38	618	62	750	94	687	126	465	144
Clavicle	267	17	216	18	230	23	250	31	209	38	159	49
Rib	815	51	672	55	760	77	925	116	811	148	564	175
Scapula	74	5	70	6	75	8	66	8	57	10	31	10
Humerus	2,285	143	1,809	148	1,919	193	1,902	238	1,529	279	857	266
Forearm	5,721	358	3,952	323	3,434	346	3,174	397	2,236	409	1,215	377
Hand, wrist	1,859	116	1,304	107	1,134	114	1,026	128	717	131	378	117
Pelvis	312	20	297	24	527	53	876	110	939	172	764	237
Hip	1,366	86	1,575	129	2,627	265	4,178	522	4,676	854	4,031	1,251
Femur	319	20	276	23	387	39	391	49	417	76	281	87
Knee, lower leg	1,763	110	1,199	98	1,021	103	753	94	526	96	285	88
Ankle	1,630	102	1,117	91	813	82	595	74	373	68	212	66
Foot	1,630	102	1,019	83	764	77	548	69	372	68	176	55

*Note.* Age-specific rates are calculated with total number of female observations per fracture type and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's female population over the five years per age group as the denominator; reported per 100,000 population.

*Types and Body Locations of Fractures in Male Patients at the Emergency Department, by Age Group (2010-2014)* 

Body location -	65-69 y	vears	70-74	years	75-79	years	80-84	years	85-89	years	90+ y	ears
Body location	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	N	Rate
All fractures	8,553	580	6,528	609	6,484	792	6,521	1,124	4,949	1,607	2,801	2,258
Skull, face	442	30	366	34	385	47	425	73	261	85	122	98
Vertebrae	422	29	347	32	401	49	422	73	394	128	186	150
Clavicle	251	17	155	14	163	20	152	26	107	35	64	52
Rib	1,653	112	1,273	119	1,164	142	1,025	177	667	217	339	273
Scapula	94	6	70	7	59	7	56	10	38	12	12	10
Humerus	672	46	507	47	571	70	575	99	405	131	205	165
Forearm	1,429	97	988	92	819	100	610	105	412	134	190	153
Hand, wrist	858	58	628	59	579	71	493	85	329	107	115	93
Pelvis	169	11	148	14	194	24	236	41	202	66	142	114
Hip	817	55	907	85	1,268	155	1,877	324	1,796	583	1,251	1,008
Femur	112	8	100	9	106	13	137	24	82	27	76	61
Knee, lower leg	768	52	541	51	424	52	315	54	157	51	70	56
Ankle	667	45	399	37	320	39	221	38	114	37	46	37
Foot	549	37	312	29	247	30	154	27	83	27	26	21

*Note.* Age-specific rates are calculated with total number of male observations per fracture type and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's male population over the five years per age group as the denominator; reported per 100,000 population.

Body location -	65-69	years	70-74	years	75-79	years	80-84	years	85-89	years	90+ y	ears
Body location	Ν	Rate										
All fractures	27,026	880	20,604	898	20,960	1,157	22,120	1,603	18,628	2,178	12,349	2,767
Skull, face	972	32	826	36	971	54	1,081	78	745	87	408	91
Vertebrae	858	28	809	35	1,019	56	1,172	85	1,081	126	651	146
Clavicle	518	17	371	16	393	22	402	29	316	37	223	50
Rib	2,468	80	1,945	85	1,924	106	1,950	141	1,478	173	903	202
Scapula	168	5	140	6	134	7	122	9	95	11	43	10
Humerus	2,957	96	2,316	101	2,490	137	2,477	180	1,934	226	1,062	238
Forearm	7,150	233	4,940	215	4,253	235	3,784	274	2,648	310	1,405	315
Hand, wrist	2,717	88	1,932	84	1,713	95	1,519	110	1,046	122	493	110
Pelvis	481	16	445	19	721	40	1,112	81	1,141	133	906	203
Hip	2,183	71	2,482	108	3,895	215	6,055	439	6,472	757	5,282	1,184
Femur	431	14	376	16	493	27	528	38	499	58	357	80
Knee, lower leg	2,531	82	1,740	76	1,445	80	1,068	77	683	80	355	80
Ankle	2,297	75	1,516	66	1,133	63	816	59	487	57	258	58
Foot	2.179	71	1.331	58	1.011	56	702	51	455	53	202	45

 Table 15

 Types and Body Locations of Fractures in All Patients at the Emergency Department, by Age Group (2010-2014)

Foot2,179711,331581,011567025145553202Note. Age-specific rates are calculated with total number of observations per fracture type and age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the denominator; reported per 100,000 population.

Dody location by say	65-69 y	ears	70-74 y	ears	75-79 у	ears	80-84 y	ears	85-89	years	90+ y	years
Body location by sex –	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate
Female	3,677	230	2,135	174	1,700	171	1,348	169	842	154	456	142
Neck	172	11	109	9	80	8	92	12	46	8	28	9
Trunk	230	14	183	15	170	17	150	19	115	21	59	18
Shoulder	289	18	189	15	190	19	147	18	100	18	57	18
Elbow, forearm	30	2	15	1	21	2	12	2	9	2	≤5	N/A
Wrist, hand	711	45	384	31	319	32	221	28	131	24	51	16
Hip	84	5	82	7	82	8	110	14	79	14	51	16
Knee, lower leg	691	43	378	31	279	28	183	23	131	24	68	21
Ankle, foot	1,563	98	850	69	598	60	467	58	249	45	150	47
Male	2,017	137	1,278	119	1,018	124	810	140	471	153	177	143
Neck	131	9	85	8	57	7	77	13	48	16	20	16
Trunk	201	14	142	13	115	14	115	20	61	20	26	21
Shoulder	271	18	225	21	184	22	127	22	79	26	27	22
Elbow, forearm	25	2	18	2	16	2	7	1	9	3	≤5	N/A
Wrist, hand	347	24	216	20	184	22	137	24	75	24	21	17
Hip	49	3	46	4	43	5	58	10	37	12	21	17
Knee, lower leg	428	29	240	22	195	24	138	24	89	29	30	24
Ankle, foot	596	40	332	31	244	30	170	29	82	27	34	27

 Table I6

 Patients with Sprains, Strains, and Tears by Body Location, Age Group, and Sex at the Emergency Department (2010-2014)

*Note.* Age-specific rates are calculated with total number of observations per fracture type, age, and sex as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex and age group as the denominator; reported per 100,000 population. Trunk = thorax, lumbar spine and pelvis. Shoulder = shoulder and upper arm. Knee = knee and lower leg.

Fall-Related Inju	Fall-Related Injuries among Patients at the Emergency Department by Demographic Characteristics and Year											
	2010		2011		201	2	201	3	201	4		
Characteristic	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate		
Total <sup>a</sup>	58,771	3,207	59,194	3,134	59,384	3,016	62,514	3,051	64,747	3,053		
Age group <sup>b</sup>												
65-69	11,290	2,071	12,236	2,146	13,209	2,144	14,853	2,268	16,249	2,368		
70-74	9,952	2,316	10,027	2,270	9,714	2,132	10,873	2,290	11,392	2,309		
75-79	10,924	3,092	10,725	3,013	10,445	2,904	10,574	2,885	10,716	2,849		
80-84	11,515	4,333	11,286	4,153	11,105	4,008	11,068	3,939	11,034	3,882		
85-89	9,510	5,845	9,302	5,595	9,127	5,330	9,120	5,182	9,126	5,093		
90+	5,580	7,342	5,618	6,773	5,784	6,447	6,026	6,302	6,230	6,110		

*Note.* <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with number of observations per year as the numerator, and Ontario's population of older adults per year as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Age-specific rates were calculated with the number of observations per year and age group as the numerator and Ontario's population of older adults per year and age group as the denominator. All rates were reported per 100,000 population.

#### Table I8

Table I7

Fall-Related Injuries among Females at the Emergency Department by Demographic Characteristics and Year

Characteristic	2010		2011		201	2	201	3	201	4
Characteristic	Ν	Rate								
Total <sup>a</sup>	38,130	3,714	37,791	3,582	37,497	3,424	38,652	3,406	39,974	3,412
Age group <sup>b</sup>										
65-69	6,956	2,449	7,478	2,521	7,985	2,496	8,864	2,607	9,805	2,749
70-74	6,204	2,699	6,199	2,626	5,946	2,445	6,434	2,544	6,758	2,580
75-79	6,855	3,522	6,558	3,354	6,436	3,266	6,415	3,206	6,484	3,160
80-84	7,426	4,744	7,138	4,501	6,958	4,337	6,757	4,181	6,761	4,160
85-89	6,547	6,168	6,312	5,848	6,071	5,528	5,938	5,332	5,789	5,165
90+	4,142	7,465	4,106	6,832	4,101	6,344	4,244	6,166	4,377	5,984

*Note.* <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with number of observations per year as the numerator, and Ontario's population of females per year as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Age-specific rates were calculated with the number of observations per year and age group as the numerator and Ontario's population of females per year and age group as the denominator. All rates were reported per 100,000 population.

Fall-Relat	Fall-Related Injuries among Males at the Emergency Department by Demographic Characteristics and Year											
<b>A</b> = =	20	2010		1	201	12	201	13	20	14		
Age	N	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate		
65+ <sup>a</sup>	20,641	2,561	21,403	2,567	21,887	2,504	23,862	2,611	24,773	2,609		
Age group	р <sup>b</sup>											
65-69	4,334	1,660	4,758	1,739	5,224	1,764	5,989	1,903	6,444	1,956		
70-74	3,748	1,875	3,828	1,862	3,768	1,774	4,439	2,001	4,634	2,002		
75-79	4,069	2,564	4,167	2,599	4,009	2,465	4,159	2,499	4,232	2,476		
80-84	4,089	3,743	4,148	3,665	4,147	3,556	4,311	3,612	4,273	3,511		
85-89	2,963	5,240	2,990	5,125	3,056	4,976	3,182	4,924	3,337	4,973		
90+	1,438	7,011	1,512	6,619	1,683	6,711	1,782	6,650	1,853	6,428		

Table I9

Table I10

*Note.* <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with number of observations per year as the numerator, and Ontario's population of males per year as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Age-specific rates were calculated with the number of observations per year and age group as the numerator and Ontario's population of males per year and age group as the denominator. All rates were reported per 100,000 population.

Fractures An	Fractures Among Patients at the Emergency Department by Sex, Age Group, and Year										
Age group	201	0	201	1	201	2	201	3	201	4	
(years)	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	
Females	16,984	1,654	16,852	1,597	16,644	1,520	17,459	1,538	17,912	1,529	
65-69	3,090	1,088	3,352	1,130	3,572	1,117	4,043	1,189	4,416	1,238	
70-74	2,731	1,188	2,732	1,157	2,659	1,093	2,879	1,138	3,075	1,174	
75-79	3,011	1,547	2,905	1,486	2,814	1,428	2,858	1,428	2,888	1,407	
80-84	3,295	2,105	3,185	2,008	3,021	1,883	3,042	1,882	3,056	1,880	
85-89	2,957	2,786	2,816	2,609	2,688	2,447	2,683	2,409	2,535	2,262	
90+	1,900	3,424	1,862	3,098	1,890	2,924	1,954	2,839	1,942	2,655	
Males	6,679	829	6,749	809	6,981	799	7,652	837	7,775	819	
65-69	1,422	545	1,463	535	1,671	564	1,934	614	2,063	626	
70-74	1,236	618	1,242	604	1,192	561	1,459	658	1,399	605	
75-79	1,262	795	1,306	814	1,284	789	1,284	772	1,348	789	
80-84	1,302	1,192	1,292	1,142	1,256	1,077	1,381	1,157	1,290	1,060	
85-89	953	1,685	961	1,647	998	1,625	987	1,527	1,050	1,565	
90+	504	2,457	485	2,123	580	2,313	607	2,265	625	2,168	

*Note*. Age-specific rates calculated with the Ontario population per year and sex as the denominator; reported per 100,000 population.

Dody location	201	10	201	1	201	2	201	3	201	4
Body location	Ν	Rate								
Forearm	3,849	375	3,871	367	3,787	346	4,043	356	4,182	357
Hip	3,835	374	3,724	353	3,676	336	3,650	322	3,568	305
Humerus	2,038	198	1,972	187	1,980	181	2,081	183	2,230	190
Wrist, hand	1,259	123	1,285	122	1,200	110	1,323	117	1,351	115
Knee, lower leg	1,062	103	1,090	103	1,035	95	1,164	103	1,196	102
Ankle	894	87	946	90	866	79	1,009	89	1,025	87
Foot	838	82	852	81	894	82	920	81	1,005	86
Rib	894	87	891	84	902	82	914	81	946	81
Pelvis	723	70	703	67	750	68	768	68	771	66
Vertebrae	668	65	633	60	652	60	724	64	741	63
Skull, facial	578	56	551	52	620	57	588	52	665	57
Femur	428	42	405	38	376	34	462	41	400	34
Clavicle	239	23	264	25	282	26	258	23	288	25
Scapula	73	7	68	6	88	8	70	6	74	6

 Table I11

 Body Locations of Fractures in Female Patients at the Emergency Department Admissions per Year

*Note*. Sex-specific rates calculated with the Ontario female population of females per year as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population.

#### Table I12

Douy Locations of Fractures in Male Fatients at the Emergency Department Aumissions per re	Body	v Locations of	f Fractures in	Male Patients d	it the Emergency I	Department Admissions	per Year
--	------	----------------	----------------	-----------------	--------------------	-----------------------	----------

Dody location	2010		201	1	201	2	201	3	201	4
Body location	Ν	Rate								
Hip	1,556	193	1,544	185	1,584	181	1,580	173	1,652	174
Rib	1,106	137	1,118	134	1,193	136	1,352	148	1,352	142
Forearm	837	104	791	95	869	99	965	106	986	104
Wrist, hand	554	69	570	68	567	65	635	69	676	71
Humerus	533	66	574	69	587	67	621	68	620	65
Knee, lower leg	409	51	446	53	417	48	529	58	474	50
Vertebrae	393	49	374	45	433	50	483	53	489	52
Skull, Facial	350	56	405	49	397	45	407	45	442	47
Ankle	314	39	303	36	338	39	411	45	401	42
Foot	260	32	271	32	239	27	297	33	304	32
Pelvis	201	25	204	24	214	24	228	25	244	26
Clavicle	160	20	169	20	182	21	180	20	201	21
Femur	117	15	128	15	116	13	124	14	128	13
Scapula	60	7	69	8	67	8	61	7	72	8

*Note*. Sex-specific rates calculated with the Ontario male population of males per year as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000 population.

Ттаитанс Втан	Among Pai	<u>nents at t</u> 20	<u>ne Emergei</u> 11	ncy Depa 20	itment by S	20 20	<i>sroup, ana</i> 13	2014		
Age group	20	D (	20	D (	20	12 D (	20	15 D (	201	+ 
	N	Rate	IN	Rate	IN	Rate	IN	Rate	N	Rate
Females <sup>c</sup>	709	69	753	71	763	70	907	80	1,100	94
65-69 <sup>b</sup>	119	42	123	41	147	46	206	61	252	71
70-74	111	48	131	55	114	47	160	63	184	70
75-79	115	59	115	59	124	63	125	62	194	95
80-84	145	93	166	105	165	103	185	114	195	120
85-89	154	145	132	122	141	128	146	131	162	145
90+	65	117	86	143	72	111	85	123	113	155
Males <sup>c</sup>	665	83	808	97	866	99	920	101	1,104	116
65-69 <sup>b</sup>	122	47	153	56	150	51	190	60	235	71
70-74	126	63	138	67	158	74	166	75	193	83
75-79	140	88	155	97	188	116	169	102	200	117
80-84	139	127	189	167	178	153	198	166	221	182
85-89	91	161	109	187	135	220	124	192	173	258
90+	47	229	64	280	57	227	73	272	82	284

*Note.* <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with total number of observations as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the denominator. <sup>c</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population. Rates were reported per 100,000.

Table I13	
Traumatic Brain Injuries Among Patients at the Emergency Department by Sex, Age Group,	and Year

Open wound	201	<u>unems un</u> 10	201	11	201	12	20	19	201	4
Age group	N	Rate	N	Rate	N	Rate	N	Rate	N	Rate
Total <sup>a</sup>	9,681	528	9,756	517	9,701	493	9,930	485	10,080	475
65-69 <sup>b</sup>	1,470	270	1,580	277	1,702	276	1,807	276	1,881	274
70-74	1,367	318	1,469	333	1,388	305	1,519	320	1,595	323
75-79	1,790	507	1,757	494	1,664	463	1,692	462	1,683	447
80-84	2,166	815	2,007	738	2,015	727	1,971	702	1,963	691
85-89	1,762	1,083	1,767	1,063	1,789	1,045	1,712	973	1,749	976
90+	1,126	1,482	1,176	1,418	1,143	1,274	1,229	1,285	1,209	1,186
Females <sup>c</sup>	5,281	514	5,234	496	5,164	472	5,142	453	5,247	448
65-69 <sup>b</sup>	703	247	722	243	801	250	815	240	914	256
70-74	690	300	723	306	709	292	770	304	751	287
75-79	914	470	918	469	851	432	847	423	840	409
80-84	1,163	743	1,078	680	1,027	640	988	611	1,029	633
85-89	1,050	989	1,042	965	1,047	953	959	861	960	857
90+	761	1,371	751	1,250	729	1,128	763	1,109	753	1,030
Males <sup>c</sup>	4,400	546	4,522	542	4,537	519	4,788	524	4,833	509
65-69 <sup>b</sup>	767	294	858	314	901	304	992	315	967	294
70-74	677	339	746	363	679	320	749	338	844	365
75-79	876	552	839	523	813	500	845	508	843	493
80-84	1,003	918	929	821	988	847	983	824	934	767
85-89	712	1,259	725	1,243	742	1,208	753	1,165	789	1,176
90+	365	1,780	425	1,861	414	1,651	466	1,739	456	1,582

Table I14				
Open Wounds An	ong Patients at th	e Emergency Dep	artment by Sex, Age	Group, and Year

*Note.* <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with total number of observations as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the denominator. <sup>c</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population. Rates were reported per 100,000.

1	5	3
_	-	-

Superficial In	Serficial Injuries Among Patients at the Emergency Department by Sex, Age Group, and Year									
A a.a. amoum	201	010		1	201	12	20	13	20	14
Age group	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate
Total <sup>a</sup>										
65-69 <sup>b</sup>	2,639	484	2,814	493	3,081	500	3,343	510	3,712	541
70-74	2,375	553	2,314	524	2,287	502	2,578	543	2,632	534
75-79	2,645	749	2,553	717	2,508	697	2,494	680	2,427	645
80-84	2,676	1,007	2,671	983	2,686	970	2,640	940	2,586	910
85-89	2,237	1,375	2,131	1,282	2,089	1,220	2,087	1,186	2,158	1,204
90+	1,224	1,611	1,227	1,479	1,277	1,423	1,314	1,374	1,482	1,453
Females <sup>c</sup>										
65-69 <sup>b</sup>	1,572	553	1,645	555	1,798	562	1,937	570	2,131	597
70-74	1,462	636	1,402	594	1,343	552	1,411	558	1,474	563
75-79	1,605	825	1,473	753	1,509	766	1,439	719	1,417	691
80-84	1,693	1,081	1,601	1,009	1,630	1,016	1,541	954	1,522	936
85-89	1,509	1,422	1,395	1,293	1,369	1,247	1,321	1,186	1,324	1,181
90+	907	1,635	881	1,466	878	1,358	880	1,279	1,024	1,400
Males <sup>c</sup>										
65-69 <sup>b</sup>	1,067	409	1,169	427	1,283	433	1,406	447	1,581	480
70-74	913	457	912	444	944	445	1,167	526	1,158	500
75-79	1,040	655	1,080	673	999	614	1,055	634	1,010	591
80-84	983	900	1,070	945	1,056	905	1,099	921	1,064	874
85-89	728	1,287	736	1,262	720	1,172	766	1,185	834	1,243
90+	317	1,546	346	1,515	399	1,591	434	1,619	458	1,589

Table I15
Superficial Injuries Among Patients at the Emergency Department by Sex, Age Group, and Year

*Note.* <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with total number of observations as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the denominator. <sup>c</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the numerator. <sup>c</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per sex as the denominator. Rates were reported per 100,000.

Sprains, Strains	s, and Tear	rs Among I	Patients at	the Emerg	ency Depa	rtment by	Sex, Age (	Group, and	l Year	
<b>A</b>	201	0	201	1	201	2	201	3	2014	
Age group –	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate
All patients <sup>a</sup>	3,114	170	3,091	164	3,046	155	3,309	162	3,369	159
65-69 <sup>b</sup>	958	176	1,038	182	1,064	173	1,250	191	1,384	202
70-74	695	162	647	146	625	137	749	158	697	141
75-79	583	165	543	153	540	150	524	143	528	140
80-84	468	176	458	169	436	157	382	136	414	146
85-89	285	175	284	171	249	145	269	153	226	126
90+	125	164	121	146	132	147	135	141	120	118
Females <sup>c</sup>	2,101	205	2,025	192	1,926	176	2,045	180	2,061	176
65-69 <sup>b</sup>	660	232	676	228	694	217	765	225	882	247
70-74	465	202	419	177	369	152	480	190	402	153
75-79	392	201	356	182	338	172	292	146	322	157
80-84	308	197	289	182	271	169	243	150	237	146
85-89	181	171	195	181	160	146	167	150	139	124
90+	95	171	90	150	94	145	98	142	79	108
Males <sup>c</sup>	1,013	126	1,066	128	1,120	128	1,264	138	1,308	138
65-69 <sup>b</sup>	298	114	362	132	370	125	485	154	502	152
70-74	230	115	228	111	256	121	269	121	295	127
75-79	191	120	187	117	202	124	232	139	206	121
80-84	160	146	169	149	165	141	139	116	177	145
85-89	104	184	89	153	89	145	102	158	87	130
90+	30	146	31	136	38	152	37	138	41	142

Table I16

*Note.* <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with total number of observations as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Age-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per age group as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's population over the five years per age group as the denominator. <sup>c</sup> Sex-specific rates were calculated with total number of observations per sex as the numerator and the sum of Ontario's population. Rates were reported per 100,000.

### Appendix H. Hospital Results for Fall-Related Injuries

Types and Body Location	ns in Female	Patients at th	e Hospital b	y Age Group	(2010-2014)					
Injury type and body	65-69 years		70-74	70-74 years		75-79 years		years	85-89 years	
location	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate
All FRIs	12,030	753	11,210	916	14,276	1,438	18,210	2,277	18,165	3,319
Fracture	6,730	421	6,022	492	7,708	777	9,894	1,237	9,843	1,798
Skull/facial	171	11	164	13	250	25	301	38	243	44
Vertebral	222	14	259	21	373	38	498	62	473	86
Rib	273	17	235	19	326	33	475	59	482	88
Pelvis	190	12	222	18	388	39	695	87	795	145
Clavicle	90	6	71	6	94	9	124	16	114	21
Humerus	870	54	760	62	938	95	1,019	127	880	161
Forearm	1,283	80	1,032	84	1,129	114	1,262	158	1,013	185
Wrist/hand	369	23	274	22	297	30	355	44	324	59
Hip	1,345	84	1,554	127	2,590	261	4,128	516	4,617	844

Table J1

2,111

1,018

Femur

Ankle

Superficial

Open wound

Foot

TBI

Knee/lower leg

2,023

1,135

Sprain, strain, tear Dislocation Note. Age-specific rates are calculated with total number of female observations per characteristic as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's female population over the five

2,684

1,563

3,382

2,127

3,388

2,288

years per characteristic as the denominator. Rates reported per 100,000 population.

90+ years

Rate

4,259

2,356

1,234

Ν

13,722

7,592

3,977

2,438

1,930

Injury type and body	65-69	years	70-74	years	75-79	years	80-84	years	85-89	years	90+ y	ears
location	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate
All FRIs	9,404	638	8,462	790	10,112	1,235	11,969	2,063	9,897	3,213	5,753	4,237
Fracture	3,832	260	3,299	308	3,857	471	4,490	774	3,785	1,229	2,335	1,882
Skull/facial	248	17	205	19	220	27	255	44	158	51	87	70
Vertebral	259	18	239	22	299	37	323	56	300	97	148	119
Rib	585	40	523	49	580	71	563	97	424	138	233	188
Pelvis	127	9	117	11	158	19	195	34	169	34	125	101
Clavicle	104	7	67	6	78	10	86	15	62	20	46	37
Humerus	341	23	263	25	329	40	348	60	261	85	141	114
Forearm	444	30	331	31	308	38	274	47	221	72	117	94
Wrist/hand	186	12	158	13	186	19	202	25	158	29	58	18
Hip	799	54	888	83	1,249	152	1,856	320	1,779	578	1,238	998
Femur	104	1	93	2	99	2	132	5	81	5	73	12
Knee/lower leg	344	23	274	26	222	27	182	31	110	36	47	38
Ankle	338	23	208	19	190	23	131	23	76	25	39	31
Foot	151	2	77	1	85	2	51	2	39	3	11	2
Superficial	1,894	128	1,791	167	2,219	271	2,598	448	2,152	699	1,168	942
Open wound	1,489	101	1,342	125	1,819	222	2,452	423	2,027	658	1,278	1,030
TBI	500	34	542	51	700	85	780	134	560	182	285	230
Sprain, strain, tear	444	30	352	33	338	41	317	55	221	72	102	82
Dislocation	246	17	192	18	187	23	152	26	104	34	41	33

*Types and Body Locations in Male Patients at the Hospital by Age Group (2010-2014)* 

Table J2

*Note.* Age-specific rates are calculated with total number of male observations per characteristic as the numerator, and the sum of Ontario's male population over the five years per characteristic as the denominator. Rates reported per 100,000 population.

A ()	2010		2011	2011		2012		2013		
Age group (years)	Ν	Rate								
Total <sup>a</sup>	28,259	1,542	28,138	1,490	28,201	1,432	28,964	1,414	29,648	1,398
Age group <sup>b</sup>										
65-69	3,660	671	3,929	689	4,187	680	4,609	704	5,049	736
70-74	3,842	894	3,791	858	3,738	821	4,112	866	4,189	849
75-79	5,066	1,434	4,947	1,390	4,827	1,342	4,773	1,302	4,775	1,269
80-84	6,289	2,366	6,091	2,241	5,973	2,156	5,933	2,112	5,893	2,073
85-89	5,755	3,537	5,656	3,402	5,612	3,277	5,525	3,140	5,514	3,077
90+	3,647	4,799	3,724	4,490	3,864	4,307	4,012	4,195	4,228	4,146

# Table J3 Patients with Fall-Related Injuries at the Hospital by Age and Year

*Note*. <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with number of observations per year as the numerator, and Ontario's population of older adults per year as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Age-specific rates were calculated with the number of observations per year and age group as the numerator and Ontario's population of older adults per year and age group as the denominator. All rates were reported per 100,000 population.

	2010		2011		2012		2013		2014	
Age group (years)	Ν	Rate								
Total <sup>a</sup>	17,827	1,736	17,445	1,654	17,179	1,569	17,436	1,536	17,726	1,513
Age group <sup>b</sup>										
65-69	2,043	719	2,228	751	2,324	727	2,586	760	2,849	799
70-74	2,224	968	2,189	927	2,160	888	2,283	903	2,354	899
75-79	3,075	1,580	2,909	1,488	2,796	1,419	2,745	1,372	2,751	1,341
80-84	3,965	2,533	3,676	2,318	3,609	2,250	3,509	2,171	3,451	2,123
85-89	3,875	3,651	3,752	3,476	3,603	3,281	3,537	3,176	3,398	3,032
90+	2,645	4,767	2,691	4,478	2,687	4,157	2,776	4,033	2,923	3,996

# Table J4 Female Patients with Fall-Related Injuries at the Hospital by Age and Year

*Note.* <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with number of observations per year as the numerator, and Ontario's population of older adults per year as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Age-specific rates were calculated with the number of observations per year and age group as the numerator and Ontario's population of female older adults per year and age group as the denominator. All rates were reported per 100,000 population.

## Table J5 Male Patients with Fall-Related Injuries at the Hospital by Age and Year

		1 1								
<b>A</b> ()	2010	1	2011	2011		2012			2014	
Age group (years)	Ν	Rate								
Total <sup>a</sup>	10,432	1,294	10,693	1,282	11,022	1,261	11,528	1,262	11,922	1,256
Age group <sup>b</sup>										
65-69	1,617	619	1,701	622	1,863	629	2,023	643	2,200	668
70-74	1,618	809	1,602	779	1,578	743	1,829	825	1,835	793
75-79	1,991	1,255	2,038	1,271	2,031	1,249	2,028	1,219	2,024	1,184
80-84	2,324	2,128	2,415	2,134	2,364	2,027	2,424	2,031	2,442	2,007
85-89	1,880	3,325	1,904	3,264	2,009	3,271	1,988	3,076	2,116	3,154
90+	1,002	4,885	1,033	4,522	1,177	4,694	1,236	4,612	1,305	4,527

*Note*. <sup>a</sup> Crude rates were calculated with number of observations per year as the numerator, and Ontario's population of older adults per year as the denominator. <sup>b</sup> Age-specific rates were calculated with the number of observations per year and age group as the numerator and Ontario's population of male older adults per year and age group as the denominator. All rates were reported per 100,000 population.

<b>T</b> <sup>+</sup> / <b>II I I</b> /	2010		2011	2011		2012		2013		2014	
Injury type and body location	N	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	Ν	Rate	
Fracture	13,904	759	13,676	724	13,630	692	14,098	688	14,079	664	
Skull/facial	472	26	465	25	469	24	496	24	565	27	
Vertebral	703	38	668	35	747	38	795	39	827	39	
Rib	974	53	957	51	994	50	1,092	53	1,059	50	
Pelvis	742	40	703	37	777	39	774	38	820	39	
Clavicle	194	11	208	11	213	11	198	10	203	10	
Humerus	1,357	74	1,349	71	1,319	67	1,358	66	1,352	64	
Forearm	1,651	90	1,573	83	1,589	81	1,613	79	1,640	77	
Wrist/hand	580	32	551	29	499	25	564	28	565	27	
Hip	5,310	290	5,195	275	5,191	264	5,163	252	5,161	243	
Femur	515	28	519	27	474	24	563	27	504	24	
Knee/lower leg	785	43	816	43	741	38	819	40	811	38	
Ankle	709	39	723	38	714	36	782	38	754	36	
Foot	285	16	325	17	329	17	340	17	325	15	
Superficial	5,506	300	5,464	289	5,497	279	5,546	271	5,835	275	
Open wound	4,060	222	3,960	210	4,060	206	4,189	204	4,199	198	
TBI	999	55	1,189	63	1,203	61	1,304	64	1,549	73	
Sprain, strain, tear	898	49	833	44	841	43	881	43	876	41	
Dislocation	482	26	416	22	442	22	472	23	453	21	

**Table J6**Patients with Various Injury Types and Locations at the Hospital by Year

*Note.* Crude rates were calculated with number of observations per year as the numerator, and Ontario's population of older adults per year as the denominator. Rates reported per 100,000.

### **Curriculum Vitae**

Name:	Nicolette A. Lappan
Post-Secondary Education and Degrees:	Western University London, Ontario, Canada 2012-2016 B.H.Sc with Distinction
	Western University London, Ontario, Canada 2018-2021 M.Sc
Honours and Awards:	Dean's Honour List Western University 2014-2015 2015-2016
Related Work Experience:	Teaching Assistant Western University Winter 2019 Term HS 3701 The Aging Body
	Teaching Assistant Western University Fall 2019 Term HS 1001 Personal Determinants of Health
Presentations and Submissions:	Lappan, N., Zecevic, A.A., Hunter, S., Johnson, A. (2020). Descriptive analysis of serious fall-related injuries among older adults in Ontario, Canada – Preliminary results. HRS Graduate Research Conference, London, ON, February 4, 2020. Oral Presentation.
	Lappan, N., Zecevic, A.A., Hunter, S., Johnson, A. (2020). Descriptive analysis of serious fall-related injuries among older adults in Ontario, Canada – Preliminary results. 5 <sup>th</sup> National Fall Prevention Conference, Saskatoon, SK, June 15-16, 2020. Oral Presentation. Conference cancelled due to COVID-19

PresentationsLappan, N., Zecevic, A., Ming, Y., Hunter, S., and<br/>Johnson, A. (2021) Descriptive Epidemiology of Fall-<br/>Related Injuries Among Older Adults in Ontario.<br/>Gerontological Society of America Annual Meeting,<br/>Nov 10-14, 2021, Phoenix, Arizona.Lappan, N., Zecevic, A., Ming, Y., Hunter, S., and<br/>Johnson, A. (2021). How might ICD-10-CA codes

Johnson, A. (2021). How might ICD-10-CA codes affect fall-related injury prevention? Canadian Association on Gerontology, Oct 21-23, 2021, Toronto, Ontario.